
Democratic Services
Lewis House, Manvers Street, Bath, BA1 1JG
Telephone: (01225) 477000 main switchboard
Direct Lines - Tel: 01225 394414 Date: 30 January 2017
Web-site - http://www.bathnes.gov.uk E-mail: Democratic_Services@bathnes.gov.uk

To: All Members of the Development Management Committee

Councillors:- Sally Davis (Chair), Rob Appleyard, Jasper Becker, Paul Crossley, 
Matthew Davies, Eleanor Jackson, Les Kew, Bryan Organ, Caroline Roberts and 
David Veale
Permanent Substitutes:- Councillors: Neil Butters, Ian Gilchrist, Liz Hardman, 
Vic Pritchard, Dine Romero, Martin Veal and Karen Warrington

Chief Executive and other appropriate officers
Press and Public

Dear Member

Development Management Committee: Wednesday, 8th February, 2017 

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Development Management Committee, to be held 
on Wednesday, 8th February, 2017 at 2.00 pm in the Brunswick Room - Guildhall, Bath

The Chair’s Briefing Meeting will be held at 10.00am on Tuesday 7 February 2017 in the 
Meeting Room, Lewis House, Bath.

The rooms will be available for the meetings of political groups. 

The agenda is set out overleaf.

Yours sincerely

Marie Todd
for Chief Executive

If you need to access this agenda or any of the supporting reports in an alternative 
accessible format please contact Democratic Services or the relevant report author 
whose details are listed at the end of each report.

This Agenda and all accompanying reports are printed on recycled paper

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/


NOTES:

1. Inspection of Papers: Any person wishing to inspect minutes, reports, or a list of the 
background papers relating to any item on this Agenda should contact Marie Todd who is 
available by telephoning Bath 01225 394414 or by calling at the Guildhall Bath (during 
normal office hours).

2. Public Speaking at Meetings: The Council has a scheme to encourage the public to 
make their views known at meetings. They may make a statement relevant to what the 
meeting has power to do.  They may also present a petition or a deputation on behalf of a 
group.  Advance notice is required not less than two full working days before the meeting 
(this means that for meetings held on Wednesdays notice must be received in Democratic 
Services by 4.30pm the previous Friday) 

The public may also ask a question to which a written answer will be given. Questions 
must be submitted in writing to Democratic Services at least two full working days in 
advance of the meeting (this means that for meetings held on Wednesdays, notice must 
be received in Democratic Services by 4.30pm the previous Friday). If an answer cannot 
be prepared in time for the meeting it will be sent out within five days afterwards. Further 
details of the scheme can be obtained by contacting Marie Todd as above.

3. Details of Decisions taken at this meeting can be found in the minutes which will be 
published as soon as possible after the meeting, and also circulated with the agenda for 
the next meeting.  In the meantime details can be obtained by contacting Marie Todd as 
above.

Appendices to reports are available for inspection as follows:-

Public Access points - Reception: Civic Centre - Keynsham, Guildhall - Bath, The Hollies 
- Midsomer Norton. Bath Central and Midsomer Norton public libraries.

For Councillors and Officers papers may be inspected via Political Group Research 
Assistants and Group Rooms/Members' Rooms.

4. Recording at Meetings:-

The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 now allows filming and 
recording by anyone attending a meeting. This is not within the Council’s control.

Some of our meetings are webcast.  At the start of the meeting, the Chair will confirm if all 
or part of the meeting is to be filmed.  If you would prefer not to be filmed for the webcast, 
please make yourself known to the camera operators.

To comply with the Data Protection Act 1998, we require the consent of parents or 
guardians before filming children or young people. For more information, please speak to 
the camera operator

The Council will broadcast the images and sound live via the internet 
www.bathnes.gov.uk/webcast An archived recording of the proceedings will also be 
available for viewing after the meeting. The Council may also use the images/sound 
recordings on its social media site or share with other organisations, such as broadcasters.

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/webcast


5. Attendance Register: Members should sign the Register which will be circulated at the 
meeting.

6. THE APPENDED SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS ARE IDENTIFIED BY AGENDA ITEM 
NUMBER.

7. Emergency Evacuation Procedure

When the continuous alarm sounds, you must evacuate the building by one of the 
designated exits and proceed to the named assembly point.  The designated exits are 
sign-posted.

Arrangements are in place for the safe evacuation of disabled people.



Development Management Committee - Wednesday, 8th February, 2017

at 2.00 pm in the Brunswick Room - Guildhall, Bath

A G E N D A

1.  EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 

The Chairman will ask the Committee Administrator to draw attention to the 
emergency evacuation procedure as set out under Note 7

2.  ELECTION OF VICE CHAIRMAN (IF DESIRED) 

3.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS 

4.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

At this point in the meeting declarations of interest are received from Members in any 
of the agenda items under consideration at the meeting. Members are asked to 
indicate:

(a) The agenda item number and site in which they have an interest to declare.

(b) The nature of their interest.

(c) Whether their interest is a disclosable pecuniary interest or an other interest,   
(as defined in Part 2, A and B of the Code of Conduct and Rules for Registration of 
Interests)

Any Member who needs to clarify any matters relating to the declaration of interests is 
recommended to seek advice from the Council’s Monitoring Officer before the meeting 
to expedite dealing with the item during the meeting.

5.  TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIRMAN 

6.  ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC - TO RECEIVE DEPUTATIONS, STATEMENTS, 
PETITIONS OR QUESTIONS 

(1) At the time of publication, no items had been submitted.

(2) To note that, regarding planning applications to be considered, members of the 
public who have given the requisite notice to the Committee Administrator will be able 
to make a statement to the Committee immediately before their respective applications 
are considered. There will be a time limit of 3 minutes for each proposal, ie 3 minutes 
for the Parish and Town Councils, 3 minutes for the objectors to the proposal and 3 
minutes for the applicant, agent and supporters. This allows a maximum of 9 minutes 
per proposal.

7.  ITEMS FROM COUNCILLORS AND CO-OPTED MEMBERS 

To deal with any petitions or questions from Councillors and where appropriate Co-



opted Members

8.  MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (PAGES 9 - 52)

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 11 January 2017.

9.  SITE VISIT LIST - APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION ETC FOR 
DETERMINATION BY THE COMMITTEE (PAGES 53 - 64)

10.  MAIN PLANS LIST - APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION ETC FOR 
DETERMINATION BY THE COMMITTEE (PAGES 65 - 182)

11.  QUARTERLY PERFORMANCE REPORT - OCTOBER TO DECEMBER 2016 
(PAGES 183 - 198)

The Committee is asked to note the report.

12.  NEW PLANNING APPEALS LODGED, DECISIONS RECEIVED AND DATES OF 
FORTHCOMING HEARINGS/INQUIRIES (PAGES 199 - 208)

To note the report

The Committee Administrator for this meeting is Marie Todd who can be contacted on 
01225 394414.

Delegated List Web Link: http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-
control/view-and-comment-planning-applications/delegated-report

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/view-and-comment-planning-applications/delegated-report
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/view-and-comment-planning-applications/delegated-report


Member and Officer Conduct/Roles Protocol*

Development Management Committee

(*NB This is a brief supplementary guidance note not intended to replace or otherwise in any way 
contradict the Constitution or the Code of Conduct for Members and Co-Opted Members adopted by the 
Council on 19th July 2012 to which full reference should be made as appropriate).

1. Declarations of Interest (Disclosable Pecuniary or Other Interest)

These are to take place when the agenda item relating to declarations of interest is reached. It is 
best for Officers’ advice (which can only be informal) to be sought and given prior to or outside 
the Meeting.  In all cases, the final decision is that of the individual Member. 

2. Local Planning Code of Conduct 

This document, as approved by Full Council and previously noted by the Committee, 
supplements the above. Should any Member wish to state/declare that further to the 
provisions of the Code (although not a personal or prejudicial interest) they will not vote 
on any particular issue(s), they should do so after (1) above. 

3. Site Visits

Under the Council’s own Local Code, such visits should only take place when the 
expected benefit is substantial eg where difficult to visualize from a plan or from written 
or oral submissions or the proposal is particularly contentious. The reasons for a site 
visit should be given and recorded. The attached note sets out the procedure.

4. Voting & Chair’s Casting Vote

By law, the Chair has a second or “casting” vote. It is recognised and confirmed by Convention 
within the Authority that the Chair’s casting vote will not normally be exercised. A positive 
decision on all agenda items is, however, highly desirable in the planning context, although 
exercise of the Chair’s casting vote to achieve this remains at the Chair’s discretion.

Chairs and Members of the Committee should be mindful of the fact that the Authority 
has a statutory duty to determine planning applications. A tied vote leaves a planning 
decision undecided.  This leaves the Authority at risk of appeal against non-
determination and/or leaving the matter in abeyance with no clearly recorded decision on 
a matter of public concern/interest.

The consequences of this could include (in an appeal against “non-determination” case) 
the need for a report to be brought back before the Committee for an indication of what 
decision the Committee would have come to if it had been empowered to determine the 
application.



5. Protocol for Decision-Making

When making decisions, the Committee must ensure that it has regard only to relevant 
considerations and disregards those that are not material. The Committee must ensure 
that it bears in mind the following legal duties when making its decisions:

Equalities considerations
Risk Management considerations
Crime and Disorder considerations
Sustainability considerations
Natural Environment considerations
Planning Act 2008 considerations
Human Rights Act 1998 considerations
Children Act 2004 considerations
Public Health & Inequalities considerations

Whilst it is the responsibility of the report author and the Council’s Monitoring Officer and 
Chief Financial Officer to assess the applicability of the legal requirements, decision 
makers should ensure that they are satisfied that the information presented to them is 
consistent with and takes due regard of them.

6. Officer Advice

Officers will advise the meeting as a whole (either of their own initiative or when called 
upon to do so) where appropriate to clarify issues of fact, law or policy. It is accepted 
practice that all comments will be addressed through the Chair and any subsequent 
Member queries addressed likewise. 

7. Decisions Contrary to  Policy and Officer Advice 

There is a power (not a duty) for Officers to refer any such decision to a subsequent 
meeting of the Committee. This renders a decision of no effect until it is reconsidered by 
the Committee at a subsequent meeting when it can make such decision as it sees fit.

8. Officer Contact/Advice

If Members have any conduct or legal queries prior to the meeting, then they can contact the 
following Legal Officers for guidance/assistance as appropriate (bearing in mind that informal 
officer advice is best sought or given prior to or outside the meeting) namely:-

1. Simon Barnes, Principal Solicitor and Deputy Monitoring Officer
 Tel. No. 01225 39 5176

2. Simon Elias, Senior Legal Adviser
 Tel. No. 01225 39 5178

General Member queries relating to the agenda (including public speaking arrangements 
for example) should continue to be addressed to Marie Todd Democratic Services 
Officer Tel No. 01225 39 4414

 Planning and Environmental Law Manager, Development Manager,
 Democratic Services Manager, Monitoring Officer to the Council



Site Visit Procedure

(1) Any Member of the Development Management or local Member(s) may request at a meeting the 

deferral of any application (reported to Committee) for the purpose of holding a site visit.

(2) The attendance at the site inspection is confined to Members of the Development 

Management Committee and the relevant affected local Member(s).

(3) The purpose of the site visit is to view the proposal and enhance Members’ knowledge of 

the site and its surroundings.  Members will be professionally advised by Officers on site 

but no debate shall take place.

(4) There are no formal votes or recommendations made.

(5) There is no allowance for representation from the applicants or third parties on the site.

(6) The application is reported back for decision at the next meeting of the Development 

Management Committee.

(7) In relation to applications of a controversial nature, a site visit could take place before the 

application comes to Committee, if Officers feel this is necessary.



Bath and North East
Somerset Council

1

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Minutes of the Meeting held
Wednesday, 11th January, 2017, 2.00 pm

Councillors: Sally Davis (Chair), Rob Appleyard, Jasper Becker, Paul Crossley, 
Matthew Davies, Eleanor Jackson, Les Kew, Caroline Roberts, Brian Simmons (in place of 
Bryan Organ) and David Veale

90  EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE

The Democratic Services Officer read out the emergency evacuation procedure.

91  ELECTION OF VICE CHAIRMAN (IF DESIRED)

A Vice Chairman was not required on this occasion.

92  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Bryan Organ and Councillor 
Brian Simmons attended as substitute member.

93  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Councillor Brian Simmons declared an other interest in planning application number 
16/05085/FUL – 44 St Clement’s Road, Keynsham.  Councillor Simmons stated that 
he had previously made a decision on this application in his role as a Keynsham 
Town Councillor and so would leave the meeting while it was discussed.

94  TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIRMAN

There was no urgent business for consideration.  The Chairman informed members 
that the webcasting trial for this Committee had been completed and the results 
would now be analysed.

95  ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC - TO RECEIVE DEPUTATIONS, STATEMENTS, 
PETITIONS OR QUESTIONS

The Democratic Services Officer informed the meeting that there were a number of 
people wishing to make statements on planning applications and that they would be 
able to do so when these items were discussed.

96  ITEMS FROM COUNCILLORS AND CO-OPTED MEMBERS

There were no items from Councillors or Co-Opted Members.

Page 9

Agenda Item 8



2

97  MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING

The minutes of the meeting held on 14 December 2016 were confirmed and signed 
as a correct record.

98  SITE VISIT LIST - APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION ETC FOR 
DETERMINATION BY THE COMMITTEE

The Committee considered:

 A report by the Group Manager (Development Management) on various 
planning applications.

 An update report by the Group Manager (Development Management) 
attached as Appendix 1 to these minutes.

 Oral statements by members of the public and representatives.  A copy of the 
speakers’ list is attached as Appendix 2 to these minutes.

RESOLVED that in accordance with the Committee’s delegated powers, the 
applications be determined as set out in the decisions list attached as Appendix 3 to 
these minutes.

Item No. 1
Application No. 16/04250/FUL
Site Location: Land East of Alma Cottage, Charlcombe Lane, Charlcombe, 
Bath – Erection of one dwelling following the demolition of existing stables

The Case Officer reported on the application and her recommendation to grant 
planning permission.

The registered speakers spoke for and against the application.

The local ward members, Councillors Martin Veal and Geoff Ward spoke against the 
application.

In response to a question the Case Officer explained that conditions 10, 11 and 12, 
set out in the report, propose the removal of permitted development rights so the 
applicants would have to apply for planning permission if they wished in future to 
extend the dwelling.

Councillor Roberts then moved that planning permission be refused on the grounds 
that the development would be detrimental to the openness of the greenbelt as a 
result of external lighting, storage and domestic paraphernalia.  A further reason for 
refusal was highway safety due to the difficult access and egress to and from the 
property as visibility along this road was already substandard.  This was seconded 
by Councillor Kew.

The motion was then put to the vote and it was RESOLVED by 7 votes for and 3 
votes against to REFUSE the application for the reasons set out above.

Page 10



3

Item No. 2
Application No. 16/04885/FUL
Site Location: The Grove, Langridge Lane, Swainswick, Bath – Demolition of 
existing garage and erection of a replacement building for use as an annex 
providing ancillary residential accommodation

The Case Officer reported on the application and her recommendation to refuse 
planning permission.

The registered speakers spoke in favour of the application.

The local ward members, Councillors Martin Veal and Geoff Ward also spoke in 
favour of the application.

Councillor Appleyard moved to delegate to permit planning permission subject to 
conditions.  He pointed out that the family aspect of this application meant that there 
were exceptional circumstances in this case.  The proposed annex would provide 
accommodation for the applicant’s mother and would enable the family to remain 
together in their existing property.  He had found the site visit very helpful and 
subsequently did not feel that the visual aspect of the site would be affected greatly 
by the development.

Councillor Jackson had concerns that the proposed development would consist of 
two storeys which was too intrusive.  She also pointed out that the needs of the 
family could change in the future and felt that there would be other options available 
to them.  She had concerns that the development was contrary to policy and felt that 
the human factors outlined could not be taken into account.

Councillor Roberts seconded the motion and stated that she did not feel the 
development would be too intrusive to the greenbelt. 

Councillor Kew noted that the previous planning permission had not been acted on 
but accepted that circumstances can change.  He had concerns that the application 
was contrary to policy and would create a new house in the greenbelt.

Councillor Crossley felt that the development did not constitute a new property but 
simply an annex which was secondary to the main house.  He queried whether a 
condition could be added to ensure that the annex remained tied to the original 
property.  He noted that the family had lived in this area for a number of years and 
that a tie-in would provide the required security.  Any request to remove the tie-in 
would then have to be considered by planning officers or this committee.

The Team Manager (Development Management) explained that there could be a tie-
in but that the harm associated with the development would be the same, 
irrespective of whether the building was tied or not.  If an application were made to 
remove the tie there would be considered no grounds to resist its removal, given that 
the new development was physically separate and functionally capable of being 
separate from the main property.  It was explained that, for these same reasons, the 
development was tantamount to a new dwelling in the green belt as opposed to an 
annexe and that it would be there beyond the current occupiers’ residence causing 
permanent harm.  A condition to tie the application to the existing property as an 
annexe would not meet the conditions test as it would not be reasonable.  

Page 11



4

Councillors advised officers that any tie-in should be specified as a condition rather 
than a legal agreement. 

The motion was then put to the vote and it was RESOLVED by 5 votes for, 4 votes 
against and 1 abstention to DELEGATE TO PERMIT the application subject to 
conditions.

Item No. 3
Application No. 16/03652/FUL
Site Location: Applegate Stables, Shockerwick Lane, Bathford, Bath, BA1 7LQ 
– Erection of additional livery stables and a rural workers’ accommodation unit

The Case Officer reported on the application and her recommendation to refuse 
planning permission.

The registered speakers spoke in favour of the application.

The local ward member, Councillor Geoff Ward spoke in favour of the application.

Councillor Jackson asked about the advantage of having a temporary permission 
rather than a permanent one.  Officers explained that a temporary permission would 
enable the business expansion plans to be tested before allowing a permanent 
permission.  However, the application before the Committee was for a permanent 
dwelling.

On balance Councillor Jackson felt that the economic benefits to the local area 
would outweigh any harm to the greenbelt in this area.

Councillor Appleyard noted that the business concerned was viable and that a need 
had been proven for 24 hour staff accommodation to allow breeding and round the 
clock care for the horses and foals on site.

The Team Manager (Development Management) informed the Committee that to 
date there had been no requirement for a 24 on-site presence and that this would 
possibly only be required if the breeding part of the business were to expand.  

Councillor Jackson stated that the business was made up of three parts namely, 
livery, teaching and breeding.  The rural economy should be encouraged and this 
development would not cause great harm to the greenbelt.  Councillor Jackson then 
moved to delegate to permit the application subject to conditions.  This was 
seconded by Councillor Matthew Davies who noted the need for this accommodation 
if the business were to expand.

Councillor Crossley also supported the application to encourage a sustainable rural 
economy and to provide employment.

The motion was then put to the vote and it was RESOLVED unanimously to 
DELEGATE TO PERMIT the application subject to conditions.

Page 12



5

99  MAIN PLANS LIST - APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION ETC FOR 
DETERMINATION BY THE COMMITTEE

The Committee considered:

 A report by the Group Manager (Development Management) on various 
planning applications.

 An update report by the Group Manager (Development Management) 
attached as Appendix 1 to these minutes.

 Oral statements by members of the public and representatives.  A copy of the 
speakers’ list is attached as Appendix 2 to these minutes.

RESOLVED that in accordance with the delegated powers, the applications be 
determined as set out in the decisions list attached as Appendix 4 to these minutes.

Item No. 1
Application No. 16/04615/FUL
Site Location: Horseworld, Staunton Lane, Whitchurch – Residential 
development of 97 dwellings with land reserved for early years provision and 
alterations to the front boundary wall of Staunton Manor Farm, Staunton Lane, 
Whitchurch

The Case Officer reported on the application and her recommendation to delegate to 
permit the application.

The registered speakers spoke in favour of the application.

The local ward member, Councillor Paul May spoke in favour of the application.

Councillor Kew queried whether the application was premature bearing in mind that 
the Conservation Officer, Ecologist and Landscape Officer had stated that the 
application was not acceptable in its current form.  The Case Officer explained that 
these officers had not yet provided comments on the amended plans and that the 
applicant had now considered and largely overcome the concerns they had raised. 

Councillor Jackson requested a condition regarding the retention of the allotments.  
She also queried whether a condition was required to ensure that if the nursery 
school was not provided then this area be retained for community use.  The Case 
Officer explained that there was provision in the S106 agreement regarding the 
allotments and further discussions would take place with the applicant.  She also 
explained that the policy was clear regarding the provision of an early years facility 
but that any subsequent proposals would have to be considered on their own merits 
so it would be difficult to specify only community use for this area.

Councillor Crossley moved to delegate to permit the application subject to 
conditions.  He noted that officers had done an excellent job and had listened to 
concerns raised by the local community and worked hard to resolve these.  This was 
seconded by Councillor Kew.

Page 13



6

The motion was put to the vote and it was RESOLVED by 9 votes in favour and 1 
abstention to DELEGATE TO PERMIT the application subject to conditions and the 
completion of a Section 106 Agreement.

Item No. 2
Application No. 16/04629/FUL
Site Location: Kielder, Church Lane, East Harptree – Demolition of existing 
dwelling and erection of 4 dwellings with associated car parking, gardens and 
amenity space

The Case Officer reported on the application and her recommendation to grant 
planning permission.

The registered speakers spoke for and against the application.

Councillor Geoff Ward read out a statement from Councillor Tim Warren, local ward 
member, against the application.

Councillor Jackson asked a question regarding the removal of trees.  The Case 
Officer explained that some trees would be removed to provide access to the site but 
that the majority of the landscaping would be retained.  

Councillor Kew asked whether the hedgerows would be protected and the Case 
Officer confirmed that they would be protected during the construction phase through 
the use of conditions.  There would also be a standard landscape condition.

The Case Officer also confirmed that the proposed materials to be used were 
considered to be appropriate and in keeping with the rest of the village.  

Councillor Kew queried whether this was overdevelopment of the site.  The Team 
Manager explained that if the application were refused due to overdevelopment then 
the Committee would have to be clear regarding the specific harm this would cause.

The Case Officer confirmed that the site was not within a critical drainage area and 
was outside of any flood risk area.  It was considered that an appropriate drainage 
system could be secured through conditions.

Councillor Crossley moved that planning permission be granted subject to 
conditions.  He felt that this was a large plot which was sufficient for 4 buildings.  
This was seconded by Councillor Kew who stressed the importance of using the 
correct materials and the retention of the hedges.

The motion was put to the vote and it was RESOLVED unanimously to PERMIT 
planning permission subject to the conditions set out in the report.

Item No. 3
Application No. 16/02230/FUL
Site Location: 10 Lymore Gardens, Twerton, Bath, BA2 1AQ – Change of use 
from a 4 bed dwelling (use class C3) to a 4 bed house of multiple occupation 
(HMO) (Use class C4)

The Case Officer reported on the application and her recommendation to grant 

Page 14



7

planning permission.  She explained that following the Stage 2 test, in accordance 
with the Supplementary Planning Document, the percentage of HMOs in the area 
was 20.48%.  Councillor Matthew Davies asked a question regarding how the 
numbers of HMOs were calculated and whether or not the properties encroaching on 
the radius circle were counted.  The Case Officer explained that these properties 
were not counted unless more than half of the building was included irrespective of 
the size of the garden.  She stated that the 100m radius was calculated from a 
central point in the property and confirmed that this calculation had been double 
checked.  

The ward member, Councillor June Player, spoke against the application.

Councillor Kew acknowledged that there were problems with HMOs in this area; 
however, the application was in line with the Council’s HMO policy.  He then moved 
that planning permission be granted subject to the conditions set out in the report.  
This was seconded by Councillor Sally Davis.

Councillor Roberts noted that there was no proposed increase in the number of 
bedrooms in the property.  She felt that the proposal could put further pressure on 
parking spaces in the area.  The Case Officer explained that evidence from surveys 
undertaken by the Department for Communities and Local Government showed that 
for some tenures the level of car ownership is generally lower.  The Team Manager 
(Development Management) pointed out that the Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD) “Houses in Multiple Occupation in Bath” 2013 was a clear and material 
consideration that would be likely to be given great weight by an Inspector at appeal.  
It was further pointed out that the process for considering HMOs was clearly set out 
within the SPD including the process for assessing the number of HMOs in the 100m 
radius and that the proposal was in line with the Council’s own SPD.

Councillor Jackson pointed out that the number of students in Bath had increased 
since 2013 and also that both universities were located on the fringes of the city and 
so students were more likely to use their own vehicles. 

The motion was then put to the vote and there were 4 votes in favour, 5 votes 
against and one abstention.  The motion was therefore LOST.

Councillor Roberts then moved that planning permission be refused due to 
insufficient car parking availability in the locality and over intensification of the 
dwelling taking into account the large amount of HMOs already in this area.  This 
was seconded by Councillor Crossley.  

Members also requested that the Council policy relating to HMOs be reviewed 
across the whole city as a matter of urgency and also that the Policy Development 
and Scrutiny Committee responsible for housing should consider this issue.  The 
Chairman confirmed that the Cabinet Member for Housing was currently reviewing 
the policy.

The motion was then put to the vote and it was RESOLVED by 6 votes for, 1 vote 
against and 3 abstentions to REFUSE the application for the reasons set out above.

Page 15



8

Item No. 4
Application No. 16/05085/FUL
Site Location: 44 St Clement’s Road, Keynsham, BS31 1AF – Demolition of 
existing garage and erection of 1 detached dwelling in its place

The Case Officer reported on the application and her recommendation to refuse 
planning permission.

The registered speaker spoke in favour of the application.

Councillor Jackson stated that she felt the proposal would constitute 
overdevelopment of the site.  She moved that planning permission be refused for the 
reasons set out in the report.  This was seconded by Councillor Appleyard.

The motion was put to the vote and it was RESOLVED by 6 votes for, 2 votes 
against and 1 abstention to REFUSE planning permission for the reasons set out in 
the report.

Note: Councillor Simmons left the meeting while this item was considered and took 
no part in the discussion or vote.

Item No. 5
Application No. 14/05836/FUL
Site Location: Land rear of Yearten House, Water Street, East Harptree – 
Erection of 8 dwellings and access 

The Case Officer reported on the application and her recommendation to delegate to 
permit the application.  She explained that there had been a change to the National 
Planning Practice Guidance relating to the requirement to provide affordable housing 
in developments of fewer than 10 dwellings.  When members originally resolved to 
permit the development would have included a contribution towards affordable 
housing.  However, in light of the change in national policy, it was now being 
recommended for approval with no affordable housing.  The application was 
therefore being re-submitted to the Committee for consideration.

The registered speakers spoke for and against the application.

Following a question the Case Officer explained that the application was for 8 
houses – 1 with 2 bedrooms, 6 with 3 bedrooms and 1 with 4 bedrooms.  

Councillor Crossley was disappointed at the loss of the affordable unit and felt that it 
should be provided.  Officers confirmed that one affordable housing unit had been 
agreed by the Committee when it considered the application in July as that was the 
requirement of policy at that time but that due to the changes there was now no 
policy justification on which to insist on affordable housing for this application.  The 
Development Management Team Manager explained that there was no basis to 
require an affordable housing unit so the only option members would have, if 
following their 2015 resolution, would be to refuse the application on the basis that 
the change in circumstances was relevant to their previous consideration which was 
not advised.

Councillor Kew moved to delegate to permit the application subject to conditions.  

Page 16



9

This was seconded by Councillor Simmons.

The motion was then put to the vote and it was RESOLVED by 8 votes for and 2 
votes against to DELEGATE TO PERMIT the application subject to conditions.

Item No. 6
Application No. 16/05256/FUL
Site Location: Avalon House, Fosseway, Dunkerton, Bath – Erection of wall 
and feather edged panelling fence between pillars following removal of old 
fence (Retrospective) (Resubmission)

The Case Officer reported on the application and his recommendation to refuse 
planning permission.

A statement by the applicant (who was unable to attend the meeting) was read out 
by the Democratic Services Officer.

Councillor Kew queried whether this could simply be resolved by cladding the wall 
that contained fence panels.  Officers explained that to comply with the existing 
planning permission the applicant was also required to lower the height of the 
adjacent fence.

Councillor Jackson felt that the fence should be the same height along the whole 
boundary.  She moved that planning permission be refused for the reasons set out in 
the report.  This was seconded by Councillor Roberts.

The motion was put to the vote and it was RESOLVED by 5 votes in favour, 4 votes 
against and 1 abstention to REFUSE planning permission for the reasons set out in 
the report.

Item No. 7
Application No. 16/04535/FUL
Site Location: 33 Parklands, High Littleton, BS39 6LB

The Case Officer reported on the application and her recommendation to grant 
planning permission.

Councillor Kew noted that the Parish Council had objected to this application for 
reasons of overdevelopment of the site.  However, he felt that the plot was quite 
large.  He also noted that objections had been received regarding loss of light and 
height of the proposed development.

Councillor Roberts queried parking arrangements due to the loss of one garage.  It 
was confirmed that there would be two parking spaces for the new property, one in 
the garage and one on the driveway.  A new garage would be constructed.

Councillor Jackson felt that the development could overlook adjacent properties and 
queried whether a site visit would be helpful.  

Councillor Kew then moved that consideration of the application be deferred pending 
a site visit.   This was seconded by Councillor Jackson.

Page 17



10

The motion was then put to the vote and it was RESOLVED by 9 votes in favour and 
1 against to DEFER consideration of the application pending a site visit.

100  NEW PLANNING APPEALS LODGED, DECISIONS RECEIVED AND DATES OF 
FORTHCOMING HEARINGS/INQUIRIES

The Committee considered the appeals report.  Members noted the decision to allow 
the appeal at Rough Ground and Buildings, Queen Charlton Lane.  The Committee 
noted that the inspector had given weight to the personal circumstances of the 
applicant.

The Committee asked the Group Manager (Development Management) to provide 
some feedback on the implications of this decision.  Members also requested an 
update on the current position regarding gypsy and traveller sites in the B&NES area 
including total numbers and details of whether there was a shortfall of a particular 
type of provision in light of the Queen Charlton appeal.

RESOLVED to NOTE the report.

The meeting ended at 6.00 pm

Chair

Date Confirmed and Signed

Prepared by Democratic Services

Page 18



BATH AND NORTH EAST SOMERSET COUNCIL 
 
Development Management Committee 
 
Date 11 January 2017 
 
OBSERVATIONS RECEIVED SINCE THE PREPARATION OF THE MAIN 
AGENDA 
 
 
 
 
ITEMS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION 
 
 
ITEM  
 
Item No.  Application No.  Address 
          
001 16/04250/FUL Land East of Alma Cottage,  

Charlcombe Lane, 
Charlcombe, Bath  

 
Following the Examination hearings the Inspector has now issued her Interim 
Statement and has advised the Council of her recommended Main 
Modifications required to make the plan sound. The Main Modifications and 
Minor Proposed Changes are now subject to public consultation prior to the 
Inspector issuing her Final Report. The following policies can now be given 
substantial weight: 
 
D.2 – Local character and distinctiveness 
D.4 – Streets and spaces 
D.5 – Building design 
D.6 – Amenity 
GB.1 – Visual amenities of the Green Belt 
NE.2 – Conserving and enhancing the landscape and landscape character 
 
The following policies are given significant weight: 
 
HE.1 – Historic environment 
ST.7 – Transport requirements for managing development 
 
The above polices are considered relevant to the case and do not alter the 
case officers recommendation.  
 
Further representations have been received from the owner/occupier of Alma 
Cottage and another neighbour (no address provided) the content of which is 
summarised below: 
 

Page 19



• There has been no equestrian use of the existing building for at least 10 
years. The applicant has used it as a storage shed; 

• The submitted photographs were probably taken around 20 years ago; 

• The case officer is mistaken if she believes the equestrian use has been 
maintained; 

• Highway safety concerns in regards to the proposed access 
arrangements; 

• Traffic levels are currently approximately 150 vehicles per hour during 
twice daily peak periods, mostly exceeding the speed limit. Traffic volume 
will increase when the Ensleigh development reaches full occupation; 

• The case officer should provide evidence of when permission was 
obtained for change of use to equestrian. If the equestrian use was 
unauthorised it is not relevant for consideration; 

• The recent site visit undertaken by Councillors was at a time when local 
schools were still closed for holiday and most people were still on 
Christmas leave. It was therefore unrepresentative of the typical traffic 
levels experienced twice daily.  

• Before a full planning application can be considered the following 
permissions need to be sought: 

 1. The building requires change of use to residential 
2. That part of the field being taken into the residential boundary 
requires change of use from agricultural. 
3. Planning permission must be obtained to demolish a structure in the 
AONB. 

• Policy ET9 should be taken into account. The proposal fails to comply with 
ET9 points 3a and 3b. 

• Neighbours did not receive notification by post of the original planning 
application, nor notification that the application was to go to committee.  

 
The update report for the Committee Meeting held on 14 December 2016 
provided a further analysis of highway safety issues to supplement the report 
contained in the Agenda (copied below). The additional representations raise 
no new material considerations and do not alter the previous assessment.  
 
The Highways Officer has provided the following additional comments; these 
do not supersede the formal highway consultation response that was 
previously provided:  
 

Charlcombe Lane is a single track lane, with passing spaces. The 
speed limit at this section of the lane is 20mph, and speeds are 
reduced due to the constrained width and geometry. Traffic flows have 
been observed to be light, although the route is busier in the typical 
peak travel periods. Forward visibility approaching the access location 
is considered to be adequate; however, the visibility when emerging 
from the access is limited due to the presence of walls either side. A 
motorist would have to slowly emerge from the access to ensure that 
there is no potential for a collision to occur. There are several other 
access points within the immediate vicinity of the site that have visibility 
constrained to a similar level, and a review of the local road traffic 

Page 20



accident history has shown that there is no significant evidence of this 
type of access resulting in personal injury accidents.  

 
It is acknowledged that the existing access is not ideal. However, there is no 
evidence to suggest that there is a high risk of an accident occurring and it is 
considered that, much as at similarly constrained access points in the vicinity, 
a careful motorist would be able to use the access safely.  
 
It is clear that this is an established access into the field which would also 
have been used to access the application site when it was last in use. This is 
a material consideration. Neither the Local Planning Authority nor the Local 
Highway Authority can preclude the access from being used in association 
with the use of the application site and the adjoining field. There is also 
evidence to suggest that there is an extant equestrian use which could 
resume at any time. Taking these factors into account it is considered that, on 
balance, the access is acceptable.  
 
In planning law, a vacant or unoccupied site’s lawful use remains its last 
lawful use, whether or not that use has been maintained. In this case, whilst 
the site is currently unoccupied and appears to have been so for some time, 
no evidence has come forward to demonstrate that a material change of use 
has occurred since the site was last used for stabling horses. It would 
therefore appear from the available evidence that the previous use was 
equestrian and this is a material consideration. 
 
In regards to the permissions needed for the proposed development, there is 
no requirement for separate permissions for demolition and change of use to 
be obtained. Should the current application be approved, this would include 
demolition of the existing building and change of use of the building’s curtilage 
to residential. 
 
The corner of the field that would be grasscreted to provide access to the 
proposed parking space would not be included within the residential curtilage 
of the proposed dwelling. This area has been included within the red site 
boundary because the site location plan is required to include any land 
required for access within the red line. 
 
The following ADDITIONAL CONDITION is recommended should planning 
permission be granted for the proposed development: 
 
Condition: The residential curtilage of the dwelling hereby approved shall be 
limited to the line of fencing shown on drawing No. AO2 (Survey) received 
24/08/2016. 
 
Reason: In order to prevent encroachment into the Green Belt to comply with 
saved Local Plan Policy HG.11 and Core Strategy Policy CP8. 
 
As discussed in the report contained in the agenda, Local Plan Policy ET.9 is 
not relevant to the current proposal since the proposal is not for the 

Page 21



conversion of an existing building; rather, it is for the demolition of the existing 
building and redevelopment of a previously developed site. 
 
Section 15, paragraph 5 of The Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) Order 2015 (as amended) requires the LPA to 
publicise a planning application of this type by site display on or near the land 
to which the application relates or by serving notice on the owner or occupier 
of any adjoining land. A site notice was displayed outside the site on 
09/09/2016. The Planning Department’s records show that a notification letter 
was sent to the adjoining property, Alma Cottage, on 30/08/2016. The Council 
has therefore met its statutory duty in regards to notifying neighbours. 
 
In addition, the Planning Department’s records show that the following 
addresses were notified on 02/12/2016 and 22/12/2016 that the application 
was on the agendas for the December and January committee meetings 
respectively: 

• Alma Cottage, Charlcombe Lane; 

• Dale Cottage, Charlcombe Lane – owner/occupier notified because 
representation submitted; 

• Walnut Cottage, Charlcombe Lane – owner/occupier notified because 
representation submitted. 

 
No planning records have been found relating to the existing building or its 
use. 
 
There is no change to the officer recommendation.  

 
 
Item No. Address Application No.   
 
          
002 The Grove                           16/04885/FUL 
                                  Langridge Lane 
                                  Swainswick 
                                  BA1 8AJ 
 
Following the Examination hearings the Inspector has now issued her Interim 
Statement and has advised the Council of her recommended Main 
Modifications required to make the plan sound. The Main Modifications and 
Minor Proposed Changes are now subject to public consultation prior to the 
Inspector issuing her Final Report. The following policies can now be given 
substantial weight: 
 
D.2: Local character and distinctiveness 
D.3: Urban Fabric 
D.5: Building design 
D.6: Amenity 
RE.4: Essential dwellings for rural workers 
NE.2: Conserving and enhancing the landscape and landscape character 
 

Page 22



The following policy is given significant weight 
 
ST.7: Transport requirements for managing development 
 
The above polices are considered relevant to the case and do not alter the 
case officers recommendation.  
 
The applicant has submitted revised plans altering the proposed materials. 
The building was originally proposed to be constructed in a mix of render and 
timber. The revised drawings show the building will be constructed from a mix 
of stone and timber.   
 
 
Item No.  Application No.  Address 
003   16/03652/FUL   Applegate Stables  

Shockerwick Lane 
Bathford 
Bath 
BA1 7LQ 

 
Members are advised that since the publication of the November committee report, 
the applicant has submitted additional letters of support making the total number of 
support letters received in respect of this application 7. The applicant also submitted 
a petition of 27 signatures, 21 of which serve to underpin prior letters of support 
submitted in respect of 2014 application14/02558/FUL.  
 
In addition, the agent has submitted a ‘Proposed Parking Plan’ and comments from a 
third party in response to the objection comments provided by Highways.  
 
In summary, the third party comments state that the proposal will have a de minimis 
impact and would not, in the context of NPPF, be severe. The third party is of the 
opinion that, by residing on site, the owner will be able to reduce some trips 
associated with travelling to and from work and that this will be of benefit. The 
opinion is also given that adequate provision for parking can be provided and 
maintained.  
 
In response to these comments, the allocated planning officer wishes to state the 
following: 
 

• Whilst the ability for the owner to reduce travel to and from work may be a 
benefit, it would not counterbalance the increase in traffic caused by the 
expansion of the site if planning permission were to be granted.  
 

• Additional stables will result in additional movements to and from the site by 
clients, which is likely to include both car vehicles and horse boxes. 
Furthermore, a greater amount of traffic would be expected to be generated 
from deliveries to the dwelling and visits by friends and family 

 
The Senior Highway Development Control Engineer has confirmed their original 
objection comments, submitted 19th September 2016, and has stated the following 
additional comments in response to submitted ‘Proposed Parking Plan’: 

 

Page 23



“Given the uncertainties over so many aspects of the application I would be 
unable to accept the proposed parking and turning areas, as it does not 
demonstrate sufficient room for horseboxes etc., and the required level of 
parking has not been justified or agreed.” 

 
In light of the above, the Council considers that it has taken a balanced view of this 
matter and has reached the decision that, notwithstanding the observations of the 
third party, the quantum of development if approved will result in more movements to 
the site and not less – as suggested.  Whilst it was felt that a refusal on highway 
grounds could not be substantiated, it should be noted that provision for parking on 
the site, alongside a consideration of highways safety with regards to the increased 
amount of traffic entering/existing the site, has not been agreed and therefore these 
concerns remain an outstanding detail of this application. 
 
 

Item No. Address Application No.  
          
01  Horseworld, Staunton     16/04615/FUL 
 Lane, Whitchurch 
   
        
  
CONSULTATIONS AND REPRESENTATIONS: 

 
Highways Development Officer:  Revised plans have been submitted 
informally to address the outstanding highways issues. 
 
Internal Highway Layout:  The outstanding concerns in relation to the internal 
highway layout have now, in the main been overcome and is now acceptable. 
 
Staunton Lane Works:  The scheme proposes the provision of a zebra 
crossing and ‘gateway’ feature just north of the existing Horseworld access 
junction.  
 
An independent speed survey on the west bound Staunton Lane approach 
has now been carried out which shows that vehicle speeds approaching the 
zebra crossing are acceptable and driver-pedestrian inter-visibility on the 
approach to the zebra crossing is also considered to be satisfactory. 
 
However, there are concerns that the detailing of the carriageway treatment in 
the narrowing as proposed (coloured surface treatment) will introduce a 
maintenance liability given the volume of traffic using Staunton Lane.  
Therefore it is considered that a Traffic Management contribution of £20K as 
an obligation in the s106 would be appropriate to deal with this issue. 
 
Staunton Lane ‘Pinch Point’:  If the existing telegraph and electricity poles are  
to be left in front of the wall then the minimum 450mm clearance will need to 
be between the carriageway edge and the outer face of these poles with the 
wall being moved slightly further back than shown. 
 

Page 24



The risk of right turning vehicles from Sleep Lane having to cross into the 
opposing carriageway on the eastern Staunton Lane arm when negotiating 
the revised kerb-line has also been considered.  However I am satisfied that a 
car/van could execute this right turn movement without any need to encroach 
into the opposing westbound carriageway on exit.  A plan showing the swept 
path plot of a right turning car to confirm that the extent of carriageway 
widening to the south should nevertheless be submitted. 
 
LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS: 
 
A further two letters of objection have been received which raise concerns 
regarding the impact of the development on highway safety and flooding in 
Sleep Lane. 
 
These issues have already been dealt within the main report. 
 
POLICY CONTEXT:  

 
Following the Examination hearings the Inspector has now issued her Interim 
Statement and has advised the Council of her recommended Main 
Modifications required to make the plan sound. The Main Modifications and 
Minor Proposed Changes are now subject to public consultation prior to the 
Inspector issuing her Final Report. The following policies can now be given 
substantial weight:  
 

• Policy SD1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development 

• Policy RA5 – Land at Whitchurch Strategic Site Allocation 

• Policy CP2 – Sustainable Construction 

• Policy CP3 – Renewable Energy 

• Policy CP7 – Green Infrastructure 

• Policy CP9 – Affordable Housing 

• Policy CP10 – Housing Mix 

• Policy PCS5 – Contamination 

• Policy PCS7A – Foul sewage infrastructure 
 

 

• Policy SRC1 – On site renewable energy requirement 

• Policy SCR5 - Water Efficiency 

• Policy SU1 – Sustainable drainage 

• Policy D1, D2, D3, D4, D5, D6 - General design policies 

• Policy D7 – Infill and backland development 

• Policy H7 – Housing Accessibility 

• Policy NE1 – Green Infrastructure 

• Policy NE2 – Landscape character  

• Policy NE5 – Ecological networks 

• Policy NE6 – Trees and woodlands 

• Policy PCS1 – Pollution and nuisance 

• Policy PCS3 – Air Quality 

• Policy LCR2 – New or replacement community facilities 

Page 25



• Policy LCR3A – Primary School Capacity 

• Policy LCR7B – Broadband 

• LCR9 – Provision of local food growing 

• Policy ST1 – Sustainable Travel 
 

The following policies are relevant and have significant weight: 
 

• Policy D8 - Lighting 

• Policy HE1 – Historic environment 

• Policy NE2A – Landscape Setting of Settlements 

• Policy NE3 – Protected Species 

• Policy PCS2 – Noise and vibration 

• Policy ST7 – Transport requirements for development 
 
Planning Issues: 
 
The progression of the Placemaking Plan through the examination process 
has meant that many of the policies within the Plan have gained weight since 
the original Committee report was written. 
 
In light of this the policies have been reconsidered and it is only Policy H7 
which deals with housing accessibility that has gained substantial weight and 
which also has an impact on the acceptability of the proposed development. 
 
At this time there is insufficient information to judge the application against 
Policy H7 but it is likely that the development as proposed would fail to 
comply.  Whilst this is of concern it is considered that compliance would 
require significant amendments to the design and layout of each dwelling and 
which would also require a complete redesign of the layout of the scheme as 
a whole potentially reducing the number of dwellings that this site could 
achieve. 
 
The Horseworld site is a strategic housing site where Policy RA5 seeks the 
provision of around 200 dwellings and any amendment to the layout that 
would result in the loss of housing units on this site would put the 
achievement of the principles of this policy in question.  In light of this it is 
considered that the provision of housing on this site, in line with adopted Core 
Strategy Policy RA5, has greater weight than Policy H7 of the Placemaking 
Plan.  Therefore, in this case, it is considered that, whilst the development 
may not comply with Policy H7 of the Placemaking Plan, for the reasons give 
above, this is not sufficient to find the proposal unacceptable or justify refusal 
on this point. 
 
Impact on Highway Safety: 
 
The additional information submitted, albeit informally at this stage, along with 
the results of the speed survey has confirmed that speeds along Staunton 
Lane are acceptable for the safe provision of a Zebra crossing in conjunction 
with a ‘gateway’ feature.  The request of £20,000 for traffic management on 

Page 26



Staunton Lane is considered appropriate and has been agreed with the 
Applicant. 
 
Internally the information submitted shows that the layout concerns have now 
been addressed. 
 
At the Staunton Lane pinch point there is still a relatively minor outstanding 
issue with regard to the location of the existing telegraph poles.  However 
Officers are confident that this can be resolved through negotiation. 
 
Subject to the submission of further information to address the relatively minor 
outstanding issues and the provision of an obligation for £20,000 in the S106 
legal agreement, it is considered that the proposed development is now 
acceptable and would not have a harmful impact on highway safety. 
 
Recommendation: 
 

DELEGATE TO PERMIT:- 
 

Subject to: 
 
A) The expiry of the application consultation period and the receipt of local 
representations raising no new valid planning issues that have not already 
been considered above. 
 
B) The submission of further acceptable information including: 
 

1. No adverse comments being received from the Waste Management 
Team in relation to the revised Waste Management Strategy. 

2. Amended plans to resolve the detailed design issues surrounding 
landscape and allotment layout. 

3. The submission of a lighting scheme that is considered to have an 
acceptable impact on bats. 

4. The submission of final details as outlined above regarding to speed 
survey results on Staunton Lane, any additional speed reducing 
measures considered necessary, internal swept path plan and 
Staunton Lane, Staunton Lane/Sleep Lane junction revisions. 

 

C) Authorise the Group Manager – Development Management, in consultation 
with the Planning and Environmental Law Manager, to enter into a section 
106 agreement to provide the following: 
  

1. Landscape and Open space: 
Provision of open space, LEAP and long term management  
Provision and long term management of allotments 
 

2. Highways:  
Off site highway improvements to Staunton Lane and Sleep Lane to 
include a mini roundabout, zebra crossing, widening of pavements and 

Page 27



amendments to the Staunton Lane/Sleep Lane junction including 
(TRO’s) to reduce the speed limit on Sleep Lane. 
£20,000 for Traffic Management measures on Staunton Lane 
 

3. Affordable Housing: 
40% affordable housing provision on site 
 

4. Fire Hydrants:  Cost of installation and five years maintenance of a total 
of 5no fire hydrants  

 
5. Education:  

Primary School Provision: 
The capital contribution for the expansion of the school buildings at 
Whitchurch Primary school (off site) is calculated on the basis of 
£12,754.80 per pupil x 27.60 pupils = £352,032.48 contribution 
required. 
A contribution towards associated costs is also required. 
The capital contribution for the purchase of sufficient additional 
adjacent land to the existing school site to allow the expansion of the 
school site. The independent valuation for the land at the rear of 
Whitchurch Primary school values this at £21,500.00. Divided by the 
overall dwellings allocated within the Whitchurch Strategic Housing site 
= £105.91 per dwelling x 97 dwellings = £10,273.27 
Early Years Provision: 
Early Years land contribution - 0.1094ha on site and/or contributions 
Capital contribution to EY building –48.92%  
Final figures to be confirmed 
 

6. Targeted Recruitment and Training: 
14 x work placements 
2 x apprenticeships 
2 x new jobs advertised through DWP 
£7,040 contribution 
 

D) And grant planning permission with conditions as listed in the main report, 
provided they have not been addressed prior to a decision, along with further 
conditions arising from the additional information submitted above and/or as 
considered appropriate by Officers. 
 
 
Item No.  Application No.  Address 
 
02   16/04629/FUL              Kielder 

Church Lane 
East Harptree 
Bristol 
Bath And North East Somerset 
BS40 6BE 

 
 
RELEVENT PMP POLICIES 

Page 28



 

Following the Examination hearings the Inspector has now issued her Interim 
Statement and has advised the Council of her recommended Main Modifications 
required to make the plan sound. The Main Modifications and Minor Proposed 
Changes are now subject to public consultation prior to the Inspector issuing her 
Final Report. The following policies can now be given substantial weight: 
 

D1 General Urban Design Principles 

D2 Local Character & Distinctiveness 

D3 Urban Fabric 

D4 Streets and spaces 

D5 Building Design 

D6 Amenity 

D7 Infill and Backland Development 

NE2 Conserving and enhancing the landscape and landscape character 

NE6 Trees and woodland conservation 

SU1 Sustainable Drainage 

ST1 Promoting sustainable travel 

SCR5 - Water Efficiency 

PCS5   Contamination 

PCS7A - Foul sewage infrastructure 

 

The following policies can now be given significant weight 

 

H1 Historic Environment 

ST7 Transport requirements for managing development 

NE2A Landscapes setting of settlements 

NE3 Sites, species and habitat 

 

 

The above polices are considered relevant to the case and do not alter the 
case officers recommendation.  
 

 
Item No.  Application No.  Address 
 
 
03  16/02230/FUL  10 Lymore Gardens,  
  Twerton 
 
RELEVENT PMP POLICIES 

 

Following the Examination hearings the Inspector has now issued her Interim 
Statement and has advised the Council of her recommended Main 
Modifications required to make the plan sound. The Main Modifications and 
Minor Proposed Changes are now subject to public consultation prior to the 
Inspector issuing her Final Report. The following policies can now be given 
substantial weight: 
 

Page 29



D.1: General Urban Design Principles  

D.2: Local Character and Distinctiveness  

D.3: Urban Fabric  

D.4: Streets and Spaces  

D.5: Building Design  

D.6: Amenity   

 

The following policies can be given significant weight:  

H.1: Historic Environment  

ST7: Transport requirements for managing development and parking 

standards  

 

The above polices are considered relevant to the case and do not alter the 
case officers recommendation.  
 

Item No.  Application No.  Address 
 

04    16/05085/FUL   44 St Clement’s Rd,  

        Keynsham 

RELEVENT PMP POLICIES 

 

Following the Examination hearings the Inspector has now issued her Interim 
Statement and has advised the Council of her recommended Main 
Modifications required to make the plan sound. The Main Modifications and 
Minor Proposed Changes are now subject to public consultation prior to the 
Inspector issuing her Final Report. The following policies can now be given 
substantial weight: 
 
D.1: General Urban Design Principles  

D.2: Local Character and Distinctiveness  

D.3: Urban Fabric  

D.4: Streets and Spaces  

D.5: Building Design  

D.6: Amenity   

D.7: Infill and Backland Development 
 

The following policies can be given significant weight:  

ST7: Transport requirements for managing development and parking 

standards  

 

There is no change to the officer recommendation.  

 

 

 

 

Page 30



Item No.  Application No.  Address 
 

Item 05                             14/05836/FUL          Land Rear of Yearten House,               
Water Street, East Harptree.  

 
The scheme comprises one 2 bed, five 3 bed and two 4 bedroomed dwellings. 
 
Place making Plan 
 
In the Policy section of the updated report the text is amended to read: 
 
Following the Examination hearings the Inspector has now issued her Interim 

Statement and has advised the Council of her recommended Main 

Modifications required to make the plan sound. The Main Modifications and 

Minor Proposed Changes (discussed at the Hearings) will be subject to public 

consultation from early January 2017 prior to the Inspector issuing her Final 

Report. At the point at which Main Modifications or the Inspector’s position on 

modifications is published, the following policies can now be given substantial 

weight:  

 
D2 Local Character and Distinctiveness 
D4 Street and spaces 
D5 Building Design 
D6 Amenity 
SCR 5 Drainage 
 
The proposals is seen to comply with policies D2, D4, D5 and D6 in terms of 
design, layout, mass, bulk and impact on amenity. 
  
Policy SCR5 – Water Efficiency states that all dwellings will be expected to 
meet the national optional Building Regulations requirement for water 
efficiency of 110 litres per person per day. It also requires rainwater 
harvesting by residents and this can be obtained by the use of water butts and 
in order that the proposal complies with this requirement a condition requiring 
such items is necessary and must be attached to any permission granted. 
 
ADDITIONAL CONDITION  
 
Prior to the first occupation of each dwelling hereby approved details of 
rainwater harvesting methods to be provided within each plot shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, these  
shall thereafter be available for use prior to the first occupation of each unit 
and shall be retained for use in perpetuity. 
 
 
Reason: To ensure adequate means of rainwater harvesting are provided and 
retained for use in association with each unit in accordance with Policy SCR5 
of the Placemaking Plan. 

Page 31



 
 
CONDITION 16 the following REASON is added. 
 
REASON:   
To mitigate and compensate for any impacts on badgers and on the badger 
sett at the site, and to prevent harm to badgers during development period.  
 
One letter has been received raising concerns in respect of the requirement 
for this proposal to now comply with the parking standards as stipulated within 
the made Chew Valley Neighbourhood Plan. 
 
 
The Chew Valley Neighbourhood Plan has passed examination and therefore, 
the policies within the neighbourhood plan are a material consideration and 
now carry significant weight. The Plan has been modified in accordance with 
the examiners comments and a referendum date has been set for 16th 
February 2017.  
 
The Chew Valley Neighbourhood Plan has amended car parking standards 
that are higher than those proposed in the Placemaking Plan and the parking 
standard policy ST7 in the Placemaking Plan carries limited weight. 
 
Policy HDE8b of the Chew Valley Neighbourhood Plan stipulates parking 
standards as follows 
 
Parking – Domestic Dwellings 
To be supported proposals for all new residential developments must provide 
a minimum of: 
• Two spaces per dwelling up to three bed dwelling 
• Three spaces per four bed dwelling and above 
• Half a space per dwelling for visitor parking. 
Garages are excluded from the prescribed minimum standards. 
If no garage or secure area is provided there must also be provision for cycle 
parking as per 1 secure covered stand per dwelling in a communal area for 
residents, plus 1 stand per 8 dwellings for visitors. 
 
In relation to this proposal the layout plan indicates 2 spaces per unit. The two 
4 bed units are required to provide 3 spaces per unit in line with the 
neighbourhood plan and the scheme should accommodate 4 visitor spaces 
within the site boundary. 
 
The proposed development on this site is of a relatively low density and 
therefore accommodating an extra car parking space within the curtilage of 
plots 6 and 8 can achieved to comply with the car parking standards as 
stipulated in the neighbourhood plan. An additional condition is considered 
necessary to ensure 3 spaces for plot 6 and 8 are provided and retained. 
 
 

Page 32



This application was considered by committee in the summer 2015 when the 
committee resolved to approve the application subject to the signing of a 106 
agreement. It is recognised that in line with the neighbourhood plan 4 visitor 
spaces (0.5 spaces per unit) should be provided and the requirements of the 
neighbourhood plan should carry significant weight. However, the road to be 
constructed is indicated to be of adequate scale and proportion to allow for a 
refuse vehicle to access the site and serve the dwellings. Therefore, the 
estate road will be of a sufficient size not only to accommodate refuse 
vehicles but also on street parking for visitors. It should also be noted that 
there will not be restrictions on parking on this road and this is considered 
acceptable and appropriate. The level of parking as indicated is in compliance 
with the saved policy in the local plan. T.26- On-site parking and servicing 
provision.  
 
The acceptability of this scheme as a whole includes a balance of the 
provision of open space, a public route through the site and the interests of 
wildlife and in particular badgers. The open areas as provided form an integral 
part of a scheme that includes the provision of public open space and 
ecological corridors with a management company being set up to ensure the 
maintenance and protection of the landscaped areas in perpetuity. In respect 
of these requirements it is considered that the open spaces/ecological 
corridors as proposed should be retained and on balance these areas should 
not be encroached upon to provide additional parking areas.   
 
 
ADDITIONAL CONDITION  
 
Notwithstanding the plans hereby approved details in respect of 3 car parking 
spaces to be provided within each curtilage of plots 6 and 8 shall be submitted 
to and approved by the Local Planning Authority the spaces shall thereafter 
be available for use prior to the occupation of the dwellings and retained for 
such use in perpetuity. 
 
Reason: To ensure adequate off street parking is available for use in 
association with these 4 bedroomed properties in accordance with Policy 
HDE8b of the Chew Valley neighbourhood plan. 
 
COMMENTS FROM BRISTOL WATER 
 
We would confirm that we have no objection to the development. We enclose 
a copy of our ordnance survey sheet for your information. 
 
We would ask that you please advise the applicant to contact us direct or use 
the following 
http://onlineforms.bristolwater.co.uk/customer/form/op/add/formid/5  on our 
web site. 
 

 

 

 

Page 33



Item No.  Application No.  Address 
 

07                        16/04535/FUL                         33 Parklands, High  Littleton,  
Bristol 

 
Within the policy section the wording in respect of the policies weighting is 
amended as follows. 
  
Place making Plan: 
 
Following the Examination hearings the Inspector has now issued her Interim 
Statement and has advised the Council of her recommended Main 
Modifications required to make the plan sound. The Main Modifications and 
Minor Proposed Changes are now subject to public consultation prior to the 
Inspector issuing her Final Report. The following policies can now be given 
substantial weight: 
 
 
D1: General Urban Design Principles 
D2: Local Character and Distinctiveness 
D3: Urban Fabric 
D5: Building design 
D6: Amenity 
D.7 Infill and Backland Development  
ST.1: Promoting Sustainable Travel 
 
 
 
The following informative is to be added to any permission granted. 
 
3- In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has 
complied with the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning 
Framework. 
 

 

 

Page 34



BATH AND NORTH EAST SOMERSET COUNCIL

MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC AND REPRESENTATIVES WISHING TO MAKE A 
STATEMENT AT THE MEETING OF THE DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 
COMMITTEE ON WEDNESDAY 11 JANUARY 2017

A. SITE VISIT LIST

ITEM 
NO.

SITE NAME SPEAKER FOR/AGAINST

Alastair MacKichan 
(Charlcombe Parish Council)

Against

Richard Frewer Against

Christopher Dance (Agent) For

1 Land East of Alma 
Cottage, Charlcombe 
Lane, Bath

Councillors Martin Veal and 
Geoff Ward

Against

Alastair MacKichan 
(Charlcombe Parish Council)

For

Christopher Dance (Agent) For (To share 3 mins)

John Rippin (Applicant) For (To share 3 mins)

2 The Grove, Langridge 
Lane, Swainswick, Bath

Councillors Martin Veal and 
Geoff Ward

For

John White (Agent) For (To share 3 mins)

Mrs Dymond-Hall (Applicant) For (To share 3 mins)

3 Applegate Stables, 
Shockerwick Lane, Bath 

Councillor Geoff Ward For

B.  MAIN PLANS LIST

Geraint Jones (Agent) For1 Horseworld, Staunton 
Lane, Whitchurch Councillor Paul May For

Councillor Andrew Jones 
(East Harptree Parish Council)

N/A2 Kielder, Church Lane, 
East Harptree

Christopher Bull Against

Page 35



Andrew Brown (Agent) For

Councillor Geoff Ward (on 
behalf of Councillor Tim 
Warren)

Against

3 10 Lymore Gardens, 
Twerton, Bath

Councillor June Player Against

4 44 St Clements Road, 
Keynsham

Martin Lawford (Agent) For

Councillor Andrew Jones 
(East Harptree Parish Council)

N/A5 Land Rear of Yearten 
House, Water Street, 
East Harptree, Bristol

Andrew Beard (Agent) For

Page 36



 

BATH AND NORTH EAST SOMERSET COUNCIL 

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 

11th January 2017 

SITE VISIT DECISIONS 

 

Item No:   001 

Application No: 16/04250/FUL 

Site Location: Land East Of Alma Cottage, Charlcombe Lane, Charlcombe, Bath 

Ward: Bathavon North  Parish: Charlcombe  LB Grade: N/A 

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Erection of one dwelling following the demolition of existing stables 

Constraints: Affordable Housing, Agric Land Class 1,2,3a, Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty, Conservation Area, Greenbelt, MOD Safeguarded 
Areas, SSSI - Impact Risk Zones,  

Applicant:  Julia Morgan 

Expiry Date:  13th January 2017 

Case Officer: Emma Hardy 

 

DECISION REFUSE 
 
 
 1 By reason of the domestic paraphernalia, external storage and external lighting 
associated with the proposed new dwelling, the development would be detrimental to the 
openness of the Green Belt and in the absence of any very special circumstances the 
development is contrary to Core Strategy Policy CP8 and the aims of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 2 The proposed intensification of the use of the access where there is substandard 
visibility would be prejudicial to highway safety contrary to saved Local Plan Policy T.24. 
Furthermore, the proposed development would be sited in an unsustainable location 
contrary to Core Strategy Policy DW1 and the aims of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
This decision relates to the following plans and information:  
Drawing Nos. A01 (1:1250 Site Location Plan) and A02 (Existing Stables) received 
24/8/2016 
Bat Survey dated 12 July 2016 prepared by Crossman Associates received 24/8/2016 
Planning, Design and Access Statement received 24/8/2016 
Drawing no. A03 Revision 04 (Proposed Dwelling) received 14/11/2016 
 
Decision Making Statement 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Framework. The Local 
Planning Authority engaged in pre-application discussions with the applicant. Despite the 

Page 37



officer recommendation to approve, Councillors considered the application to be 
unacceptable for the reasons given. 
 
Community Infrastructure Levy 
You are advised that as of 6 April 2015, the Bath & North East Somerset Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule comes into effect. Whilst the above 
application has been refused by the Local Planning Authority please note that CIL applies 
to all planning permissions granted on or after this date. Thus any successful appeal 
against this decision may become subject to CIL. Full details are available on the 
Council's website www.bathnes.gov.uk/cil 
 
 
 

Item No:   002 

Application No: 16/04885/FUL 

Site Location: The Grove, Langridge Lane, Swainswick, Bath 

Ward: Bathavon North  Parish: Charlcombe  LB Grade: N/A 

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Demolition of existing garage and erection of a replacement building 
for use as an annex providing ancillary residential accommodation 

Constraints: Affordable Housing, Agric Land Class 1,2,3a, Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty, Flood Zone 2, Flood Zone 3, Greenbelt, LLFA - Flood 
Risk Management, MOD Safeguarded Areas, Sites of Nature 
Conservation Interest, Sites of Nature Conservation Interest, SSSI - 
Impact Risk Zones,  

Applicant:  Mr John Rippin 

Expiry Date:  13th January 2017 

Case Officer: Alice Barnes 

 

DECISION PERMIT 
 
 
 1 Standard Time Limit (Compliance) 
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) and to avoid the accumulation of unimplemented planning permission 
 
 2 Ancillary Use (Compliance) 
 
The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied at any time other than for 
purposes ancillary to the residential use of the dwelling known as The Grove and shall not 
be occupied as an independent dwelling unit. 
 
Reason: The accommodation hereby approved is not capable of independent occupation 
without adverse impact on the amenities of existing or future residential occupiers. 

Page 38



 
 3 Materials - Submission of Schedule and Samples (Bespoke Trigger) 
No construction of the external walls of the development shall commence until a schedule 
of materials and finishes, and samples of the materials to be used in the construction of 
the external surfaces, including roofs, have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be carried out only in 
accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the surrounding area 
in accordance with Policies D.2 and D.4 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan 
and Policy CP6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy. 
 
 4 Removal of Permitted Development Rights - No extensions or alterations 
(Compliance) 
 
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or 
without modification) no extension, external alteration or enlargement of the permitted 
annexe hereby approved shall be carried out unless a further planning permission has 
been granted by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: Any further extensions require detailed consideration by the Local Planning 
Authority due to its potential to impact on the openness of the surrounding green belt, in 
accordance with policy GB.1 and GB.2 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan 
policy CP8 of the Core Strategy and paragraph 89 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework 
 
 5 Plans List (Compliance) 
The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance with 
the plans as set out in the plans list below. 
 
Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
Location plan P01 A 
Existing site plan P02 A 
Existing plans P03 A 
Existing elevations P05 A 
Proposed elevations P15 F 
Proposed plans P13 E 
 
 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Framework. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



Item No:   003 

Application No: 16/03652/FUL 

Site Location: Applegate Stables , Shockerwick Lane, Bathford, Bath 

Ward: Bathavon North  Parish: Bathford  LB Grade: N/A 

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Erection of additional livery stables and a rural workers 
accommodation unit 

Constraints: Affordable Housing, Agric Land Class 1,2,3a, Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty, Greenbelt, MOD Safeguarded Areas, SSSI - Impact 
Risk Zones,  

Applicant:  Mrs R Dymond-Hall 

Expiry Date:  26th October 2016 

Case Officer: Nicola Little 

 

DECISION Delegate to officers to permit subject to appropriate conditions. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 40



 

BATH AND NORTH EAST SOMERSET COUNCIL 

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 

11th January 2017 

DECISIONS 

 

Item No:   01 

Application No: 16/04615/FUL 

Site Location: Horseworld, Staunton Lane, Whitchurch, Bristol 

Ward: Publow And Whitchurch  Parish: Whitchurch  LB Grade: II 

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Residential development of 97no dwellings with land reserved for 
early years provision and alterations to the front boundary wall of 
Staunton Manor Farm, Staunton Lane, Whitchurch. 

Constraints: Affordable Housing, Airport Safeguarding Zones, Airport 
Safeguarding Zones, Agric Land Class 1,2,3a, Agric Land Class 
3b,4,5, Coal - Standing Advice Area, Contaminated Land, Forest of 
Avon, Sites with Planning Permission, Greenbelt, Housing 
Development Boundary, LLFA - Flood Risk Management, Public 
Right of Way, SSSI - Impact Risk Zones,  

Applicant:  Bellway Homes Ltd 

Expiry Date:  27th January 2017 

Case Officer: Rachel Tadman 

 

DECISION Delegate to permit subject to no new issues being raised during the 
conclusion of the consultation period 
 
 

Item No:   02 

Application No: 16/04629/FUL 

Site Location: Kielder, Church Lane, East Harptree, Bristol 

Ward: Mendip  Parish: East Harptree  LB Grade: N/A 

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Demolition of existing dwelling and erection of 4no dwelling with 
associated car parking, gardens and amenity space 

Constraints: Affordable Housing, Airport Safeguarding Zones, Agric Land Class 
1,2,3a, Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, Housing Development 
Boundary, SSSI - Impact Risk Zones, World Heritage Site,  

Applicant:  Simon James Homes 

Expiry Date:  12th January 2017 

Case Officer: Tessa Hampden 

 

DECISION PERMIT 
 

Page 41



 
 1 Standard Time Limit (Compliance) 
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) and to avoid the accumulation of unimplemented planning permission 
 
 2 Contaminated Land - Investigation and Risk Assessment (Pre-commencement) 
No development shall commence until an investigation and risk assessment of the nature 
and extent of contamination on site and its findings has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  This assessment must be undertaken by a 
competent person, and shall assess any contamination on the site, whether or not it 
originates on the site.  The assessment must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA 
and the Environment Agency's 'Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination, CLR 11' and shall include:       
 
(i) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination;  
 
(ii) an assessment of the potential risks to:  
 
- human health,  
- property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and 
service lines and pipes,  
- adjoining land,  
- groundwaters and surface waters,  
- ecological systems,  
- archaeological sites and ancient monuments;  
 
(iii) an appraisal of remedial options, and proposal of the preferred option(s). 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that the land is suitable for the intended uses and to ensure 
that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors and in accordance with section 11 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. This is a condition precedent because the works comprising 
the development have the potential to uncover harmful contamination. Therefore these 
details need to be agreed before work commences. 
 
 3 Contaminated Land - Remediation Scheme (Pre-commencement) 
No development shall commence until a detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a 
condition suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable risks to human health, 
buildings and other property and the natural and historical environment, has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, unless the findings 
of the approved investigation and risk assessment has confirmed that a remediation 
scheme is not required. The scheme shall include: 
 
(i) all works to be undertaken; 
(ii) proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria; 
(iii) timetable of works and site management procedures; and, 

Page 42



(iv) where required, a monitoring and maintenance scheme to monitor the long-term 
effectiveness of the proposed remediation and a timetable for the submission of reports 
that demonstrate the effectiveness of the monitoring and maintenance carried out. 
 
The remediation scheme shall ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated land 
under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the intended use of 
the land after remediation.  
 
The approved remediation scheme shall be carried out prior to the commencement of 
development, other than that required to carry out remediation, or in accordance with the 
approved timetable of works. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that the land is suitable for the intended uses and to ensure 
that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors and in accordance with section 11 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. This is a condition precedent because the works comprising 
the development have the potential to uncover harmful contamination. Therefore these 
details need to be agreed before work commences. 
 
 4 Contaminated Land - Verification Report (Pre-occupation) 
No occupation shall commence until a verification report (that demonstrates the 
effectiveness of the remediation carried out) has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority, unless the findings of the approved investigation 
and risk assessment has confirmed that a remediation scheme is not required. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that the land is suitable for the intended uses and to ensure 
that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors and in accordance with section 11 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 5 Materials - Submission of Schedule and Samples (Bespoke Trigger) 
No construction of the external walls of the development shall commence until a schedule 
of materials and finishes, and samples of the materials to be used in the construction of 
the external surfaces, including roofs, have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be carried out only in 
accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the surrounding area 
in accordance with Policies D.2 and D.4 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan 
and Policy CP6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy. 
 
 6 Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan (Pre-commencement) 
No development shall commence until a Detailed Arboricultural Method Statement with 
Tree Protection Plan following the recommendations contained within BS 5837:2012 has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
arboricultural method statement shall incorporate a provisional programme of works; 
supervision and monitoring details by an Arboricultural Consultant and provision of site 
visit records and certificates of completion to the local planning authority. The statement 
should include the control of potentially harmful operations such as site preparation 
(including demolition, clearance and level changes); the storage, handling and mixing of 

Page 43



materials on site, burning, location of site office, service run locations including soakaway 
locations and movement of people and machinery. No development or other operations 
shall thereafter take place except in complete accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure that trees to be retained are not adversely affected by the 
development proposals in accordance with Policy NE.4 of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Local Plan. This is a condition precedent because the works comprising the 
development have the potential to harm retained trees. Therefore these details need to be 
agreed before work commences. 
 
 7  Ecology Wildlife Protect & Enhance (Pre-commencement) 
 
Development shall not commence until details of a Wildlife Protection and Enhancement 
Scheme designed to avoid harm to wildlife, in particular reptiles, nesting birds and badger, 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
scheme shall be in 
accordance with the recommendations of the approved "Biodiversity and Geological 
Conservation Assessment" by Acorn Ecology dated February 2016 and shall include: 
 
o Findings of completed reptile survey together with proposed details for all necessary 
reptile mitigation and habitat compensation measures, as applicable 
o findings of a nesting bird survey if site clearance is required during the nesting season, 
together with details of proposed measures to avoid disturbance to nesting birds 
o specifications for measures such as protective fencing, to protect retained habitats, if 
applicable 
o proposed measures to avoid harm to badger, including, if applicable, findings of 
precommencementchecks for badger activity 
o proposals for biodiversity enhancements, with measures and specifications to be shown 
on all relevant plans and drawings 
 
The development shall be carried out only in accordance with the approved Scheme or 
any amendment to the Scheme as approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: to avoid harm to wildlife including reptiles, badger and nesting birds, and to 
provide biodiversity enhancements in line with the requirements of NPPF 
 
 8 Obscure Glazing (Compliance) 
The proposed windows on the north east elevation of plot 3 (on the proposed site plan) 
shall be obscurely glazed and non-opening unless the parts of the window which can be 
opened are more than 1.7m above the floor of the room in which the window is installed. 
Thereafter the window shall be permanently retained as such. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the residential amenities of adjoining occupiers from overlooking 
and loss of privacy in accordance with Policy D.2 of the Bath and North East Somerset 
Local Plan. 
 
 9 Removal of Permitted Development Rights - Car ports (Compliance) 
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or 

Page 44



without modification) no doors or other means of enclosure shall be inserted into the car 
port areas and these shall remain open in perpetuity. 
 
Reason: Any alterations to enclose this areas require detailed consideration by the Local 
Planning Authority to ensure sufficient onsite parking in retained in accordance with the 
Chew Valley Neighbourhood Plan 
 
10 Hard and Soft Landscaping (Pre-occupation) 
No occupation shall commence until a hard and soft landscape scheme has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority showing details of all 
trees, hedgerows and other planting to be retained; a planting specification to include 
numbers, size, species and positions of all new trees and shrubs, details of existing and 
proposed walls, fences, other boundary treatment and surface treatment of the open parts 
of the site, and a programme of implementation. 
 
Reason: To ensure the provision of an appropriate landscape setting to the development 
in accordance with Policies D.2 and D.4 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
11 Hard and Soft Landscaping (Compliance) 
All hard and/or soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of any part of the 
development or in accordance with the programme (phasing) agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority. Any trees or plants indicated on the approved scheme which, 
within a period of five years from the date of the development being completed, die, are 
removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced during the next 
planting season with other trees or plants of a species and size to be first approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. All hard landscape works shall be permanently 
retained in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the landscape scheme is implemented and maintained in 
accordance with Policies D.2 and D.4 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
12 Highways - Parking (Compliance) 
The areas allocated for parking and turning on the submitted plan shall be kept clear of 
obstruction and shall not be used other than for the parking of vehicles in connection with 
the development hereby permitted. 
 
Reason: To ensure sufficient parking and turning areas are retained at all times in the 
interests of amenity and highways safety in accordance with Policy T.24 of the Bath and 
North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
13 Highways - Bound/Compacted Vehicle Access (Pre-occupation) 
No occupation of the development shall commence until the vehicular access has been 
constructed with a bound and compacted surfacing material (not loose stone or gravel). 
 
Reason: To prevent loose material spilling onto the highway in the interests of highways 
safety in accordance with Policy T.24 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
14 Vehicle Visibility Splay (Pre occupation) 
 

Page 45



No occupation of the development shall commence until the visibility splay shown on 
drawing number 15151_120 Rev B has been provided. There shall be no on-site 
obstruction exceeding 900mm above ground level within the visibility splay. The visibility 
splay shall be retained permanently thereafter. 
 
Reason: To ensure sufficient visibility is provided in the interests of highways safety in 
accordance with Policy T.24 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
15 Bound and compacted footpath and carriageway (Pre occupation) 
 
Each dwelling shall not be occupied until it is served by a properly bound and compacted 
footpath and carriageway to at least base course level between the dwelling and the 
existing adopted highway. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development is served by an adequate means of access in 
accordance with Policy T.24 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
16 Archaeology - Watching Brief (Pre-commencement) 
No development shall commence, except archaeological investigation work, until the 
applicant, or their agents or successors in title, has secured the implementation of a 
programme of archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation 
which has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
programme of archaeological work should provide a controlled watching brief during 
ground works on the site, with provision for excavation of any significant deposits or 
features encountered, and shall be carried out by a competent person(s) and completed in 
accordance with the approved written scheme of investigation. 
 
Reason: The site is within an area of significant archaeological interest and the Council 
will wish to examine and record items of interest discovered. This is a condition precedent 
because archaeological remains and features may be damaged by the initial development 
works. 
 
17 Flood Risk and Drainage - Infiltration Testing (Pre-commencement) 
No development shall commence, except ground investigations and remediation, until 
infiltration testing and soakaway design in accordance with Building regulations Part H, 
section 3 (3.30) have been undertaken to verify that soakaways will be suitable for the 
development. If the infiltration test results demonstrate that soakaways are not 
appropriate, an alternative method of surface water drainage, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and installed prior to the occupation of 
the development. 
 
Reason: To ensure that an appropriate method of surface water drainage is installed and 
in the interests of flood risk management in accordance with Policy CP5 of the Bath and 
North East Somerset Core Strategy. This is a condition precedent because it is necessary 
to understand whether soakaways are appropriate prior to any initial construction works 
which may prejudice the surface water drainage strategy. 
 
18 Rainwater harvesting - (Pre occupation) 
 

Page 46



The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until a scheme for rainwater 
harvesting or other methods of capturing rainwater 
for use by the residents (e.g. water butts) has been submitted to and approved in writing. 
The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with these approved 
details. 
 
Reason; In the interests of sustainable development in line with policy SCR5 of the Place 
Making Plan 
 
19 Plans List (Compliance) 
The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance with 
the plans as set out in the plans list below. 
 
Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
22 Sep 2016    15151_100    SITE LOCATION PLAN  
22 Sep 2016    15151_101    EXISTING SITE PLAN      
22 Sep 2016    15151_102    TOPOGRAPHICAL SURVEY       
22 Sep 2016    15151_103    EXISTING SECTIONS A-A & B-B    
05 Dec 2016    15151_104 REVISION H    PROPOSED SITE PLAN       
05 Dec 2016    15151_105 REVISION F    DWELLING TYPE 1 - PLANS          
05 Dec 2016    15151_106 REVISION D    DWELLING TYPE 1 - ROOF PLAN AND 
SECTIONS        
05 Dec 2016    15151_107 REVISION F    DWELLING TYPE 1 - ELEVATIONS      
05 Dec 2016    15151_108 REVISION F    DWELLING TYPE 2 - PLANS 
05 Dec 2016    15151_109 REVISION E    DWELLING TYPE 2 - ROOF PLAN AND 
SECTIONS 
05 Dec 2016    15151_110 REVISION F    DWELLING TYPE 2 - ELEVATIONS 
05 Dec 2016    15151_111 REVISION E    DWELLING TYPE 3 - GROUND FLOOR PLAN 
05 Dec 2016    15151_112 REVISION D    DWELLING TYPE 3 - ROOF PLAN 
05 Dec 2016    15151_113 REVISION D    DWELLING TYPE 3 - ELEVATIONS      
05 Dec 2016    15151_114 REVISION F    PROPOSED SECTIONS   
05 Dec 2016    15151_116 REVISION D    PROPOSED LANDSCAPE PLAN      
05 Dec 2016    15151_120 REVISION C    PROPOSED VISIBILITY SPLAY    
05 Dec 2016    15151_121 REVISION C    LONG ELEVATION  
05 Dec 2016    15151_122 REVISION D    DWELLING TYPE 3 - SECTIONS  
  
 
You are advised that as of 6 April 2015, the Bath & North East Somerset Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule came into effect. Full details about the CIL 
Charge including, amount and process for payment will be sent out in a CIL Liability 
Notice which you will receive shortly. Further details are available here: 
www.bathnes.gov.uk/cil 
 
The applicant should be advised to contact the Highway Maintenance Team on 01225 
394337 with regard to securing a licence under Section 184 of the Highways Act 1980 for 
the widening of a vehicular crossing. The access shall not be brought into use until the 

Page 47



details of the access have been approved and constructed in accordance with the current 
Specification. 
 
Condition Categories 
The heading of each condition gives an indication of the type of condition and what is 
required by it. There are 4 broad categories: 
 
Compliance - The condition specifies matters to which you must comply. These conditions 
do not require the submission of additional details and do not need to be discharged. 
 
Pre-commencement - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before any work begins on the approved development. 
The condition will list any specific works which are exempted from this restriction, e.g. 
ground investigations, remediation works, etc. 
 
Pre-occupation - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before occupation of all or part of the approved 
development.  
 
Bespoke Trigger - The condition contains a bespoke trigger which requires the submission 
and approval of further information, drawings or details before a specific action occurs.  
 
Please note all conditions should be read fully as these headings are intended as a guide 
only. 
 
Where approval of further information is required you will need to submit a conditions 
application and pay the relevant fee, details of the fee can be found on the "what happens 
after permission" pages of the Council's Website.  You can submit your conditions 
application via the Planning Portal at www.planningportal.co.uk or send it direct to 
planning_registration@bathnes.gov.uk.  Alternatively this can be sent by post to The 
Planning Registration Team, Planning Services, Lewis House, Manvers Street, Bath, BA1 
1JG. 
 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Framework. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 48



Item No:   03 

Application No: 16/02230/FUL 

Site Location: 10 Lymore Gardens, Twerton, Bath, Bath And North East Somerset 

Ward: Westmoreland  Parish: N/A  LB Grade: N/A 

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Change of use from a 4 bed dwelling (use class C3) to a 4 bed house 
of multiple occupation (HMO) (Use class C4) 

Constraints: Affordable Housing, Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Article 4, Forest of 
Avon, HMO Stage 2 test required, Hotspring Protection, SSSI - 
Impact Risk Zones, World Heritage Site,  

Applicant:  Mr Andrew Spear 

Expiry Date:  15th July 2016 

Case Officer: Nikki Honan 

 

DECISION REFUSE 
 
 
 1 The proposed development where there are no parking facilities on site would be likely 
to give rise to the on-street parking of additional cars attracted to the premises and 
thereby interrupt the free flow of traffic to the danger of road users in an area where on-
street parking is in high demand. The development is therefore contrary to polices T.24 
and T.26 of the Bath and North East Local Plan, including minerals and waste policies, 
adopted 2007 
 
 2 The proposed development would lead to over intensification of Houses in Multiple 
Occupation which is harmful to the character of the area and contrary to policy HG.12 of 
the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan, adopted 2007, and 'Houses in Multiple 
Occupation in Bath' Supplementary Planning Document, adopted 2013. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
This decision relates to the Site Location Plan dated 20th May 2016, and the Proposed 
Floor Plans dated 12th December 2016. 
 
Decision Making Statement 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Framework. Despite the 
officer recommendation to approve, Councillors considered the application to be 
unacceptable for the reasons given. 
 
You are advised that as of 6 April 2015, the Bath & North East Somerset Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule comes into effect. Whilst the above 
application has been refused by the Local Planning Authority please note that CIL applies 
to all planning permissions granted on or after this date. Thus any successful appeal 
against this decision may become subject to CIL. Full details are available on the 
Council's website www.bathnes.gov.uk/cil 
 

Page 49



 
 

Item No:   04 

Application No: 16/05085/FUL 

Site Location: 44 St Clement's Road, Keynsham, Bristol, Bath And North East 
Somerset 

Ward: Keynsham South  Parish: Keynsham Town Council  LB Grade: N/A 

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Demolition of existing garage and erection of 1no detached dwelling 
in its place. 

Constraints: Affordable Housing, Airport Safeguarding Zones, Agric Land Class 
3b,4,5, Forest of Avon, Housing Development Boundary, SSSI - 
Impact Risk Zones,  

Applicant:  Mr John Ridgeway 

Expiry Date:  12th January 2017 

Case Officer: Nikki Honan 

 

DECISION REFUSE 
 
 
 1 The proposed development by reason of its siting scale and design will fail to respect 
the context of the surrounding streetscene and spatial characteristics of the area. The 
development is therefore contrary to policy CP6 of the Core Strategy, adopted 2014, and 
polices D.2 and D.4 of the Bath and North East Local Plan, including minerals and waste 
policies, adopted October 2007 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
This decision relates to:  
01, 02, 03, 04 - all received 17 Oct 2016 
 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Framework. Notwithstanding 
informal advice offered by the Local Planning Authority the submitted application was 
unacceptable for the stated reasons and the applicant was advised that the application 
was to be recommended for refusal. Despite this the applicant chose not to withdraw the 
application and having regard to the need to avoid unnecessary delay the Local Planning 
Authority moved forward and issued its decision. In considering whether to prepare a 
further application the applicant's attention is drawn to the original discussion/negotiation. 
 
You are advised that as of 6 April 2015, the Bath & North East Somerset Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule comes into effect. Whilst the above 
application has been refused by the Local Planning Authority please note that CIL applies 
to all planning permissions granted on or after this date. Thus any successful appeal 
against this decision may become subject to CIL. Full details are available on the 
Council's website www.bathnes.gov.uk/cil 
 

Page 50



Item No:   05 

Application No: 14/05836/FUL 

Site Location: Land Rear Of Yearten House, Water Street, East Harptree, Bristol 

Ward: Mendip  Parish: East Harptree  LB Grade: N/A 

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Erection of 8 dwellings and access. 

Constraints: Airport Safeguarding Zones, Agric Land Class 1,2,3a, Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty, Housing Development Boundary, SSSI - 
Impact Risk Zones, Water Source Areas,  

Applicant:  John Sainesbury & Co. 

Expiry Date:  28th February 2017 

Case Officer: Christine Moorfield 

 

DECISION Delegate to Permit subject to Section 106 
 
 
 

Item No:   06 

Application No: 16/05256/FUL 

Site Location: Avalon House, Fosseway, Dunkerton, Bath 

Ward: Bathavon West  Parish: Dunkerton & Tunley Parish Council 
 LB Grade: N/A 

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Erection of wall and feather edged panelling fence between pillars 
following removal of old fence (Retrospective) (Resubmission) 

Constraints: Affordable Housing, Agric Land Class 1,2,3a, Coal - Standing Advice 
Area, Contaminated Land, Forest of Avon, Greenbelt, SSSI - Impact 
Risk Zones,  

Applicant:  Mr Nathan McKenna 

Expiry Date:  18th January 2017 

Case Officer: Robert Warren 

 

DECISION REFUSE 
 
 
 1 The height and scale of the fence has an overbearing impact on the street scene and 
the materials are out of context with the character and appearance of the surrounding 
area. The proposed development is therefore considered to be contrary to saved policies 
D.2 and D4 of the Bath and North East Local Plan, 2007 and contrary to policies D.1, D.2 
and D.6 of the Draft Placemaking Plan, 2015. 
 
 2 The fence and wall by reason of its siting, scale and appearance does not respect or 
complement the existing dwelling to the detriment of visual amenity. The development is 
therefore contrary to saved policies D.2, D.4 of the Bath and North East Local Plan, 2007 
and contrary to Policies D.1 and D.2 of the Draft Placemaking Plan, 2015. 

Page 51



 
PLANS LIST: 
 
This decision relates to drawings, Fence Elevations, Footpath/Road Level Elevations and 
Site Location Plan received on the 25th October 2016. 
 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Framework. Notwithstanding 
informal advice offered by the Local Planning Authority the submitted application was 
unacceptable for the stated reasons and the applicant was advised that the application 
was to be recommended for refusal. Despite this the applicant chose not to withdraw the 
application and having regard to the need to avoid unnecessary delay the Local Planning 
Authority moved forward and issued its decision. In considering whether to prepare a 
further application the applicant's attention is drawn to the original discussion/negotiation. 
 
 
 

Item No:   07 

Application No: 16/04535/FUL 

Site Location: 33 Parklands, High Littleton, Bristol, Bath And North East Somerset 

Ward: High Littleton  Parish: High Littleton  LB Grade: N/A 

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Erection of a dwelling following demolition of the outbuilding 

Constraints: Affordable Housing, Airport Safeguarding Zones, Agric Land Class 
1,2,3a, Coal - Standing Advice Area, Forest of Avon, Greenbelt, 
Housing Development Boundary, SSSI - Impact Risk Zones,  

Applicant:  Mr Tiley 

Expiry Date:  20th January 2017 

Case Officer: Samantha Mason 

 

Defer for site visit - to allow Members to understand the context of the site 

Page 52



Bath & North East Somerset Council 

MEETING: Development Management Committee   

AGENDA 
ITEM 
NUMBER 

MEETING 
DATE: 

8th February 2017 

RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER: 

Mark Reynolds – Group Manager (Development 
Management) (Telephone: 01225 477079) 

TITLE: SITE VISIT AGENDA 

WARDS: ALL 

BACKGROUND PAPERS:  

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

List of background papers relating to this report of the Group Manager, Development Management about applications/proposals for 
Planning Permission etc.  The papers are available for inspection online at http://planning.bathnes.gov.uk/PublicAccess/. 

[1] Application forms, letters or other consultation documents, certificates, notices, correspondence and all drawings submitted by 
and/or on behalf of applicants, Government Departments, agencies or Bath and North East Somerset Council in connection 
with each application/proposal referred to in this Report. 

[2] Department work sheets relating to each application/proposal as above. 

[3] Responses on the application/proposals as above and any subsequent relevant correspondence from: 

(i) Sections and officers of the Council, including: 

Building Control 
Environmental Services 
Transport Development 
Planning Policy, Environment and Projects, Urban Design (Sustainability) 
 

(ii) The Environment Agency 
(iii) Wessex Water 
(iv) Bristol Water 
(v) Health and Safety Executive 
(vi) British Gas 
(vii) Historic Buildings and Monuments Commission for England (English Heritage) 
(viii) The Garden History Society 
(ix) Royal Fine Arts Commission 
(x) Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 
(xi) Nature Conservancy Council 
(xii) Natural England 
(xiii) National and local amenity societies 
(xiv) Other interested organisations 
(xv) Neighbours, residents and other interested persons 
(xvi) Any other document or correspondence specifically identified with an application/proposal 
 

[4] The relevant provisions of Acts of Parliament, Statutory Instruments or Government Circulars, or documents produced by the 
Council or another statutory body such as the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan (including waste and minerals policies) 
adopted October 2007  

The following notes are for information only:- 

[1] “Background Papers” are defined in the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 do not include those disclosing 
“Exempt” or “Confidential Information” within the meaning of that Act.  There may be, therefore, other papers relevant to an 
application which will be relied on in preparing the report to the Committee or a related report, but which legally are not required 
to be open to public inspection. 

 

Page 53

Agenda Item 9

http://planning.bathnes.gov.uk/PublicAccess/


[2] The papers identified or referred to in this List of Background Papers will only include letters, plans and other documents 
relating to applications/proposals referred to in the report if they have been relied on to a material extent in producing the 
report. 

[3] Although not necessary for meeting the requirements of the above Act, other letters and documents of the above kinds 
received after the preparation of this report and reported to and taken into account by the Committee will also be available for 
inspection. 

[4] Copies of documents/plans etc. can be supplied for a reasonable fee if the copyright on the particular item is not thereby 
infringed or if the copyright is owned by Bath and North East Somerset Council or any other local authority. 

 

INDEX 

 
 

ITEM 
NO. 

APPLICATION NO. 
& TARGET DATE: 

APPLICANTS NAME/SITE ADDRESS 
and PROPOSAL 

WARD: OFFICER: REC: 
 

 
 

001 16/04535/FUL 
20 January 2017 

Mr Tiley 
33 Parklands, High Littleton, Bristol, 
Bath And North East Somerset, BS39 
6LB 
Erection of a dwelling following 
demolition of the outbuilding 

High 
Littleton 

Samantha 
Mason 

PERMIT 

 

 

REPORT OF THE GROUP MANAGER, DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT ON 
APPLICATIONS FOR DEVELOPMENT 

 

Item No:   001 

Application No: 16/04535/FUL 

Site Location: 33 Parklands High Littleton Bristol Bath And North East Somerset 
BS39 6LB 

 

 

Ward: High Littleton  Parish: High Littleton  LB Grade: N/A 

Page 54



Ward Members: Councillor L J Kew  

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Erection of a dwelling following demolition of the outbuilding 

Constraints: Affordable Housing, Airport Safeguarding Zones, Agric Land Class 
1,2,3a, Coal - Standing Advice Area, Forest of Avon, Greenbelt, 
Housing Development Boundary, SSSI - Impact Risk Zones,  

Applicant:  Mr Tiley 

Expiry Date:  20th January 2017 

Case Officer: Samantha Mason 

 
REPORT 
Reasons for referring application to committee: 
 
The Proposal has been brough to the committee by The Planning Committe Chair as both 
Parish Councils (High Littleton and Farmborough) have objected to the proposal and there 
have been 7 objections and it was considered that this application should be debated by 
members.  
 
The Chair also considered it prudent to bring the application to the Committee in light of a 
recent appeal that was dismissed nearby at 9 Rotcombe Lane. This application was for a 
detached dwelling within the garden of number 9. The site was smaller and was located in 
a very prominent location being a corner plot.  
 
The application was first discussed at the planning Committee held on the 11th January 
2017 and was deffered in order for Members to undertake a site visit.  
 
Site Description and proposal: 
 
33 Parklands is a two storey semi-detached, 3 bed dwelling located on the northern edge 
of High Littleton. Parklands is a cul-de-sac with number 33 being located at the head. The 
site is within but forms the edge of High Littleton housing development boundary and is 
bound by development to either side of the property. The proposal site has fields to the 
rear and is adjacent to the Bath and Bristol Green Belt.  
 
For clarification purposes it should be noted that the boundary betwen both High Littleton 
Parish Council and Farmborough Parish Council runs through the site parallet to the 
eastern boundary and adjacent to the eastern elevation of the exisiting garage building.  
 
Number 33 has garden land to the rear and eastern side of the property, a double garage 
is currently located to the side of the property. The application proposes to demolish the 
existing double garage and erect a 4 bed dwelling within the garden of number 33. A 
double garage will form part of the development; one garage will be for number 33 and 
one for the proposed dwelling, a further two parking spaces are proposed to the front of 
the proposed dwelling.   
 
Relevant Planning History: 
 
No relevant planning history.  

Page 55



 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
Consultation Responses:  
 
High Littleton Parish Council:   OBJECT 
 
'Object in Principle to the above planning application due to overdevelopment.'  
 
Farmborough Parish Council: OBJECT 
 
1. The Parish Council considers the proposed building an over development of the site. 
2. It is not possible from the application to determine the exact size of the proposed 
building. 
3. The Parish Council considers the elevation of the proposed building and its outbuildings 
above the neighbouring property to provide an over bearing impact (Policy D2).' 
 
Highways: No Objection. The revised plan now shows both garages to be of dimensions 
3m by 6m, which would allow room for both parking a car and some domestic storage. 
There is also a parking space in front of each garage, and an additional space for the new 
dwelling on the shared driveway.  
 
The site is located at a turning head, and this would be used to facilitate turning 
movements out of the driveway.  
 
Having regard to the level of parking now proposed, I would have no objections subject to 
the following condition being attached to any permission granted:-  
 
The areas allocated for parking and turning on the submitted plan shall be kept clear of 
obstruction and shall not be used other than for the parking of vehicles in connection with 
the development hereby permitted. 
 
Reason: To ensure sufficient parking and turning areas are retained at all times in the 
interests of amenity and highways safety in accordance with Policy T.24 of the Bath and 
North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
Bristol Water: No response  
 
Representations Received:   
 
Seven representations have been received from neighbours in objection to the 
development. A summary of the responses are as follows: 
- The proposal will result in overdevelopment of the site 
- The proposal will cause loss of light to neighbours at number 26 
- The location of the bin store is in close proximity to number 26 which is considered 
to effect their amenity.  
- The properties in the road have experienced drainage issues and therefore this 
development could cause further issues.  
- Local schools are full and a further family will not be able to get school places  
- The development will result in overlooking of neighbouring properties and the street 

Page 56



- Parking is a problem along the street and the development will impact on highways 
safety, for example as children play in the road and emergency services will find it more 
difficult to access the street.  
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The Core Strategy now forms part of the statutory Development Plan 
and will be given full weight in the determination of planning applications. The Council's 
Development Plan now comprises: 
 
- Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy (July 2014) 
- Saved policies from the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan (2007) 
- West of England Joint Waste Core Strategy (2011) 
 
Core Strategy: 
 
The B&NES Local Plan policies that are replaced by policies in the Core Strategy are 
outlined in Appendix 1 of the Core Strategy. Those B&NES Local Plan policies that are not 
replaced and remain saved are listed in Appendix 2 of the Core Strategy 
 
The following policies of the Core Strategy are relevant to the determination of this 
application: 
 
SD1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
DW1: District Wide Spatial Strategy 
CP6: Environmental quality  
CP8: Green Belt 
CP10: Housing Mix 
 
Local Plan:  
 
The following saved policies of the Bath and North East Local Plan, including minerals and 
waste policies, adopted October 2007 are also relevant to the determination of this 
application. 
 
D.2: General design and public realm considerations 
D.4: Townscape considerations 
SC.1: Settlement Classification  
HG.6: Residential development in the R.3 settlements  
GB.2: Visual amenities of the Green Belt  
T.24: General development and control and access policy  
T.26: On-site parking and servicing provision  
 
Placemaking Plan: 
 
Following the Examination hearings the Inspector has now issued her Interim Statement 
and has advised the Council of her recommended Main Modifications required to make 
the plan sound. The Main Modifications and Minor Proposed Changes are now subject to 
public consultation prior to the Inspector issuing her Final Report. The following policies 
can now be given substantial weight: 

Page 57



 
D1: General Urban Design Principles 
D2: Local Character and Distinctiveness 
D3: Urban Fabric 
D5: Building design 
D6: Amenity 
D.7 Infill and Backland Development 
ST.1: Promoting Sustainable Travel 
 
An application for the designation of High Littleton and Hallowtree neighbourhood plan 
area has been formally submitted by High Littleton Parish Council. At present this means 
that little weight is afforded to any draft policies that may be being prepared by the 
nieghbourhood plan group.  
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in March 2012 and is a 
material consideration. Due consideration has been given to the provisions of the National 
Planning 
Practice Guidance (NPPG). 
 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
This application is seeking permission for the erection of a dwelling in the garden of 
number 33 following the demolition of an existing outbuilding.  
 
33 Parklands is a two storey, semidetached, 3 bedroom dwelling, constructed around the 
1970's.  
 
The property is located at the end of a cul-de-sac. The housing estate consists of mainly 3 
or 4 bed semi-detached and detached housing, together with a recent development of 
bungalows to the east of the site.  
 
Principle of Development: 
 
Core Strategy Policy RA1 explains that residential development with RA1 villages can be 
acceptable if it is within the housing development boundary and is of an appropriate scale 
and character and appearance.  
 
High Littleton is defined as an RA1 village. The site is located within the housing 
development boundary of High Littleton and as such residential development is 
considered to be acceptable in principle, subject to other material considerations. In this 
case the main considerations now are the character and appearance of the development, 
the impact on residential amenity and highways safety.  
 
Character and Appearance: 
 
Saved Local Plan policy D.4 states that, development will only be permitted where it 
responds to the local context in terms of appearance, materials, siting, spacing and layout.  
 
Parklands is a residential cul-de-sac defined by semi-detached 1970's buildings, a newer 
development of bungalows has more recently been constructed off of the turning circle of 

Page 58



the cul-de-sac. Properties on the western side of the street are set at a slightly higher level 
than the properties on the eastern side due to the topography and the bungalows are set 
down slightly further again.  
 
Number 33 Parklands is set at the head of the turning circle of the cul-de-sac and the 
proposal will be built in place of the current detached garages to the east of number 33. 
Although the site will also be adjacent to the bungalow at number 26, due to the set down 
nature of this property and the other bungalows the proposal will have a greater 
relationship with the semi-detached dwellings and therefore has been designed to reflect 
this.  
 
Number 33 is set in one of the most spacious plots on the street with the detached 
garages and large portion of the garden being set to the side of the property. It is 
considered that the division of this plot into two will be in keeping with the plot sizes of the 
majority of the semi-detached properties in the street. It is therefore not considered to 
constitute overdevelopment of the site.  
 
Furthermore the original pattern of properties and detached garages has been interrupted, 
with some properties being extended to the side or garages being removed. As well as 
this some of the semi-detached properties have been altered with front porches and 
extensions so that there is no longer an identical street frontage along Parklands.  
 
The proposal has been designed with the local vernacular in mind as well as residential 
amenity, therefore the front door is on the side of the property with the main windows 
being located on the front and rear elevation. As the street frontage is no longer entirely 
consistent it is not considered that the appearance of the front elevation of the property 
will significantly harm the character of the street.  
 
After discussions with the agent the use of materials has been altered to properly reflect 
that of the street scene in order to allow for successful integration of the proposed 
dwelling. Therefore stone is now proposed to the front and side elevations with rendered 
panelling to the lower front elevation, this is consistent with the street scene. Stone is used 
for the lower half of the rear elevation and render to the top half; this is considered 
acceptable and will not be visible from the street scene. Roof materials will match those at 
number 33.  
 
The proposal has been stepped back slightly from the front elevation of number 33, and is 
slightly forward of the front elevation of number 26, this is consider to give some visual 
relief and it is also noted that the existing building line of the street does vary. The siting of 
the proposal allows for a good amount of amenity space around the plot and maintains an 
acceptable separation distance from the bungalow at number 26.  
 
The new garages proposed for number 33 and for the new dwelling will be attached and 
have been designed to match that of the existing double garages on the plot in terms of 
size and roof pitch; proposed materials are again stone and tiles to match the existing.   
 
Although due to the topography the proposed dwelling will sit slightly lower than number 
33 the proposal is of a similar height to number 33 at around 8m, albeit it will be slightly 
larger in width and length, however it is considered to fit on the plot comfortably and the 
size is therefore acceptable.  

Page 59



 
Overall therefore, due to the appropriate siting, scale and design of the proposed 
development and the existing situation, the development is not considered to result in any 
harm to the character and appearance of the locality in line with Saved Policy D.4. It is 
also considered that the proposal satisfies the policies of the draft Placemaking Plan that 
seek to protect the character of the area.  
 
Residential Amenity: 
 
Saved Local Plan policy D.2 states that development should not cause significant harm to 
the amenities of existing or proposed occupiers, by reason of loss of light, or increased 
overlooking, noise, smell, traffic or other disturbance. This is also reflected in Policy D.6 of 
the Placemaking Plan.  
 
The proposal is situated between 33 Parklands and 26 Parklands at the head of the 
turning circle, the front of the property will look out to the road and slightly towards number 
24 due to the angle of the street and the rear of the property looks out across fields. 
Therefore these three properties are considered to be the main properties that could 
potentially be affected by the proposal. 
 
Two garages are proposed, one for number 33 and one for the new dwelling, the garages 
provided some distance between number 33 and the proposed property and therefore it is 
not considered that the proposal will have an overbearing or overshadowing impact on 
number 33 and a level of parking is retained for both properties, again limiting any effect 
on residential amenity. One side window is proposed that will face towards number 33, 
however this will provided limited opportunities for overlooking, and as there are no side 
windows at number 33 will not look into the property.  
 
The proposed dwelling has been set away from neighbours at the bungalow, number 26. 
A gap of 4m is maintained between the front elevation of the proposed dwelling and the 
bungalow and these increases to a gap of approximately 8m between the rear elevation of 
the proposed and number 26. The proposal does not extend beyond the rear elevation of 
number 26. Therefore it is not considered that there will be a significant level of 
overshadowing due to the separation gap.  
 
Any additional overshadowing that may occur will fall across the existing property which 
already experiences some overshadowing on the western side as it is set down into the 
land and has a high hedge to the side, the closest element of number 26 to the proposed 
property being the garage.  
This, along with the sloping roof side facing number 26 instead of the gable end, will mean 
there is not an overbearing effect on number 26.  
 
Again one small side window is proposed in the side elevation facing towards number 26 
which is not considered to present an opportunity for significant increased overlooking.  
 
The proposed property will look towards the road and is angled slightly towards number 
24, it is accepted that a level of overlooking already exists in residential areas and can be 
expected at the front of properties and this will not be increased significantly by the 
proposal.  
 

Page 60



The storage of bins is indiacted adjacent to the eastern boundary of the proposed 
dwelling. As this is a single residential unit it would be unreasonable for the Local Planning 
Authority to control where residents keep their bins within the curtilidge and therefore this 
element is not considered as a reason for refusal.  
 
Overall the proposal is not considered to have a detrimental impact on the amenity of the 
adjoining occupiers in terms of loss of privacy, a significant sense of enclosure or 
overshadowing of neighbouring properties that would warrant refusal. The proposal 
therefore satisfies saved policy D.4 of the Local Plan and Policy D.6 of the draft 
Placemaking Plan. 
 
Highways and Parking: 
 
The Highways Development Control Officer was consulted in October 2016 and requested 
further information on dimensions of the garages and level or parking to be provided. 
Following these comments the agent submitted revised plans and the Highways team 
were consulted.  
 
The revised plan now shows both garages to be of dimensions 3m by 6m, which would 
allow room for both parking a car and some domestic storage. There is also a parking 
space in front of each garage, and an additional space for the new dwelling on the shared 
driveway.  
 
The site is located at a turning head, and this would be used to facilitate turning 
movements out of the driveway.  
 
Having regard to the level of parking now proposed, Highways DC would have no 
objections subject to a condition being attached to any permission granted that would see 
the parking and turning area being kept clear of obstruction and that it is only used for the 
parking of vehicles in connection with the development.  
 
Drainage: 
 
One objection was received stating that the street had previously experience drainage 
issues. However the site is not located within a critical drainage area and there is no 
reasons to believe that an additional dwelling will not be able to be accommodated in 
terms of drainage. Furthermore no objections have been received from Bristol Waters or 
Wessex Waters. Appropriate conditions will be attached to a decision that will ensure 
adequate drainage is achieved.  
 
School Places: 
 
One objection was received stating that the local school was full and not taking any 
additional pupils. One house is not deemed to affect provision of school places to the 
extent that it should be refused.  
 
Conclusion:  
 
The proposals accord with the above listed relevant policies of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Core Strategy, the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan and the emerging 

Page 61



Bath and North East Somerset Placemaking Plan and it is therefore recommended that 
permission be granted.  
 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

PERMIT 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
 1 Standard Time Limit (Compliance) 
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) and to avoid the accumulation of unimplemented planning permission 
 
 2 Materials - Submission of Schedule and Samples (Bespoke Trigger) 
No construction of the external walls of the development shall commence until a schedule 
of materials and finishes, and samples of the materials to be used in the construction of 
the external surfaces, including roofs, have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be carried out only in 
accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the surrounding area 
in accordance with Policies D.2 and D.4 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan 
and Policy CP6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy. 
 
 3 Ridge Height (Compliance) 
The ridge line of the dwelling shall be a minimum of 1m below the ridge height of number 
33 Parklands.  
 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the surrounding area, 
and the residential amenity of neighbours in accordance with Policies D.2 and D.4 of the 
Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan and Policy CP6 of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Core Strategy 
 
 4 Parking (Compliance) 
The areas allocated for parking and turning on the submitted plan shall be kept clear of 
obstruction and shall not be used other than for the parking of vehicles in connection with 
the development hereby permitted. 
 
Reason: To ensure sufficient parking and turning areas are retained at all times in the 
interests of amenity and highways safety in accordance with Policy T.24 of the Bath and 
North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
 5 Garages (Compliance) 
The garage hereby approved shall be retained for the garaging of private motor vehicles 
associated with the dwelling and ancillary domestic storage and for no other purpose. 
 

Page 62



Reason: To ensure adequate off-street parking provision is retained in accordance with 
Policy T.26 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
 6 Removal of Permitted Development Rights - No Windows (Compliance) 
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or 
without modification) no windows, roof lights or openings, other than those shown on the 
plans hereby approved, shall be installed at the dwelling hereby permitted at any time 
unless a further planning permission has been granted. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjoining occupiers from overlooking and loss of 
privacy in accordance with Policy D.2 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
 7 Removal of Permitted Development Rights - No roof extensions/enlargements 
(Compliance) 
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or 
without modification) no extension, external alteration or enlargement of any part of any 
roof of the dwelling(s) or other buildings hereby approved shall be carried out unless a 
further planning permission has been granted by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the surrounding area 
in accordance with Policies D.2 and D.4 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan 
and Policy CP6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy. 
 
 8 Obscure Glazing and Non-opening Window(s) (Compliance) 
The proposed window on the east elevation shall be obscurely glazed and non-opening 
unless the parts of the window which can be opened are more than 1.7m above the floor 
of the room in which the window is installed. Thereafter the window shall be permanently 
retained as such. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the residential amenities of adjoining occupiers from overlooking 
and loss of privacy in accordance with Policy D.2 of the Bath and North East Somerset 
Local Plan. 
 
 9 Plans List (Compliance) 
The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance with 
the plans as set out in the plans list below. 
 
Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
 1 This decision relates to the following plans:  
 
14 Sep 2016  Site Location Plan  
18 Nov 2016  001 A Proposed Dwelling  
 
 2 Condition Categories 

Page 63



The heading of each condition gives an indication of the type of condition and what is 
required by it. There are 4 broad categories: 
 
Compliance - The condition specifies matters to which you must comply. These conditions 
do not require the submission of additional details and do not need to be discharged. 
 
Pre-commencement - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before any work begins on the approved development. 
The condition will list any specific works which are exempted from this restriction, e.g. 
ground investigations, remediation works, etc. 
 
Pre-occupation - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before occupation of all or part of the approved 
development.  
 
Bespoke Trigger - The condition contains a bespoke trigger which requires the submission 
and approval of further information, drawings or details before a specific action occurs.  
 
Please note all conditions should be read fully as these headings are intended as a guide 
only. 
 
Where approval of further information is required you will need to submit a conditions 
application and pay the relevant fee, details of the fee can be found on the "what happens 
after permission" pages of the Council's Website.  You can submit your conditions 
application via the Planning Portal at www.planningportal.co.uk or send it direct to 
planning_registration@bathnes.gov.uk.  Alternatively this can be sent by post to The 
Planning Registration Team, Planning Services, Lewis House, Manvers Street, Bath, BA1 
1JG. 
 
 3 In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied 
with the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Framework. 
 
 
 

Page 64



Bath & North East Somerset Council 

MEETING: Development Management Committee   

AGENDA 
ITEM 
NUMBER 

MEETING 
DATE: 

8th February 2017 

RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER: 

Mark Reynolds – Group Manager (Development 
Management) (Telephone: 01225 477079) 

TITLE: APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION  

WARDS: ALL 

BACKGROUND PAPERS:  

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

List of background papers relating to this report of the Group Manager, Development Management about applications/proposals for 
Planning Permission etc.  The papers are available for inspection online at http://planning.bathnes.gov.uk/PublicAccess/. 

[1] Application forms, letters or other consultation documents, certificates, notices, correspondence and all drawings submitted by 
and/or on behalf of applicants, Government Departments, agencies or Bath and North East Somerset Council in connection 
with each application/proposal referred to in this Report. 

[2] Department work sheets relating to each application/proposal as above. 

[3] Responses on the application/proposals as above and any subsequent relevant correspondence from: 

(i) Sections and officers of the Council, including: 

Building Control 
Environmental Services 
Transport Development 
Planning Policy, Environment and Projects, Urban Design (Sustainability) 
 

(ii) The Environment Agency 
(iii) Wessex Water 
(iv) Bristol Water 
(v) Health and Safety Executive 
(vi) British Gas 
(vii) Historic Buildings and Monuments Commission for England (English Heritage) 
(viii) The Garden History Society 
(ix) Royal Fine Arts Commission 
(x) Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 
(xi) Nature Conservancy Council 
(xii) Natural England 
(xiii) National and local amenity societies 
(xiv) Other interested organisations 
(xv) Neighbours, residents and other interested persons 
(xvi) Any other document or correspondence specifically identified with an application/proposal 
 

[4] The relevant provisions of Acts of Parliament, Statutory Instruments or Government Circulars, or documents produced by the 
Council or another statutory body such as the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan (including waste and minerals policies) 
adopted October 2007  

The following notes are for information only:- 

[1] “Background Papers” are defined in the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 do not include those disclosing 
“Exempt” or “Confidential Information” within the meaning of that Act.  There may be, therefore, other papers relevant to an 
application which will be relied on in preparing the report to the Committee or a related report, but which legally are not required 
to be open to public inspection. 

 

Page 65

Agenda Item 10

http://planning.bathnes.gov.uk/PublicAccess/


[2] The papers identified or referred to in this List of Background Papers will only include letters, plans and other documents 
relating to applications/proposals referred to in the report if they have been relied on to a material extent in producing the 
report. 

[3] Although not necessary for meeting the requirements of the above Act, other letters and documents of the above kinds 
received after the preparation of this report and reported to and taken into account by the Committee will also be available for 
inspection. 

[4] Copies of documents/plans etc. can be supplied for a reasonable fee if the copyright on the particular item is not thereby 
infringed or if the copyright is owned by Bath and North East Somerset Council or any other local authority. 

 

INDEX 

 
 

ITEM 
NO. 

APPLICATION NO. 
& TARGET DATE: 

APPLICANTS NAME/SITE ADDRESS 
and PROPOSAL 

WARD: OFFICER: REC: 
 

 
      

 
01 16/04289/EFUL 

20 December 2016 
Hardrock Developments Ltd 
Ministry Of Defence, Warminster Road, 
Bathwick, Bath, Bath And North East 
Somerset 
Erection of 6 no. apartment blocks to 
provide 87 no. new dwellings (Partial 
revision of application 14/02272/EFUL). 

Bathwick Chris Gomm Delegate to 
PERMIT 

 
02 16/05094/FUL 

16 December 2016 
Beechen Cliff School 
Beechen Cliff School , Kipling Avenue, 
Bear Flat, Bath, BA2 4RE 
Extend bank southwards using existing 
on site spoil heap to create wider 
playing field. 

Widcombe Chris 
Griggs-
Trevarthen 

PERMIT 

 
03 16/04499/FUL 

12 January 2017 
Flower And Hayes Ltd 
17 Station Road, Welton, Midsomer 
Norton, BA3 2AZ,  
Erection of 6no. new dwellings following 
demolition of existing dwelling and 
outbuildings (resubmission) - revised 
plans 

Midsomer 
Norton North 

Tessa 
Hampden 

PERMIT 

 
04 16/04261/FUL 

10 February 2017 
B Hammick 
Unit 2, Lymore Gardens, Twerton, Bath, 
BA2 1AQ 
Erection of 5No Three-bedroom, 2No 
Two-bedroom and 1No One-bedroom 
flat following conversion and adaptation 
of warehouse 

Westmorela
nd 

Christine 
Moorfield 

PERMIT 

 
05 16/05453/FUL 

10 February 2017 
Mr & Mrs Strickland 
Box Bush, Bromley Road, Stanton 
Drew, Bristol, Bath And North East 
Somerset 
Erection of 2 storey annexe and single 
storey extension following demolition of 
existing single store annexe 

Clutton Alice Barnes REFUSE 

 

Page 66



06 16/04960/FUL 
10 February 2017 

Lynas And Potter 
Beaumont House, Lansdown Road, 
Lansdown, Bath, Bath And North East 
Somerset 
Erection of three storey side extension 
to provide 3 no. residential apartments 
with associated parking and 
landscaping 

Lansdown Alice Barnes PERMIT 

 
07 16/05498/AR 

10 February 2017 
Mr Chris Eggleton 
Bristol Water Visitor Centre & Tea 
Room, Walley Lane, Chew Magna, 
Bristol,  
Display of 2no. externally illuminated 
entrance signs to replace previous 
signs to the entrance to Chew Valley 
Lake picnic area and Salt & Malt Cafe 
and public car park. (Resubmission) 

Chew Valley 
North 

Martin 
Almond 

REFUSE 

 
08 16/05771/FUL 

20 January 2017 
Mr And Mrs B Organ 
6 Fairways, Saltford, Bristol, Bath And 
North East Somerset, BS31 3HX 
Erection of single storey front extension, 
installation of 2no windows to side 
elevations and construction of additional 
parking area 

Saltford Emma 
Hardy 

PERMIT 

 
09 16/05508/FUL 

9 February 2017 
Mrs Tracey Dean-Chalkley 
18 Upper Camden Place, Walcot, Bath, 
Bath And North East Somerset, BA1 
5HX 
Installation of proposed mansard roof 
and associated dormer windows to front 
and rear elevations 

Lansdown Laura 
Batham 

REFUSE 

 
10 16/05509/LBA 

9 February 2017 
Mrs Tracey Dean-Chalkley 
18 Upper Camden Place, Walcot, Bath, 
Bath And North East Somerset, BA1 
5HX 
Internal and external alterations to 
install mansard roof and associated 
dormer windows to front and rear 
elevations 

Lansdown Laura 
Batham 

REFUSE 

 
11 16/05059/FUL 

15 February 2017 
Mr A Pearce 
5 Crown Hill, Upper Weston, Bath, Bath 
And North East Somerset, BA1 4BP 
Erection of single storey rear extension 

Weston Anna 
Jotcham 

PERMIT 

 
12 16/05060/LBA 

15 February 2017 
Mr A Pearce 
5 Crown Hill, Upper Weston, Bath, Bath 
And North East Somerset, BA1 4BP 
Demolition of rear extensions and 
construction of new single-storey 
extension, replacement of dormer (front 
and rear) and casement (rear) windows 
and stone cleaning to front facade 

Weston Anna 
Jotcham 

CONSENT 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 67



REPORT OF THE GROUP MANAGER, DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT ON 
APPLICATIONS FOR DEVELOPMENT 

 

Item No:   01 

Application No: 16/04289/EFUL 

Site Location: Ministry Of Defence Warminster Road Bathwick Bath Bath And North 
East Somerset 

 

 

Ward: Bathwick  Parish: N/A  LB Grade: N/A 

Ward Members: Councillor Matt Cochrane Councillor Steve Jeffries  

Application Type: Full Application with an EIA attached 

Proposal: Erection of 6 no. apartment blocks to provide 87 no. new dwellings 
(Partial revision of application 14/02272/EFUL). 

Constraints: Affordable Housing, Agric Land Class 1,2,3a, Agric Land Class 
3b,4,5, Article 4, Article 4, British Waterways Major and EIA, British 
Waterways Minor and Householders, Conservation Area, Forest of 
Avon, Hotspring Protection, LLFA - Flood Risk Management, MOD 
Safeguarded Areas, Sites of Nature Conservation Interest, SSSI - 
Impact Risk Zones, Water Source Areas, World Heritage Site,  

Applicant:  Hardrock Developments Ltd 

Expiry Date:  20th December 2016 

Case Officer: Chris Gomm 

 
REPORT 
The Proposal 
 
Full planning permission (ref: 14/02272/EFUL) was granted in March 2015 for the 
demolition of the former MOD Warminster Road premises in Bath and the redevelopment 
of the site for residential purposes including 204 dwellings, two new accesses to 

Page 68



Warminster Road, public open space and associated infrastructure; demolition work was 
completed over the summer of 2016 and construction is currently at an early stage. 
 
The current application seeks full planning permission for the erection of 6 apartment 
blocks (containing a total of 87 apartments) on a part of the site which the approved layout 
shows as being 6 terraced houses and 4 apartment blocks.  The number of dwellings on 
the development site as a whole will be increased by 39 units as a result of the current 
proposal. 
 
This application has been accompanied by an Environmental Statement analysing the 
following matters; Landscape & Visual Impact; Noise; Ecology; Heritage/Cultural impacts; 
and Transport & Access. The information submitted is sufficient to assess the potential 
environmental affects of the proposal and has been taken into account in the assessment 
of this application and the resultant recommendation. 
 
The Site 
 
The site is in an elevated hillside position and is visible from numerous vantage points 
across the city.  It is within the Bath World Heritage Site (WHS) and Conservation Area.  
The site slopes down away from its boundary with Warminster Road.   
 
To the north and east of the site the land slopes steeply down to the canal; this open land 
is designated as a Site of Nature Conservation Importance.  To the west of the site are a 
number of residential properties in Darlington Road and Warminster Road as well as 
Bathwick St Mary Primary School.  To the south and east of the site beyond Warminster 
Road are residential properties in St Christophers Close and Minster Way. 
 
Relevant Planning History 
 
DC - 14/02272/EFUL - PERMIT - 30 March 2015 - Demolition of existing buildings, 
erection of 204 no. dwellings; 2 no. accesses from Warminster Road, vehicular parking; 
open space; landscaping (including tree removal); pumping station; and associated 
engineering works. 
 
DC - 14/05407/ODCOU - APP - 4 March 2015 - Prior approval request for change of use 
from office buildings (Class B1a) to 154 no. dwellings (Class C3). 
 
DC - 16/01191/NMA - APPRET - - Non material amendment to 14/02272/EFUL 
(Demolition of existing buildings, erection of 204 no. dwellings; 2 no. accesses from 
Warminster Road, vehicular parking; open space; landscaping (including tree removal); 
pumping station; and associated engineering works.) 
 
DC - 16/01456/NMA - APP - 26 April 2016 - Non-material amendment to application 
14/02272/EFUL (Demolition of existing buildings, erection of 204 no. dwellings; 2 no. 
accesses from Warminster Road, vehicular parking; open space; landscaping (including 
tree removal); pumping station; and associated engineering works.) 
 
DC - 16/01925/VAR - PCO - - Variation of Condition 33 attached to 14/02272/EFUL 
(Erection of 204 no. dwellings with 2 no. accesses from Warminster Road, vehicular 

Page 69



parking; open space; landscaping (including tree removal); pumping station; and 
associated engineering works, following demolition of existing buildings). 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
Ward Member (Cllr Cochrane) 
 
I have reservations with the planning application as it currently sits, the change particularly 
to the proposed blocks of flats that will front onto Warminster Road appear to be of 
significantly greater mass and bulk to the existing plans, particularly the Easternmost two 
blocks that are very close to Warminster Road will significantly alter the views on entry 
into Bath and the World Heritage Site. Four floors of elevation fronting onto the main road 
and even more when viewed from the river will be a significant departure to other buildings 
in this part of the city. 
 
I also note the growing opposition amongst local residents to this alteration of the existing 
plans, as well as objections from the Bath Heritage Trust to the architectural style 
proposed by the developer. With such a large change to an already controversial site I 
would urge that if the plans are minded to be approved that they are referred to the 
Development Management Committee for full scrutiny. 
 
B&NES Highways:   No objection 
 
B&NES Urban Design:   OBJECTION 
 
The loss of terraced housing and mews in favour of blocks has an unacceptable impact on 
the massing, form, scale and bulk of buildings facing Warminster Road. The setting of the 
blocks is pinched and of very poor design; this indicates overdevelopment.  The resultant 
increase in parking from these blocks and the increase of parking spaces elsewhere in 
this proposal diminish the quality of the public realm further e.g. a parking courtyard 
becomes a giant car park. This highways and parking dominated public realm indicates 
overdevelopment.  It is completely unacceptable to present proposals for this site in this 
piecemeal manner. This development is very prominent in the city scape and must be 
designed and presented in drawings comprehensively. That proposals are not presented 
comprehensively indicates that they have not been thought about in a holistic manner and 
this increase the risk of poor design throughout. 
 
B&NES Arboriculture:   No objection subject to a condition securing a detail Arboricultural 
Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan. 
 
B&NES Landscaping:  No objection 
B&NES Housing Services:  No objection 
Support is given to exclude any additional requirement for affordable housing resulting 
from this proposed increase in density; previously agreed levels of affordable housing 
provision across the site as a whole is secured. 
 
B&NES Conservation Team:  Comments: 
 
The revised proposal increases the scale of these buildings by adding a storey to the side 
wings and a pavilion on top of the building behind a pediment.  This diminishes the 
architectural balance of the approved scheme resulting in a rather ungainly composition. 

Page 70



This will not benefit the Warminster Road street scene and or respect the genuine 
universal value of the Bath World Heritage Site. 
 
B&NES Contaminated Land:   No objection subject to conditions 
 
Wessex Water:   No comment 
 
Environment Agency:   No comment 
 
B&NES Parks Officer:   No objection.  The development will generate a demand for an 
increased quantum of public open space and allotments however this can be funded by 
the associated Community Infrastructure Levy contribution.  
 
B&NES Archaeology:  No objection.  The archaeology condition imposed on the earlier 
permission has been discharged and the site is no longer of any archaeological interest 
 
B&NES Flooding and Drainage:   No objection.  The drainage strategy has been approved 
and the drainage condition imposed on the earlier permission has been discharged. 
 
B&NES Environmental Health:   No objection subject to a condition requiring the 
submission of a noise assessment. 
 
B&NES Waste Services:  Vehicle tracking for a large refuse collection vehicle is required 
as well as plans showing bin storage locations and details. 
 
B&NES PROW:  No objection 
 
Historic England:   Comment that they objected to the original application and raised 
fundamental concerns in relation in relation to the scheme's impact on the World Heritage 
Site and Conservation Area.  They highlight that the current application only makes minor 
amendments to the original scheme and as such their earlier comments remain relevant 
 
B&NES Education:  An education contribution of £14,543.64 is required. 
 
Substantive comments have been received from 21 members of the public (including Bath 
Preservation Trust), all of whom object to the application.  Objections can be summarised 
as follows: 
 

 Replacing 6 dwellings with 2 blocks of flats is a major change and of major 
concern; 

 It is vast overdevelopment; 

 This latest amendment is a step too far; 

 There was assurance that the properties would not exceed a certain height; 

 The proposed blocks of flats are 7-storeys in height; 

 Views will be obstructed and spoilt; 

 The new properties will have nice views but at the expense of existing residents 
views; 

 Loss of privacy, properties in Minster Way will be overlooked; 

 The blocks of flats will front one the main roads into historic Bath; 

Page 71



 The development is a poor example of Georgian pastiche; 

 The proposed buildings will be totally out of keeping; 

 The pastiche architecture does not attempt to match anything locally; 

 The development will harm the World Heritage Site and Conservation Area; 

 The buildings on Warminster Road will be overbearing; 

 The buildings will dominate the skyline; 

 Parking allocation is insufficient; 

 There will be an increase in traffic and congestion in the area; 

 There will be an increase in noise and pollution as well as an increase in accidents; 

 Sound will bounce off of these buildings; 

 The Travel Plan cannot be achieved; 

 Parking is restricted in this areas and it is not clear where residents will park; 

 These properties will not benefit first time buyers due to the asking prices; 

 The proposed buildings will block natural light; 

 Where is the care home and convenience store previously promised? 

 Where is the cycle path over the Avon and school land? 

 The tree lined approach to the city has been lost; 

 The school (Bathwick St Mary's) is already oversubscribed; 

 The site office at the entry appears to have no planning permission; 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
Policies/Legislation:  
 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The Core Strategy now forms part of the statutory Development Plan 
and will be given full weight in the determination of planning applications. The Council's 
Development Plan now comprises:  
 

 Core Strategy  

 Saved Policies in the B&NES Local Plan (2007)  

 Joint Waste Core Strategy 

 Neighbourhood Plans (where applicable) 
 
The following Core Strategy policies are relevant:  
 
Policy DW1: District Wide Spatial Strategy  
Policy B1: Bath Spatial Strategy  
Policy B4: The World Heritage Site and its Setting  
Policy SD1: Presumption in favour of Sustainable Development  
Policy CP2: Sustainable Construction  
Policy CP3: Renewable Energy  
Policy CP5: Flood Risk Management  
Policy CP6: Environmental Quality  
Policy CP7: Green Infrastructure  
Policy CP9: Affordable Housing  
Policy CP10: Housing Mix  
Policy CP13: Infrastructure Provision 
 

Page 72



The B&NES Local Plan policies that are replaced by policies in the Core Strategy are 
outlined in Appendix 1 of the Core Strategy. Those B&NES Local Plan policies that are not 
replaced and remain saved are listed in Appendix 2 of the Core Strategy. The following 
saved Local Plan Policies are relevant: 
 
Policy IMP1: Planning obligations  
Policy D2: General design and public realm considerations  
Policy D4: Townscape considerations  
Policy SR3: Provision of recreational facilities to meet the needs of new development  
Policy ES3: Development involving gas and electricity services  
Policy ES4: Adequacy of water supply  
Policy ES5: Foul and surface water drainage  
Policy ES9: Pollution and nuisance  
Policy ES10: Air quality  
Policy ES12: Noise and vibration  
Policy ES15: Contaminated land 
Policy HG4: Residential Development in the urban areas and R.1 settlements  
Policy HG7: Minimum residential density  
Policy WM.4: Waste recovery and recycling in new development  
Policy GDS.1: Site allocations and development requirements  
Policy NE.1: Landscape Character   
Policy NE.3: Important hillsides (Bath and Radstock)  
Policy NE.4: Trees & woodland conservation  
Policy NE.9: Locally important wildlife sites  
Policy NE.10: Nationally important species and habitats  
Policy NE.11: Locally important species & habitats  
Policy NE.12: Natural features: retention, new provision and management  
Policy NE.13: Water source protection areas  
Policy BH.2: Listed buildings and their settings  
Policy BH.6: Development within/ affecting Conservation Areas  
Policy T.1: Overarching access policy  
Policy T.3: Promotion of walking and use of public transport  
Policy T.5: Cycling Strategy Improved facilities  
Policy T.6: Cycling Strategy: cycle parking  
Policy T.7: Cycling Strategy: strategic cycling network  
Policy T.24: General development control and access policy  
Policy T.25: Transport assessments and travel plans  
Policy T.26: On-site parking and servicing provision 
 
The placemaking plan is at an advanced stage (albeit still at Examination) and policies not 
subject to representations at Draft Plan stage (or only subject of supporting 
representations) are considered to be capable of being given substantial weight. Policies 
still subject to outstanding/unresolved representations can only be given limited weight at 
this stage until the Inspector's Final Report is received. 
 
The following relevant polices have substantial weight 
 
Policy SCR1: On-site renewable energy requirement  
Policy SCR5: Water efficiency  
Policy SU1: Sustainable drainage policy 

Page 73



Policy D1: General urban design principles  
Policy D2: Local character and distinctiveness  
Policy D3: Urban fabric  
Policy D4: Streets and spaces  
Policy D5: Building design  
Policy D6: Amenity   
Policy D10: Public realm 
Policy NE2: Conserving and enhancing the landscape and landscape character 
Policy NE6: Trees and woodland conservation  
Policy CP7: Green infrastructure  
Policy NE1: Development and Green Infrastructure 
Policy PCS1: Pollution and nuisance 
Policy PCS3: Air quality  
Policy PCS5: Contamination  
Policy PCS7: Water source protection zones 
Policy PCS7A: Sewage Infrastructure  
Policy PCS8: Bath Hot Springs  
Policy H1: Housing  
Policy H3: Residential uses in existing buildings  
Policy H7: Housing accessibility  
Policy LCR7B: Broadband  
Policy LCR9: Increasing the provision of local food growing  
Policy ST1: Promoting sustainable transport  
Policy ST3: Transport infrastructure  
Policy B4: The World Heritage Site  
Policy BD1: Bath Design Policy 
Policy SB12: Former MOD Warminster Road  
 
The following relevant polices have significant weight 
 
Policy D8: Lighting 
Policy HE1: Historic environment 
Policy NE2A: Landscape setting of settlements 
Policy NE3: Sites species and habitats  
Policy PCS2: Noise and vibration  
Policy ST7: Transport requirements for managing development  
Policy B1: Bath Spatial Strategy 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
Principle of Development 
 
As stated the wider MOD Warminster Road site benefits from full planning permission for 
204 dwellings; the principle of residential development on this site is therefore well 
established and cannot be reasonably revisited.  The current application seeks to redesign 
the majority of the part of the development which fronts Warminster Road itself; this 
proposed redesign involves, amongst other things, increasing the number of dwellings 
along the Warminster Road frontage by a total of 39 units. 
 
There is no objection in principle to an increase in the number of dwellings proposed on 
the Warminster Road site; there is no planning policy capping the total number of units 

Page 74



here, on the contrary the emerging Placemaking Plan (Policy SB12) requires a minimum 
(rather than a maximum) of 150 dwellings on the site.  Whether an additional 39 dwellings 
on the site is acceptable, in the form proposed, is dependant upon whether the direct and 
indirect impacts of the proposed increase (including the impact of the design changes 
necessary to facilitate that increase) are acceptable in planning terms.  These key 
potential impacts are dealt with in turn in the following paragraphs.  
 
Design and Impact on the Character of the Area (including Heritage Assets) 
 
This is the most controversial issue and the focus of many of the objections to the 
application.  All of the principal buildings along the Warminster Road frontage (within this 
current application site) are to be blocks of flats.  This application seeks permission for a 
number of design changes to each of these buildings in order to facilitate the increase in 
the number of units within; these changes are summarised as follows: 
 

 Block of Flats 3 (BF3):  Redesign of upper storeys including the inclusion of an 
additional storey of accommodation within the roof resulting the ridge height being 
raised by 60cm. The overall height of the building (measured at Warminster Road) 
will be 12.020m from 11.430m. No change is proposed to the footprint of the 
building. 

 Block of Flats 4 (BF4):  As above.  The overall height of the building (measured at 
Warminster Road) will be 12.285m from 11.690m, an increase of 60cm.  No 
change is proposed to the footprint of the building. 

 Block of Flats 1 (BF1): Accommodation added to the roof storey resulting in the 
height of the building rising from 11.35m to 13.140m.  However the amended 
proposals also include lowering the building further into the hillside to off-set the 
rise in height.  As a result the ridge height of this building will be 1m higher than 
that previously approved.  The footprint of the building will be slightly increased (By 
42sqm). 

 Block of Flats 2 (BF2): Accommodation added to the roof storey resulting in the 
height of the building rising from 11.35m to 13.140m.  However with the building 
being lowered into the site as above, this results in an overall increase of 1.54m. 
The footprint of the building will be slightly increased (By 42sqm). 

 Block of Flats 7 (BF7):  This block replaces a terrace of three houses. 
Accommodation is added to the roof level resulting in the building being raised in 
height from 11.75m to 12.34m.  Again however the building is to be lowered on the 
site resulting in an overall reduction in ridge levels of 81cm.   There will be a 
meaningful increase in the building's footprin (113.37sqm); however the elevation 
facing Warminster Road is of identical length as approved.  The previously 
approved private gardens and parking area situated to the rear of the terrace is 
replacement by a larger communal parking area serving both BF7 and BF6.  

 Block of Flats 6 (BF6):  This block replaces a terrace of three houses.  
Accommodation added to the roof level resulting in the building being raised in 
height from 11.75m to 12.34m.  Again however the building is to be lowered on the 
site resulting in an overall increase of 19cm.  The footprint of the building will be 
slightly increased (by 47.16sqm); however the elevation facing Warminster Road is 
of identical length as approved.  The previously approved private gardens and 
parking area situated to the rear of the terrace is replacement by a larger 
communal parking area serving both BF7 and BF6.  

 

Page 75



As can be seen, the proposed design amendments revolve around the inclusion of 
additional residential floor space within the roof of each building and the consequential 
changes deemed necessary to enable that.  The pitches of most of the roofs has been 
increased and the profile of each roof altered. Cosmetic changes are proposed to all of the 
buildings although the architect's interpretation of the Georgian style continues to prevail.  
   
The proposed scheme represents a reduction in design quality as compared to that 
previously approved however this reduction in quality is considered to be marginal in the 
context of what has previously been approved; it is not considered that it constitutes harm.  
The extant planning permission and in particular the nature of what can be constructed on 
this site irrespective of the outcome of the current application carries very significant 
weight.  
 
The majority of the buildings are to be increased in height and this, combined with a 
change to the profile of each roof, will result in increased bulk and massing; this increase 
in bulk and massing however will not be significant.  BF4 and BF5 are situated in the 
closet position to the road but these buildings will only be increased in height by 60cm; it 
will be difficult to perceive such a small change from street level or any other vantage 
points. The proposed changes to the form of the roof/upper storeys are unfortunate but 
ultimately do not result in a building which is fundementally unacceptable in the context of 
the approved scheme.  The changes in height of BF1 and BF2 are greater but the impact 
of this increase on the character of the area will be limited by virtue of the position of these 
buildings set much further back (and much lower) than Warminster Road. The 
amendments to the heights of BF7 and BF6 (a slight reduction and very slight increase 
respectively) again will be difficult to perceive beyond the application site.  Despite its 
reduction in height, the massing of BF7 will be increased by virtue of its greater footprint 
however the bulk, massing and impact of the building on its surroundings will not be 
significantly greater than that previously approved.  BF6 and BF7 are also set back from 
Warminster Road behind a line of proposed tree planting. 
 
BF6 and BF7 replace six terraced houses (in two terraces) in the same position. Whilst it 
could be reasonably assumed that this amendment involves significant design external 
design amendments, it does not.  The approved terraced dwellings were very large 
properties and each terrace had the appearance of a large block or villa.  As such the 
replacement of these two large terraced blocks with two blocks of flats does not represent 
a signifcant change in design terms.  As stated above BF6 is only 19cm higher than the 
terrace it replaces and BF7 is actually lower.  Similarly in terms of architectural detailing 
the proposed blocks of flats are similar to the terraces which they replace; the Warminster 
Road elevations are very similar to the approved terraces with the key changes relating to 
the roof level.  The change from houses to flats necessitates the provision of a larger car 
parking area in place of private parking and gardens.  This parking area is in a descrete 
location to rear of buildings and as such will have a minimal impact upon the streetscene 
and public realm.  There is considered to be no design-based reasons for resisting the 
replacement of the previously approved terraces with the two blocks of flats now 
proposed.     
 
Stylistically the buildings will continue to be of a Georgian pastiche style and whilst this is 
not to everyones taste (as set out in the objections above) this is nevertheless the style of 
the approved scheme and the style which the remainder of the development will be 
constructed to; to deviate from this style at this stage would be perverse.  Good quality 

Page 76



materials are proposed including natural roof slates, timber windows, and Bath stone 
ashlar. The proposed development, in this amended form, is considered to be acceptable 
in design terms.   
 
With respect to any buildings or other land in a conservation area the Council has a 
statutory requirement under Section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character or appearance of that conservation area.  This site is within the 
Bath Conservation Area (and World Heritage Site) and for the reasons set out above it is 
not considered that the proposed development will undermine the character or 
appearance of said Conservation Area, or the Outstanding Universal Values of the World 
Heritage Site.  The changes to the previously approved scheme sought by this application 
are limited in scale and in many cases will be difficult perceive beyond the application site 
itself.    
 
There is also a duty placed on the Council under Section 66 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 'In considering whether to grant planning 
permission for development which affects a listed building or its setting' to 'have special 
regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses.'  There are a small number of listed 
buildings in the vicinity of the application site but it is not considered that the development 
will have a harmful impact upon their setting.  Hampton House, a Grade II Victorian villa, is 
situated approximately 100m to the east although a greater distance will exist between 
Hampton House and the proposed blocks themselves.  The Grade II listed canal retaining 
wall and various listed properties in Hampton Row, including the fine Grade II* listed 
Cleveland Baths, are situated to the north of the site beyond the canal and railway.  The 
proposed development by virtue of the distances involved and the changes in topography, 
as well as intervening buildings, will preserve the setting of the aforementioned listed 
buildings.   
 
The application is considered to accord with Policy HE1 (historic environment) of the 
emerging Placemaking Plan which carries significant weight as well as Policies D1-D5 and 
Policy B4 (WHS) and BD1 (Bath Design Policy) of the emerging Placemaking Plan all of 
which carry substantial weight.  In addition the application accords with Core Strategy CP6 
in respect of design matters and Policies D2 and D4 of the Saved Local Plan.  As well as 
Policy BH6 (conservation areas).  The application accords with the site specific allocation 
policy of the emerging Placemaking Plan (Policy SB12) in respect of design and heritage 
matters. 
 
Impacts on the Amenity of Local Residents 
 
A number of local residents have understandably raised objections to the application; the 
residents of Minster Way will be amongst those most affected by the site's redevelopment 
and in many cases their existing views across the city will be totally or partially obscured 
by this development.  Be that as it may the scheme currently underconsideration will not 
have a significantly greater impact on local residents than that which already has planning 
permission (impact on views is dealt with seperately in 'other issues' below). 
 
The key differences between that which has been approved and that currently proposed 
are bulleted in the design section above.  Of the six blocks of flats proposed, four of them 

Page 77



(BF3, BF4, BF6 and BF7) will be the subject of height increases of less than 1m, (relative 
to Minster Way properties) or in the case of BF7 a reduction in height.  A height increase 
of this scale cannot have a meaningful detrimental impact upon the levels of amenity 
enjoyed within dwelling houses which are situated a minimum of 37m (approx) distant (the 
majority are considerably further).  The two remaining blocks (BF1 and BF2) will be the 
subject of a greater increase in height but this will still no more than 1.54m; these blocks 
are situated an even greater distance from dwelling houses in Minster Way, they are much 
lower on the site further down the slope, and there is significant intervening existing and 
proposed tree planting. The proposed development will therefore not lead to unacceptable 
levels of overshadowing/loss of light nor visual domination.    
 
It is the case that all of the proposed buildings will have an additional storey of residential 
accommodation with some of those windows facing properties in Minster Way.  Be that as 
it may, it is not considered that these windows will lead to unacceptable additional loss of 
privacy.  Ultimately the development as previously approved includes a substantial 
number of residential units (and the windows serving them) facing towards the existing 
properties in Minster Way. The proposed development does not represent a significant 
increase in the number of windows and nor therefore the level of actual or perceived 
overlooking.  Furthermore, as set out above, the distances involved (i.e. those between 
the proposed flats and the existing properties) are substantial and well in excess of what is 
usually considered to be the minimum permissible.   
 
The application accords with Policy D6 of the emerging Placemaking Plan, which carries 
substantial weight, as the impact of the proposed development on amenity will be 
acceptable. The application also accords with the site specific allocation policy (Policy 
SB12) of the emerging Placemaking Plan in respect of residential amenity. 
 
Highways Matters 
 
The proposed increase in the number of dwellings necessitates a corresponding increase 
in car parking spaces. The additional parking spaces have generally been provided by 
expanding previously approved parking courts, and in the case of the flats replacing 
terraced housing (BF6 and BF7) in place of private domestic gardens.  In addition 
basement car parking is provided beneath BF3 and BF4. 
 
As stated a total of 87 flats are proposed (51 x one-bedroom flats; 28 x two-bed flats and 8 
x three-beds); a total of 93 parking spaces are proposed to serve them.  This equates to 
one allocated parking space per flat with a surplus of 6 spaces. The layout also shows a 
number of unallocated visitor parking spaces in the vicinity.  
 
The adopted (saved) Local Plan sets out the council's current parking standards (the 
emerging Placemaking Plan standards are yet to be finalised and are awaiting 
modification).  The Local Plan requires a maximum of 1 space per one-bed unit and 2 
spaces per two/three bedroom units; in addition 1 visitor space is required for every 4 
one/two bed units.  The Local Plan requirement for this development is therefore in the 
region of 133 parking spaces.  Against this maximum there is a 'shortfall' of around 40 
spaces but given that the standards are expressed as maximums the application is not 
contrary to saved Local Plan T.26.  93 spaces is considered to be an appropriate level of 
car parking given the site's sustainable location and this level of car parking provision is 
not objectionable to the Council's Highways Team. 

Page 78



 
The proposed increase in the number of dwellings will also result in increased volumes of 
traffic using the local highway network, including Warminster Road itself.  The highway 
team have raised no objection to the increased levels of vehicular movement and are 
content that no unacceptable highway impacts will result.  Accordingly the application 
accords with Policy T1, T6, T24, T25 and T26 of the Saved Local Plan as well as 
emerging Policies ST1 and ST3 of the Placemaking Plan which carry substantial weight. 
 
Affordable Housing 
 
Core Strategy Policy CP9 requires the provision of 40% affordable housing on this 
development.  The original planning permission secured 40% affordable housing across 
the MOD Warminster Road site as a whole which equates to 81 units. 
 
87 units are proposed in total by the current application and as stated this represents an 
increase of 39 units above that previously approved.  Following this increase (and the 
addition of another dwelling approved on another phase) the total number of dwellings on 
the Warminster Road site will be 244 as opposed to 204 as originally approved (i.e. an 
increase of 40). 
 
As such, in order to comply with Policy CP9, 16 additional units of affordable housing 
should be secured by this planning application (16 is 40% of 40); however no additional 
affordable housing is proposed. 
 
The current application includes 24 units of affordable housing (18 units in BF2 and 6 units 
in BF1) but these units do not address the 16 unit shortfall as these form part of the 40% 
affordable housing (81 units) already secured by the earlier permission across the 
Warminster Road site as a whole. 
 
As a result of increasing the total number of dwellings on the Warminster Road site by 40 
but not proposing a corresponding increase in the quantum of affordable housing, 
affordable housing provision across the Warminster Road site as a whole is recalculated 
as 33% - this is clearly not a policy compliant position.    
 
It is argued that providing a policy compliant quantum of affordable housing (i.e. the full 
40% which is 98 units) is not financially viable. Case law has established that when 
assessing viability, developers are entitled to receive a reasonable level of profit and as 
such some schemes can be deemed to be unviable even when returning seemingly large 
profit levels.  The developer's viability appraisal concludes that a policy compliant scheme 
(i.e. 40% affordable housing) would only return a 13% profit; this is well below minimum 
levels established by case law.   
 
The developer's projected profit has not been taken at face value; the Council has 
instructed (at the developer's expense) independent development viability experts to 
scrutinise the developer's projections and assumptions.  The Council's experts project a 
slightly higher profit (15.69%) but this still does not represent a reasonable return. The 
Council's experts have gone on to assess the viability of the revised proposal (33% 
affordable housing) and have concluded that this revised scheme would return a 19.33% 
profit - which is within acceptable parameters.  It must be noted that the Council's viability 
experts have identified that the 33% affordable housing scheme will generate a surplus of 

Page 79



£400k; given that there is a sub-policy shortfall in affordable housing provision it is 
reasonable for this surplus £400k to be commuted to the Council to fund the off-site 
provision of affordable housing; the developer has not challenged this approach and as 
such it is recommended that this additional obligation forms part of the requisite S.106 
Agreement.  It is considered that any additionally identified planning obligations (see 
below) should be deducted from this £400k figure as to require obligations in addition to 
the £400k will push the development into unviability.       
 
Policy CP9 is clear that viaibility must be taken into account and therefore on that basis 
the application accords with Policy CP9 as the maximum viable quantum of affordable 
housing will be secured. 
 
Other Planning Obligations 
 
The original S.106 Agreement secures a wide variety of planning obligations some of 
which relate to strategic infrastructure whereas others fund specific works.  These 
obligations remain secured and the developer will continue to be obliged to provide them 
irrespective of the current full planning application.   
 
The current application proposes to increase the number of dwellings on site by 39 and 
therefore consideration must be given as to whether it is necessary (and reasonable) to 
increase the obligations proportionately.  A number of matters covered by the original 
obligations have since been replaced by the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).  It is 
therefore not considered to be appropriate to seek increased contributions in respect of 
education, public open space, allotments and strategic transport matters for example; the 
increase in CIL receipts will fund such matters.  It is also the case that the proposed 
development does not in itself generate the need for additional mitigation measures to off-
set the impact of increasing the number of dwellings on the site, the need to secure 
additional or increased planning obligations as part of the current planning 
application/S.106 Agreement is therefore limited. 
 
Notwithstanding the above however, shortly after the original planning permission was 
granted in 2015 the Council adopted the document 'Planning Obligations' as a 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD); this introduces a number of additional 
obligations some of which will need to be secured by this permission to ensure policy 
comliance i.e. the provision of fire hydrants and the provision of targeted training and 
recruitment. 
 
Other Matters 
 

 Core Strategy Policy CP10 states that new housing development must provide for a 
variety of housing types and sizes.  The current application seeks permission only 
for flats with no dwelling houses forming part of the proposal.  Be that as it may, 
this application only relates to one part of the much larger MOD Warminster Road 
site the majority of which comprises family homes.  The proposed flats are a good 
mix of one, two and three bedroom units.  The proposal, seen in the context of the 
wider approved scheme, complies with CS Policy CP10. 

 

 Policy SB12 of the emerging Placemaking Plan, specifically in relation to this site, 
requires that important views over, out of and into the site must be considered.  The 

Page 80



impact of development on private views is not a material planning consideration 
and therefore this element of Policy SB12 can only be interpreted as relating to 
public views and vistas. Public views from various vantage points in the areas will 
certainly change as a result of this development especially the view across Bath 
from Warminster Road and from the Camden area looking back, however for the 
reasons set out in the design/heritage section above it is not considered that undue 
harm will result (especially in the context of what has already been approved)  
Private views from Minster Way will be dramatically changed and local objection to 
this consequence of the development is understood, but as stated this is not 
material planning consideration and in any case the change to the view will not be 
significantly different to that resulting from the previously approved scheme.       

 

 The Waste Team have identified that further information is required in relation to 
the requisite bins stores and the ability for waste vehicles to access them.  Some 
additional information has been received but no further observations have been 
received from the Waste Team.  This is not a significant issue; it is recommended 
therefore that this matter is dealt with by a condition requiring waste matters to be 
submitted to and approved by the Council prior to first occupation.  

 

 A number of new detailed policy requirements have been recently introduced as a 
result of the Placemaking Plan (PMP) gaining meaningful weight.  New PMP 
requirements include the provision of rainwater harvesting in new developments 
and energy efficiency measures to reduce carbon emissions.  It is too late in the 
design process and therefore impracticable to apply these new requirements to the 
current application as to do so could require fundamental design changes; there 
could also be viability consequences.  It is not considered reasonable to apply 
these new PMP requirements to the current application therefore. 

 

 The undeveloped part of the wider former MOD site comprises part of a Site of 
Nature Conservation Interest (SNCI). The adjoining Kennet and Avon Canal is also 
a designated SNCI. The site lies within 1.2km of the nearest component site of the 
Bath & Bradford on Avon Special Area of Conservation (SAC).  Ecological surveys 
have previously identified a wide range of species across the wider MOD site 
including lesser and greater horseshoe bats from the SAC; the canal itself is a 
known bat commuting corridor. The built-form of the wider former MOD site 
redevelopment however will avoid the SNCI and will focus on those parts of the site 
previously occupied by MOD buildings. The current application site (i.e. the majority 
of the Warminster Road frontage) is the part of the former MOD site most distant 
from the canal and SNCI and as such the impact of current application on 
ecological interests will be limited. Be that as it may, the imposition of the 
previously imposed condition (Condition 19) to secure a Wildlife Protection and 
Enhancement Scheme is considered necessary to ensure that the previously 
secured enhancements remain secured. 

 
Conclusion 
 
The principle of redeveloping this site for residential purposes is well established by the 
extant 2015 planning permission.  Permission is in place for 204 dwellings across the 
Warminster Road site as a whole and the current proposal seeks to increase that number 
by 39. There are no explicit planning policies resisting an increased number of dwellings 

Page 81



on this site, and the applicable Placemaking Plan policy (Policy SB12) states only that 
there must be a minimum of 150 units.  Accordingly whether an increase in the number of 
dwellings, in the form proposed, is acceptable is dependant upon whether the impacts that 
that increase will have are acceptable in planning terms.   
 
The key considerations in this case are considered to be design matters and in particular 
the impact of the proposed development on the character and appearance of the 
surrounding area (including the impact of the development on the Conservation Area and 
World Heritage Site); the impact of the proposed development on neighbouring residents 
and; the impact of the proposed development on highway considerations. These matters 
must be considered in the context of what already has permission as this carries 
significant weight. 
 
The design of the proposed development in its amended form is acceptable and follows 
the established form and architectural style of the rest of the development.  The proposed 
buildings are generally taller and of greater bulk and massing compared to the extant 
consent but not significantly or unacceptably so; the increases are limited and in 
somecases negligible.  For this reason it is considered that the impact of the proposed 
development on its surroundings will be acceptable and that the character and 
appearance of the Conservation Area will be preserved.  There will be no unacceptable 
impacts upon the World Heritage Site including its Outstanding Universal Values.  The 
proposed changes do not constitute harm to any heritage assets, designated or otherwise.  
The impact of the proposed development on the amenity of neighbouring residents will be 
acceptable and no greater than that of the previously approved scheme.  The level of 
parking to serve the proposed 87 units is acceptable and in accordance with the maximum 
levels prescribed by the saved Local Plan.  The impact of the development on the highway 
network will also be acceptable.    
 
It is concluded that the proposed development will not have an unacceptable impact and 
no harm will be caused to heritage assets.  Notwithstanding this, it is acknowledged that 
the differences between the current scheme and that previously approved represent a 
marginal reduction in design quality but it is considered that this reduction is of limited 
impact and is outweighed by the benefits of the proposal in anycase. The provision of 39 
additional dwellings is a meaningful benefit in respect of meeting the city's housing needs 
and the benefits that the scheme brings in terms of securing the viability of the whole 
development is significant.  Accordingly subject to conditions and the prior completion of a 
S.106 Agreement as specified below, the application is acceptable and complies with the 
relevant planning policies and all other relevant material considerations; it is therefore 
recommended that permission be granted. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

Delegate to PERMIT 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
A.  Authorise the Planning and Environmental Law Manager to enter into a Section 106 
Agreement to secure: 
 
1. The provision of affordable housing on-site as per the approved drawings; 

Page 82



2. The provision of fire hydrants on site in accordance with a scheme to be agreed with 
the local planning authority and a financial contribution of £1000 per hydrant to cover 5 
years subsequent maintenance OR a financial contribution of £1500 per hydrant to fund 
provision and 5 years subsequent maintenance.  
3. The provision of targeted training and recruitment as part of the construction phase; 
4. A financial contribution of £400k to enable the delivery of affordable housing within the 
District less the sum of financial contributions secured in relation to 2 and 3 above; 
  
B. Subject to the prior completion of the above agreement, authorise the Group Manager 
to PERMIT subject to the following conditions (or such conditions as may be appropriate): 
 
 1 Standard Time Limit (Compliance) 
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) and to avoid the accumulation of unimplemented planning permission 
 
 2 The development hereby approved shall be undertaken in accordance with the 
submitted Construction Management Plan approved in writing by the local planning 
authority by letter dated 18 January 2016 (LPA Ref: 15/05486/COND) with the exception 
of the working hours specified in that document. The working hours on site are hereby 
limited to 7:30am to 6pm (Monday to Fridays) and 8am to 1pm on Saturdays. There shall 
be no working on Sundays, Bank Holidays or Public Holidays.   
 
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupants of adjacent residential properties and 
wider environment and to ensure the safe operation of the highway.  This element of the 
development is adjacent to Warminster Road and as such much closer to neighbouring 
residential properties than other parts of the scheme. 
 
 3 Prior to first occupation the applicant shall submit to and have approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority, an assessment from a competent person to demonstrate 
that the development has been constructed to provide sound attenuation against external 
noise in accordance with BS8233:2014. The following levels shall be achieved: Maximum 
internal noise levels of 35dBLAeq, 16hr and 30dBLAeq,8hr for living rooms and bedrooms 
during the daytime and night time respectively. For bedrooms at night individual noise 
events (measured with F time-weighting) shall not (normally) exceed 45dBLAmax.   
 
Reason: To ensure that internal noise levels within these plots remain within acceptable 
limits, given their proximity to Warminster Road in the interest of residential amenity 
 
 4 Before the dwellings are first occupied, new resident's welcome packs shall be issued 
to purchasers which should include information of bus and train timetable information, 
information giving examples of fares/ticket options, information on cycle routes, a copy of 
the Travel Smarter publication, car share, car club information etc., together with 
complimentary bus tickets for each household member to encourage residents to try 
public transport. The content of such packs shall have been approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: In the interests of sustainable development. 

Page 83



 
 5 The developent hereby approved shall be undertaken/subsequently occupied in 
accordance with the approved Travel Plan (Ref: Transport Planning Associates, August 
2016) 
 
Reason: In the interests of sustainable development 
 
 6 No development or works of demolition shall take place (within each phase) until a 
Detailed Arboricultural Method Statement with Tree Protection Plan relating to that phase 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and details 
within the approved document implemented as appropriate. The final method statement 
shall incorporate a provisional programme of works; supervision and monitoring details by 
an Arboricultural Consultant and provision of site visit records and certificates of 
completion. The statement should also include the control of potentially harmful operations 
such as the storage, handling and mixing of materials on site, burning, location of site 
office, service run locations and movement of people and machinery. 
 
Reason: To ensure that trees to be retained are not adversely affected by the 
development proposals. [NB: this information has been previously approved (Ref: 
15/05486/COND) but will need to be amended to reflect the changes approved by this 
permission]. 
 
 7 The development hereby approved shall be undertaken in accordance with the 
submitted Written Scheme of Investigation for Archaeological Evaluation (Cotswold 
Archaeology)  approved in writing by the local planning authority by letter dated 21 
December 2015 (LPA Ref: 15/05505/COND). 
 
Reason: The site is within an area of potential archaeological interest and the Council will 
wish to evaluate the significance and extent of any archaeological remains. 
 
 8 The development hereby approved shall be undertaken in accordance with the 
submitted archaeological evaluation (Cotswold Archaeology) approved in writing by the 
local planning authority by letter dated 3 March 2016 (LPA Ref: 16/00816/COND).  The 
agreed programme of archaeological work shall be carried out by a competent person and 
completed in accordance with the approved written scheme of investigation. The 
programme of post-excavation analysis shall be carried out by a competent person(s) and 
completed in accordance with the approved publication plan, or as otherwise agreed in 
writing with the local planning authority. 
 
Reason: The site is within an area of potential archaeological interest and the Council will 
wish record and protect any archaeological remains. The site may produce significant 
archaeological findings and the Council will wish to publish or otherwise disseminate the 
results. 
 
 9 The development hereby approved shall be undertaken in accordance with the 
submitted Composite Contamination Report (March 2016, lntegrale Limited) and Report 
on Supplementary Soil Gas Monitoring & Contamination Analyses (June 2014, lntegrale 
Limited) both approved in writing by the local planning authority by letter dated 25th April 
2016 (LPA Ref: 16/01732/COND) 
 

Page 84



Reason: In order to ensure that the land is suitable for the intended use and to ensure that 
the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors and in accordance with section 11 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework 
 
10 The development hereby approved shall be undertaken in accordance with the 
submitted Remediation Strategy and Method Specification (Ref: 9202/RMS) approved in 
writing by the local planning authority by letter dated  22 June 2016 (LPA Ref: 
16/02834/COND) 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that the land is suitable for the intended use and to ensure that 
the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors and in accordance with section 11 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework 
 
11 The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its terms 
prior to the commencement of development other than that required to carry out 
remediation, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Local 
Planning Authority must be given two weeks written notification of commencement of the 
remediation scheme works.  Following completion of measures identified in the approved 
remediation scheme, a verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the 
remediation carried out must be produced, and is subject to the approval in writing of the 
Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that the land is suitable for the intended use and to ensure that 
the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors and in accordance with section 11 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 
12 In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved 
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately 
to the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken 
in accordance with the requirements of the aforementioned conditions and where 
remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must be prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the aforementioned conditions, which is subject to the approval in writing 
of the Local Planning Authority. Following completion of measures identified in the 
approved remediation scheme a verification report must be prepared, which is subject to 
the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority in accordance with the 
aforementioned conditions.  
 
Reason: In order to ensure that the land is suitable for the intended use and to ensure that 
the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors and in accordance with section 11 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 
13 A monitoring and maintenance scheme to include monitoring the long-term 
effectiveness of the proposed remediation over a period to be agreed with the Local 
Planning Authority and the provision of reports on the same must be prepared, both of 
which are subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. Following 
completion of the measures identified in that scheme and when the remediation objectives 

Page 85



have been achieved, reports that demonstrate the effectiveness of the monitoring and 
maintenance carried out must be produced, and submitted to the Local Planning Authority. 
This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 'Model 
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that the land is suitable for the intended use and to ensure that 
the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors and in accordance with section 11 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 
14 Prior to the installation of any drainage infrastructure, details of the means of surface 
and foul water drainage shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority.  The submitted details shall include details of how the scheme shall be 
maintained and managed after completion and, in respect of foul drainage, the agreed 
points of connection and capacity improvements required to serve the proposed 
development phasing. If surface water run-off from this site is proposed to drain into the 
canal, details of discharge rates, connection points and pollution prevention measures will 
also be required. 
 
Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding, to improve and protect water quality, 
improve habitat and amenity, and ensure future maintenance of the surface water 
drainage system and to ensure that proper provision is made for sewerage of the site and 
that the development does not increase the risk of sewer flooding to downstream property. 
[NB these details have been previously approved (Ref: 16/01601/COND) but will need to 
be amended to reflect the changes approved by this permission. 
 
15 Prior to first occupation a hard and soft landscape scheme shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such a scheme shall include details of 
all walls, fences, new pedestrian and cycle paths, trees, hedgerows and other planting 
which are to be retained; full details of all boundary treatments, annotated against the site 
plan including materials and finishes, sample panels of any stonework and finished ground 
levels; a planting specification to include numbers, density, size, species and positions of 
all new trees and shrubs; details of the surface treatment of the open parts of the site; and 
a programme of implementation. The development shall then be undertaken in full 
accordance with the details approved no later than the end of the first planting season 
following first occupation of the development.  
 
Reason: To ensure the provision of an appropriate landscape setting to the development 
and provide appropriate tree planting to compensate for the trees removed through the 
development, and to ensure that the external appearance of the development is 
satisfactory in order to protect the character and appearance of the Conservation Area, 
the setting of adjoining Listed Buildings and the setting of the World Heritage Site [NB 
these details have been previously approved (Ref: 16/01601/COND) but will need to be 
amended to reflect the changes approved by this permission. 
 
16 Sample panels of all the external materials and finishes and demonstrating coursing, 
jointing and pointing to the masonry and all hard paved surfaces are to be erected on site 
and shall be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before the relevant parts 
of the work are commenced.  The development shall be completed in full accordance with 
the approved details and sample panels. 

Page 86



 
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the development is satisfactory in 
order to protect the character and appearance of the Conservation Area, the setting of 
adjoining Listed Buildings and the setting of the World Heritage Site. 
 
17 Prior to the commencement of development in respect of buildings BF3 and BF4, full 
details shall be submitted to and approved in writing of the reinstatement and/or making 
good of the stone boundary wall fronting Warminster Road to the south of blocks BF3 and 
BF4. The wall shall be made good or reinstated with natural stone, a sample panel of 
which shall be displayed and kept on site for reference until the development is 
completed. The development shall then take place in full accordance with the details 
agreed. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the character and appearance of the Conservation Area and the 
setting of the World Heritage Site. 
 
18 Drawings to a minimum 1:10 scale (also indicating materials, treatments and finishes) 
of the following items shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority before the relevant part of the work is begun, unless otherwise agreed in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority: 
 
- Windows - to include types, sections and method of opening (including lintel detailing 
and wall returns), materials, colour and finishes and surrounds 
- External doors - to include joinery details, materials, colour and finishes and external 
architraves and margin lights (if any)  
- porch canopies  
- Rainwater goods 
 
All details shall show relationship to adjoining materials in plan and section. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the development is satisfactory in 
order to protect the character and appearance of the Conservation Area, the setting of 
adjoining Listed Buildings and the setting of the World Heritage Site. 
 
19 Prior to the commencement of the relevant part of the works full details of a Wildlife 
Protection and Enhancement Scheme have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority. These details shall include: 
 
(i) Details of all necessary update surveys and pre-commencement checks for badger and 
other wildlife as applicable, with findings to be reported to the Local Planning Authority 
prior to works commencing including full details of any further mitigation measures 
required 
(ii) Details of all necessary wildlife protection and precautionary measures to include a 
scale plan showing exclusion zones around retained habitats, and specifications for 
fencing of these zones; details of timing of works to avoid nesting birds, bats and other 
wildlife; details of all other necessary measures as applicable  
(iii) Details including numbers positions and specifications of proposed features such as 
bird and bat boxes within the development to including nesting provision for swift; details 
to be shown on all plans and drawings as applicable 

Page 87



(iv) Details of all other wildlife features, native planting and habitat provision and 
enhancements in accordance with approved ecological reports 
 
All works within the scheme shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details, 
unless otherwise approved in writing by the local planning authority. The works shall be 
carried out prior to the occupation of any part of the development.  Notwithstanding the 
above, development may commence on Phase 1 prior to approval of the badger elements 
of Wildlife Protection and Enhancement Scheme.  
 
Reason: to avoid harm to wildlife including protected species 
 
20 Prior to the commencement of each phase of the development full details (relating to 
that phase) of proposed lighting design scheme and specifications with lux level contour 
plans, demonstrating provision of dark corridors and avoidance of light spill onto adjacent 
habitats vegetation and features used by bats and other wildlife, in accordance with the 
recommendations and aspirations of the approved lighting impact study, have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall 
include proposals to assess and demonstrate post-construction compliance once the site 
is occupied. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out only in accordance 
with the approved lighting design scheme and specifications. 
 
Reason: to avoid harm to wildlife and protected species [NB. these details have been 
previously approved (Ref: 16/00927/COND) but will need to be amended to reflect the 
changes approved by this permission. 
 
21 Each and every dwelling hereby approved shall be allocated at least one parking 
space.  
 
Reason:  To ensure that the dwellings are served by sufficient parking provision. 
 
22 Details of all bin/recycling facilities, including their location and appearance shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  The bin/recycling 
facilities shall be installed in accordance with the details so approved and shall thereafter 
be available for use by residents prior to first occupation of the first dwelling. The details 
submitted for approval shall include plans demonstrating that each bin/recycling facility 
can be accessed by refuse collection vehicles in an manner which is to the satisfaction of 
the local planning authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure the proper management and collection of waste and recycling within 
the development. 
 
23 No development shall commence until details of the existing and proposed ground 
levels, and finished floor levels of each dwelling have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be undertaken in 
accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to clarify the finished ground levels of the 
development. This is a condition precedent because the  ground levels have the potential 
to affect the overall impact of the development. Therefore these details need to be agreed 
before work commences as they could not easily be amended after. 

Page 88



 
24 The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance 
with the plans as set out in the plans list below. 
 
Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
 1 The follow plans/drawings are hereby approved: 
 

 Site Location Plan: Drawing No. 5688U/000 

 Unit Mix Plan (layout): Drawing No. 5688U/3-002 Rev I 
 

 Block of Flats 1 Elevations: Drawing No. 5688U/051/Rev F 

 Block of Flats 1 Floor Plans: Drawing No. 5688U/050/Rev E 

 Block of Flats 2 Elevations: Drawing No. 5688U/053/Rev E 

 Block of Flats 2 Floor Plans: Drawing No. 5688U/052/Rev E 

 Block of Flats 3 & 4 Elevations: Drawing No. 5688U/055/Rev G 

 Block of Flats 3 & 4 Floor Plans: Drawing No. 5688U/054/Rev I 

 Block of Flats 3 & 4 Vehicle Tracking Plans: Drawing No. 12290-SK57 Rev P2 

 Block of Flats 3 & 4 Vehicle Tracking Plans: Drawing No. 12290-SK57 Rev P2 

 Block of Flats 6 Elevations: Drawing No. 5688U/061/ Rev E 

 Block of Flats 6 Floor Plans: Drawing No. 5688U/060/Rev G 

 Block of Flats 7 Elevations: Drawing No. 5688U/063/Rev F 

 Block of Flats 7 Floor Plans: Drawing No. 5688U/062/Rev G 
 

 Flats Comparison Plan and Section: Drawing No. 5688U/FC/BF6 

 Flats Comparison Plan and Section: Drawing No. 5688U/FC/BF7 

 Street Elevation Comparison: Drawing No. #Pln/5688U/SK100 
 
 2 You are advised that as of 6 April 2015, the Bath & North East Somerset Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule came into effect. Full details about the CIL 
Charge including, amount and process for payment will be sent out in a CIL Liability 
Notice which you will receive shortly. Further details are available here: 
www.bathnes.gov.uk/cil 
 
 3 Condition Categories 
The heading of each condition gives an indication of the type of condition and what is 
required by it. There are 4 broad categories: 
 
Compliance - The condition specifies matters to which you must comply. These conditions 
do not require the submission of additional details and do not need to be discharged. 
 
Pre-commencement - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before any work begins on the approved development. 
The condition will list any specific works which are exempted from this restriction, e.g. 
ground investigations, remediation works, etc. 
 

Page 89



Pre-occupation - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before occupation of all or part of the approved 
development.  
 
Bespoke Trigger - The condition contains a bespoke trigger which requires the submission 
and approval of further information, drawings or details before a specific action occurs.  
 
Please note all conditions should be read fully as these headings are intended as a guide 
only. 
 
Where approval of further information is required you will need to submit a conditions 
application and pay the relevant fee, details of the fee can be found on the "what happens 
after permission" pages of the Council's Website.  You can submit your conditions 
application via the Planning Portal at www.planningportal.co.uk or send it direct to 
planning_registration@bathnes.gov.uk.  Alternatively this can be sent by post to The 
Planning Registration Team, Planning Services, Lewis House, Manvers Street, Bath, BA1 
1JG. 
 
 4 In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied 
with the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Framework. 
 
 5 This permission is accompanied by an agreement under Section 106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
 
 

Item No:   02 

Application No: 16/05094/FUL 

Site Location: Beechen Cliff School  Kipling Avenue Bear Flat Bath BA2 4RE 

 

 

Ward: Widcombe  Parish: N/A  LB Grade: N/A 

Ward Members: Councillor I A Gilchrist Councillor Jasper Martin Becker  

Page 90



Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Extend bank southwards using existing on site spoil heap to create 
wider playing field. 

Constraints: Affordable Housing, Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Article 4, Article 4, 
Article 4, Conservation Area, Forest of Avon, Hotspring Protection, 
MOD Safeguarded Areas, Sites used as playing fields, SSSI - Impact 
Risk Zones, World Heritage Site,  

Applicant:  Beechen Cliff School 

Expiry Date:  16th December 2016 

Case Officer: Chris Griggs-Trevarthen 

 
REPORT 
Cllr. Ian Gilchrist has requested that the application be determined by committee and gave 
the following comments: 
 
The bare bones of the application gives no hint of the adverse effects on neighbouring 
properties that the development would have. 
 
In accordance with the Council's Scheme of Delegation, the application was referred to 
the chairman of Development Control Committee who has decided that the application 
should be determined by committee. 
 
DESCRIPTION 
The application site comprises part of the Beechen Cliff School playing fields. The hillside 
at Beechen Cliff is broad split into three levels; the lower field which slopes gradually down 
to the south and shares a boundary with a number of properties along Greenway Lane; 
the central plateau which is fairly level and contains a number of the schools' existing 
playing pitches; and, the upper level which contains the majority of the school buildings. 
 
The existing bank between the lower field and the central plateau is approximately 3m in 
height and transects the playing fields. 
 
The site is located within the Bath Conservation Area and World Heritage Site and there 
are a series of Public Rights of Way ("PROWs") which run across the playing fields 
(BC43/1, BC43/2, BC43/3, BC53/1 and BC53/3). The Grade II listed, Greenway Lodge, 
lies adjacent to the southern boundary of the playing fields. 
 
The proposal is to utilise on-site spoil from recent and future building projects to extend 
the existing bank southwards to create a wider playing field on the central plateau which 
can accommodate a full size rugby pitch. 
 
Some spoil from the recently completed humanities block building (ref: 15/04824/FUL) has 
already be deposited on the bank. The application is therefore considered to be partially 
retrospective. 
 
The school have submitted a Masterplan in support of their application to demonstrate 
how the proposed development will fit in with their longer term aspirations for development 
on the school. However, it is important for members to note that the proposal to extend the 
bank must be determined on its own merits and that proposals shown within the 

Page 91



Masterplan do not fall to be considered as part of this application. Officers have not 
assessed the impacts of any of the proposals shown within the current version of the 
Masterplan. 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
The school has been subject to a number of planning applications over recent years. The 
most relevant have been highlighted below. 
 
10/00540/FUL - PERMIT - 14 July 2010 - Provision of a synthetic pitch to replace existing 
sports pitch and an additional 5-a-side synthetic sports pitch; both with sports fencing and 
lighting. 
 
11/00573/VAR - PERMIT - 9 December 2011 - Variation of condition 3 of application 
10/00540/FUL in order to substitute submitted sports lighting report/assessment with a 
new lighting proposal (Provision of a synthetic pitch to replace existing sports pitch and an 
additional 5- a-side synthetic sports pitch; both with sports fencing and lighting.) 
 
11/03451/FUL - PERMIT - 6 October 2011 - Erection of new two storey classroom block 
including staircase and lift following removal of existing temporary single storey building 
 
12/04503/FUL - PERMIT - 18 December 2012 - Erection of a new Science lab and Gym 
with associated changing facilities following demolition of existing temporary building 
 
12/04515/FUL - PERMIT - 17 January 2013 - Alterations and extension to existing Sixth 
Form Block to form a new Student Accommodation and Classroom Block 
 
13/05288/FUL - PERMIT - 31 January 2014 - Proposed demolition and replacement of 
existing Bolton Suite teaching block, including atrium link to existing Sixth Form Student 
Accommodation and Classroom Block 
 
15/04824/FUL - PERMIT - 11th January 2016 - Erection of two storey 8 no. classroom 
block following demolition of existing temporary 'Pratten' classroom block. Altered access 
to the existing science block and associated landscaping works. 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
HIGHWAYS OFFICER: No objection 
 
DRAINAGE AND FLOOD RISK: No objection, informative suggested 
 
ARBORICULTURALIST (Verbal comments only): No objection, subject to conditions. 
 
PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY TEAM: No objection, informative suggested 
 
SPORTS ENGLAND: No objection, recommends conditions 
 
WALES AND WEST UTILITIES: Comments only - Informative suggested 
 
COUNCILLOR IAN GILCHRIST: The bare bones of the application give no hint of the 
adverse effects on neighbouring properties that the development would have. 
 

Page 92



WIDCOMBE ASSOCIATION: The Widcombe Associate feel that more information should 
be provided to demonstrate the relationship of the proposed pitch extension to the 
neighbouring residential properties and also, similarly, regarding the relationship of the 
longer levelling to these and other properties, through cross-sections as well as plans. 
They also have concerns about the retrospective nature of the development. 
 
GREENWAY LANE AREA RESIDENTS FORUM: Have identified the following concerns: 
1. Retrospective nature of the application; 
2. The proposal represents creeping development as it forms part of the comprehensive 
Masterplan proposals; 
3. It affects the public footpaths and details should be required as part of this application.  
4. The raised bank will increase the compacted area where natural drainage is inhibited. 
The proposals will likely cause winter flooding of the footpath, private properties and the 
highway. A full flood risk assessment study is required; 
5. The footpath network would be detrimentally affected, as the area at the base of the 
bank would be restricted for walkers, resulting in a sense of insecurity and loss of open 
aspect; 
6. Application does not provide details of timescale, construction or drainage; 
7. Extending the sports areas nearer to residential areas increases the potential for 
nuisance due to noise and disturbance, overlooking, loss of privacy and bad language; 
8. Beechen Cliff Hill is a highly sensitive part of the World Heritage Site. It is visible from 
the city centre and from the Fosse Way, has associations with Jane Austen and is a key 
part of Bath's green infrastructure and wildlife links. 
 
They also consider that the plans produced lack detail and raise concerns about the traffic 
implications of the development, due to the narrowest of Poet's Corner and Greenway 
Lane. They identify potential safety & congestion issues. There is concern about the 
intensification of the use of the playing fields, particularly at evenings and weekends to the 
detriment of local residents. Conditions are requested to confine the use of the pitch to 
school hours. 
 
BATH PRESERVATION TRUST: Comment 
Information provided is inadequate to make a proper assessment of the impact, 
particularly in terms of the visual/landscape impact upon the World Heritage Site. 
More detail required on the quantities of spoil involved, the time scales, a method 
statement and final landscaping plan. 
Difficult to assess the impact upon the setting of the listed Greenway Lodge 
 
THIRD PARTIES/NEIGHBOURS: 27 letters of objection have been received. The main 
issues raised were: 
The application is retrospective 
It represents creeping development of the school which is presented in their masterplan 
It adversely affects the PROWs which cross the playing fields 
No Flood Risk Assessment has been submitted 
Harm to the amenity of the public open space 
Noise, overlooking and nuisance 
Harm to the World Heritage Site 
Concern about land stability and landslip 
Concerns about surface water drainage into adjoining properties 
Significant traffic implications arising from intensification of the use 

Page 93



Overbearing character of the proposed bank 
Concern about proposals shown in the masterplan 
Inaccurate plans and drawings 
Concern about need for sports fencing which might arise 
Piecemeal development 
Proposed bank is too close to properties bordering the fields 
Loss of light from adjoining properties 
Loss of open space 
Concern about cumulative impact of proposals 
Damage to properties arising from stray balls 
Concern about impacts upon trees and hedge 
Beechen Cliff is an important hillside in the World Heritage Site which should be protected 
Conditions restricting community use of the site are requested 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The Core Strategy now forms part of the statutory Development Plan 
and will be given full weight in the determination of planning applications. The Council's 
Development Plan now comprises: 
o Core Strategy 
o Saved Policies in the B&NES Local Plan (2007)* 
o Joint Waste Core Strategy 
 
RELEVANT CORE STRATEY POLICIES 
B4 The World Heritage Site and its setting  
CP6 Environmental Quality 
 
The B&NES Local Plan policies that are replaced by policies in the Core Strategy are 
outlined in Appendix 1 of the Core Strategy. Those B&NES Local Plan policies that are not 
replaced and remain saved are listed in Appendix 2 of the Core Strategy 
 
RELEVANT LOCAL PLAN POLICIES 
D.2 General Design and public realm considerations  
D.4 Townscape considerations 
SR.4 New sports & recreational facilities within or adjoining settlements 
SR.9 Protection of recreational routes 
ES.5 Foul and surface water drainage 
ES.12 Noise and vibration 
ES.14 Unstable land 
NE.1 Landscape character 
NE.3 Important hillsides 
NE.4 Trees and woodland conservation 
BH.2 Listed buildings and their settings 
BH.6 Development within or affecting Conservation Areas 
T.24 General development control and access policy 
 
PLACEMAKING PLAN 
 
Following the Examination hearings the Inspector has now issued her Interim Statement 
and has advised the Council of her recommended Main Modifications required to make 

Page 94



the plan sound. The Main Modifications and Minor Proposed Changes are now subject to 
public consultation prior to the Inspector issuing her Final Report. The following policies 
can now be given substantial weight: 
D1 Urban Design Principles 
D2 Local Character & Distinctiveness 
D6 Amenity 
NE2 Conserving and enhancing the landscape and landscape character 
NE6 Trees and woodland conservation 
PSC6 Unstable land 
LCR6 New and replacement sports and recreational facilities 
ST2A Recreational routes 
 
The following polices, as modified by the Inspector, have significant weight: 
 
HE1 Historic Environment 
NE2A Landscape setting of settlements 
PSC2 Noise and vibration 
ST7 Transport requirements for managing development 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (March 2012) and the National Planning Practice 
Guidance (March 2014) can be awarded significant weight. 
 
There is a duty placed on the Council under Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act 'In considering whether to grant planning permission for 
development which affects a listed building or its setting' to 'have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural 
or historic interest which it possesses.'   
 
There is also a duty placed on the Council under Section 72 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act to pay special attention to the preservation or 
enhancement of the character of the surrounding conservation area. 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
The main issues to consider are: 
1. Principle of development 
2. Character and appearance  
3. Residential amenity 
4. Surface water drainage and flood risk 
5. Trees and woodland 
6. Highways safety 
7. Public rights of way 
8. Community use 
9. Other matters 
10. Conclusion 
 
PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT: The proposal to extend the existing bank southwards is 
intended to provide additional space for new sports facilities, i.e. increasing the size of the 
existing playing pitch to a full sized rugby pitch. Policy SR.4 permits the creation of new or 
replacement sports facilities within an existing settlement provided that they meet a 
number of criteria. 

Page 95



 
Criterion 1 requires that new sports facilities complement the existing pattern of 
recreational facilities. Given that this proposal involves the enlargement of an existing 
playing pitch on an existing area utilised as playing field, it is considered to clearly 
complement the existing pattern of recreational facilities at Beechen Cliff.  
 
Criterion 2 requires that the facilities are in a readily accessible location well served by 
transport modes. The site is within a built up area of Bath which well served by public 
transport and is accessible from a variety of different public footpaths which cross the 
playing fields. 
 
Criteria 3 and 4 require that there would be no adverse impact on public safety and that 
the amenities of local residents are not adversely affected by air, noise or light pollution. 
These matters are discussed further in the report below. 
 
In light of the above and the discussion on criteria 3 and 4 in the report below, it is 
considered that the requirements of policy SR.4 are met and that the proposed 
development is acceptable in principle. 
 
Sport England has also been consulted on the application and raises no objection to the 
proposal.  
 
 
CHARACTER AND APPEARANCE: Beechen Cliff School playing fields are a significant 
green area which represents an important hillside within the built up area of Bath under 
Local Plan policy NE.3. The site has also been identified within the emerging Placemaking 
Plan as a site which forms part of the landscape setting of Bath under policy NE2A. The 
site is visible and prominent from the Wellsway to the south and in other long views, 
particularly from the south and west. 
 
Whilst the examining Inspector has proposed a slight modification to the wording of policy 
NE2A, the designation of this site as part of the landscape setting of Bath has not been 
queried. Policy NE2A can therefore be given significant weight. 
 
Policy NE2A requires that any development should seek to conserve and enhance the 
landscape setting of settlements and their landscape character, views and features. 
Development that would result in adverse impact to the landscape setting of settlements 
that cannot be adequately mitigated will not be permitted. 
 
The proposed bank would be extended southwards by between approximately 7m - 13m 
across its length. The shortest part of the extended bank would be in the south-east with 
the largest extension on the south-west side of the bank. 
 
The revised bank would broadly repeat the line of the existing bank and would run 
approximately parallel to the proposed new rugby pitch. Although slightly steeper in some 
areas and slightly shallower in others, the proposed bank profile would be broadly similar 
to the existing profile. 
 
Given the scale of the proposed development, the change to the landform of the site is 
relatively minor. The school has indicated that it intends to implement the bank in stages 

Page 96



to accommodate spoil as it arises from any current and future development projects on the 
school site. Whilst the bank is being extended and re-profiled, the topsoil will be stripped 
off the bank and temporary construction fencing will be erected around it. This has the 
potential to alter the green character of the hillside introducing the incongruous features of 
exposed subsoil and construction fencing. However, these features will be temporary in 
nature. Once the subsoil has been consolidated and profiled, the topsoil regraded back 
over the new profiled bank and the area reseeded with grass, the appearance of the 
hillside will revert to the same green character as before. A condition is proposed to 
ensure that when the bank is not being constructed that the land is restored to grass and 
that any construction fencing is removed. This will ensure that the landscape is not 
harmed for extended periods of time. 
 
The new alignment and profile of the bank will not significantly alter the landscape 
character, or the appearance in important views, of this important green hillside. 
Furthermore, the proposals do not include any external lighting and so the area will retain 
its dark character during the evenings and night times. 
 
The proposals are therefore considered to conserve the landscape setting of Bath and are 
also considered to preserve the outstanding universal values of the Bath World Heritage 
Site. The proposals are therefore also considered to preserve the character and 
appearance of the Conservation Area.  
 
Greenway Lodge is a grade II listed building immediately adjoining the southern boundary 
of the playing fields. It is considered that the playing fields form part of the setting of this 
heritage asset. However, the proposed bank extension will remain over 30m from the 
boundary with Greenway Lodge and will not significantly affect any views to or from the 
property. Furthermore, in light of the above conclusions about the proposed development 
retaining the overall green and open hillside character of the site, it is considered that the 
proposal will preserve the setting and significance of the heritage asset. 
 
 
RESIDENTIAL AMENITY: The proposed bank realignment brings it closer to the southern 
boundary of the playing fields which borders a number of properties on Greenway Lane. 
These properties mostly turn their backs onto the playing field, but all are situated at a 
lower level and there are a number of existing windows which face on to the playing field. 
 
The proposed bank would remain at least 8m from the boundary with properties on 
Greenway Lane (as shown on section A-A) increasing to over 35m further to the west (as 
shown on section B-B). 
 
The proposals would offer additional, slightly elevated views towards the properties at 
Greenway Lane for anyone standing at the top of the revised bank. However, this would 
not result in any significant additional detriment to the privacy of occupiers over and above 
the views already available from the existing playing field. The elevated views from the 
revised bank position are still a sufficient distance from the neighbouring properties to 
prevent any harmful increase in overlooking or harmful loss of privacy. 
 
The closest property to the proposed bank is 71 Greenway Lane. The relationship 
between the proposed extended bank and 71 Greenway Lane is demonstrated in section 
A-A. At its nearest point, the bottom of the extended bank would be approximately 8m 

Page 97



from the boundary with 71 Greenway Lane and the top of the extended bank would 
remain approximately 13m from the boundary. The boundary to the playing fields contains 
a hedgerow and a large tree at this point which does provide a degree of screening for 71 
Greenway Lane. The garden of 71 Greenway Lane is situated on land set down from the 
level of the playing field at its boundary. Given these two factors, views into the garden of 
71 Greenway Lane are difficult to obtain. The development will increase the viewing angle 
towards the garden from the south-east corner of the bank. However, given the retained 
gap from the boundary and the boundary screening, this increased angle will not offer any 
significantly greater or more harmful views over the garden of 71 Greenway Lane such as 
to have any unacceptable impact upon residential amenity. 
 
The retained distance, alongside the local topography and the orientation of the bank to 
the north, means that there will be no significant loss of light or overbearing impact upon 
occupiers on Greenway Lane. 
 
The extended bank will enable the school to accommodate a slightly wider sports pitch on 
level ground. Whilst this proposal will mean that the margins of the sports pitch now 
extend slightly closer to the properties on Greenway Lane and will enable slightly larger 
scale activities/games to take place on this part of the playing fields, it is not considered to 
be such a significant increase in activity as to result in any significant additional noise or 
disturbance impacts (including stray balls being kicked into residential gardens) over and 
above the existing situation.  
 
As discussed above, the proposals do not include any external lighting for the extended 
playing pitch and therefore light spill onto neighbouring properties is not an issue. 
 
In light of the above, it is considered that the proposed development will not result in any 
significant impact upon residential amenity over and above the existing situation. 
 
 
SURFACE WATER DRAINAGE AND FLOOD RISK: Concerns have been raised about 
potential flood risk arising from the proposal. The application site is located within flood 
zone 1, which is classified as being at the lowest risk of flooding. There is no requirement 
for this application to be supported by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA). 
 
Whilst the bank would create a marginally steeper profile in places, this would not reduce 
the area available for rainwater absorption and would not increase discharge rates in any 
significant way.  
 
Furthermore, the Council's Drainage and Flood Risk Team have reviewed the application 
and raised no objection to the proposals.  
 
The proposals are therefore considered not to have any significant adverse effect in terms 
of flood risk. 
 
 
TREES AND WOODLAND: Concern has been raised about the potential impacts upon 
trees located on the southern boundary of the playing fields. Having reviewed the 
drawings, the Council's arboriculturalist is satisfied that sufficient distance is maintained 
between the proposed extended bank and any trees to prevent any harm arising. 

Page 98



However, care will need to be taken during the construction of the bank to avoid harm to 
retained trees. An arboricultural method statement and tree protection plan is therefore 
required as a condition. 
 
 
HIGHWAYS SAFETY: Vehicular access to the school site is via Kipling Avenue and the 
surrounding streets, all of which are often heavily parked. Access to the school during 
peak times can therefore be difficult. 
 
However, the material for the proposed bank is to be provided from on-site sources only. It 
is intended to accommodate the spoil arising from any current and future development 
projects. This avoids material/spoil having to be transported to the site to extend the bank 
and reduces the level of spoil that needs to be removed from the school site arising from 
any future building projects. This approach can be secured by a planning condition which 
will prevent the import of any material to the site. This measure is supported by the 
Highways officer as a means to avoid any conflicts between HGVs and local highways 
network. 
 
Subject to the above discussed condition, it is therefore considered that the proposals will 
not adversely affect highways safety. 
 
 
PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY: The PROW team originally raised some concerns about the 
routes of the footpaths across the playing field as shown on the proposed plans. These 
routes appeared to deviate from the definitive line of the PROW as shown on the Council's 
official records. Upon investigation it appears that the definitive line of the PROWs across 
the Beechen Cliff playing fields has not been maintained for parts of it route. The school 
will therefore need to apply to the PROW team for a diversion to rectify the situation in 
respect of these anomalies. An informative is suggested in regard to this matter. 
 
However, the irregularities with the existing routes of the footpaths across the playing 
fields do not materially alter the consideration of this application. The proposed extension 
to the existing bank does not affect the definitive route of any of the PROWs which cross 
the playing fields. Upon clarification of these matters, the PROW team have indicated that 
they have no objection to the proposals. 
 
Other concerns have been raised about the potential for the proposals to impact upon the 
quality of the PROW routes across the playing fields. However, the definitive routes will 
remain unchanged and, whilst the bank will extend closer to one of the footpaths, it is only 
3m in height and is sloped away from the path. It will not appear overbearing or create any 
significant sense of insecurity to the users of the footpath. The proposed development will 
therefore not adversely affect the recreational value or amenity value of the route and the 
enjoyment of users of the PROW will not be compromised. 
 
 
COMMUNITY USE: In its response to the application Sports England recommended a 
condition seeking to secure community use of the playing pitch, beyond the schools' own 
activities. However, concerns have also been raised by local residents about additional 
community use of the site and the impacts that might arise from this in terms of traffic and 
disturbance issues. 

Page 99



 
Currently, there are no controls on the use of the playing field by the school including 
community use. The school have also indicated that there is currently no community use 
of the pitch. The enlargement of the playing pitch to a full size rugby pitch does increase 
its attractiveness as a sports facility and will slightly increase the intensity of the use, i.e. it 
will be able to accommodate larger games and matches. However, any increase in use is 
likely to be minimal. Furthermore, given that the pitch is grass and not artificial, there is a 
limit to the potential hours it can be used without compromising the surface condition of 
the pitch. 
 
It is therefore considered that a condition restricting the use of the playing pitch is not 
necessary.  
 
Furthermore, because the development only involves the expansion of an existing pitch, 
there is no policy basis for compelling the school to use the pitches for community use. It 
is therefore considered unreasonable to apply the conditions recommended by Sports 
England. 
 
 
OTHER MATTERS: Some comments have been made about land instability and potential 
for landslip arising from the development. However, there is no indication or evidence of 
any geological instability in the area of the application site and the gradients involved in 
the development are not significantly greater than the existing gradients. It is therefore 
considered that the proposals will not result in any risk of landslip or land instability. 
 
Many comments have been received about proposals shown within the school's 
Masterplan document which was submitted with the application. Concern was raised 
about the lack of information and the potential creation of precedent for these future 
proposals. However, as is made clear at the start of this report, the Masterplan does not 
fall to be considered as part of this application. This application is concerned with the 
extension of the existing bank to create a wider playing pitch only. Any future proposals 
will need to be the subject of separate planning applications which will be assessed on 
their own merits. 
 
Notwithstanding this, the Masterplan document can still be used as a guide to the school's 
future development aspirations and intentions, but, as it has not been the subject of any 
formal consultation or approval, this should only be afforded very limited weight.  
 
A number of comments have been received about the partially retrospective nature of the 
application. However, the fact that the development has already commenced is not a 
material consideration in respect of the consideration of this application. Members should 
therefore not take into account the partially retrospective nature of this proposal when 
determining this application. 
 
 
CONCLUSION: The proposed extension to the playing field bank and the creation of a 
wider playing pitch at Beechen Cliff School represents a relatively small scale change to 
the existing landform. The proposals are considered not to adversely affect the landscape 
setting of setting of Bath, the World Heritage Site, the Conservation Area or the setting of 
the nearby listed building. It will not have any significantly adverse effect upon residential 

Page 100



amenity, flood risk, trees or existing PROWs. It will also reduce the need to export spoil 
arising from current and future development projects, to the benefit of the local highways 
network. 
 
The proposals are therefore considered to accord with the above listed relevant policies of 
the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy, the Bath and North East Somerset 
Local Plan and the emerging Bath and North East Somerset Placemaking Plan and, in 
accordance with paragraph 17 of the National Planning Policy Framework, should be 
approved without delay. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

PERMIT 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
 1 Standard Time Limit (Compliance) 
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) and to avoid the accumulation of unimplemented planning permission 
 
 2 Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan (Pre-commencement) 
No material to be used in the construction of the extend bank shall be deposited on the 
site until a detailed arboricultural method statement with tree protection plan following the 
recommendations contained within BS 5837:2012 identifying measures to protect the 
trees to be retained, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The statement shall include proposed tree protection measures during carport 
construction and landscaping operations and arboricultural supervision and monitoring. 
The statement should include the control of potentially harmful operations such as the 
position of service runs and soakaways, storage, handling and mixing of materials on site, 
and movement of people and machinery. No development or other operations shall 
thereafter take place except in complete accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure that no excavation, tipping, burning, storing of materials or any other 
activity takes place which would adversely affect the trees to be retained in accordance 
with policy NE.4 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan and CP7 of the Core 
Strategy. 
This is a condition precedent because the works comprising the development have the 
potential to harm retained trees. Therefore these details need to be agreed before work 
commences. 
 
 3 No imported material (Compliance) 
No material from outside of the school grounds shall be used in the approved 
development. 
 
Reason: To avoid the import of material onto the site in the interest of highways safety in 
accordance with policy T.24 of the Local Plan. 
 
 4 Restoration of current bank (Compliance) 

Page 101



The land within the application site shall be laid to grass within 3 months of the date of this 
planning permission. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the character and appearance of the important hillside is 
preserved in accordance with policies NE.1 and NE.3 of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Local Plan and policy CP6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy 
and to ensure that the land is restored when the bank is not being actively constructed. 
 
 5 Program of works for future phases (Bespoke Trigger) 
No material to be used in any phase of the construction of the extend bank (as shown on 
drawing no. 2135-18 B) shall be deposited on the site until a program of works has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for that phase. The 
program of works shall include: 
 
Details of the amount of material to be deposited; 
Existing and proposed levels for that phase; 
Details of the restoration of the land following that phase of the construction of the 
extended bank; 
Details of the erection and removal of any means of enclosure; and, 
A timetable for all of the above 
 
That phase of the development shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance with the 
approved program of works.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the character and appearance of the important hillside is 
preserved in accordance with policies NE.1 and NE.3 of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Local Plan and policy CP6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy 
and to ensure that the land is restored when the bank is not being actively constructed. 
 
 6 Plans List (Compliance) 
The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance with 
the plans as set out in the plans list below. 
 
Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
 1 2135-4C Existing Plan 
2135-18 B Proposed Site Plan with New Bank 
2135-19 Section AA 
2135-20 Section BB 
 
DECISION MAKING STATEMENT 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Framework. For the reasons 
given, and expanded upon in a related case officer's report, a positive view of the 
submitted proposals was taken and consent was granted. 
 
 2 Condition Categories 

Page 102



The heading of each condition gives an indication of the type of condition and what is 
required by it. There are 4 broad categories: 
 
Compliance - The condition specifies matters to which you must comply. These conditions 
do not require the submission of additional details and do not need to be discharged. 
 
Pre-commencement - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before any work begins on the approved development. 
The condition will list any specific works which are exempted from this restriction, e.g. 
ground investigations, remediation works, etc. 
 
Pre-occupation - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before occupation of all or part of the approved 
development.  
 
Bespoke Trigger - The condition contains a bespoke trigger which requires the submission 
and approval of further information, drawings or details before a specific action occurs.  
 
Please note all conditions should be read fully as these headings are intended as a guide 
only. 
 
Where approval of further information is required you will need to submit a conditions 
application and pay the relevant fee, details of the fee can be found on the "what happens 
after permission" pages of the Council's Website.  You can submit your conditions 
application via the Planning Portal at www.planningportal.co.uk or send it direct to 
planning_registration@bathnes.gov.uk.  Alternatively this can be sent by post to The 
Planning Registration Team, Planning Services, Lewis House, Manvers Street, Bath, BA1 
1JG. 
 
 3 INFORMATIVES 
1. For the avoidance of doubt, the Masterplan drawings which have been submitted 
alongside this application are not approved. No indication of support or otherwise for the 
proposals shown within the Masterplan shall be taken from this decision. 
 
2. All surface water will be managed on site during and after construction so as not to 
increase flood risk to others 
 
3. Wales & West Utilities has pipes in the area. Their apparatus may be affected and at 
risk during construction works. The promoter of these works should contact them directly 
to discuss their requirements in detail before any works commence on site. Should 
diversion works be required these will be fully chargeable. 
 
4. The issues highlighted in the PROW Response (dated 12th December 2016 and 
submitted on 13th December 2016) regarding the public rights of way on the site, must be 
addressed separately by the School. The Council requires the School to apply to the 
Public Rights of Way Team for a Diversion Order as soon as possible to address these 
issues. 
 
 
 

Page 103



Item No:   03 

Application No: 16/04499/FUL 

Site Location: 17 Station Road Welton Midsomer Norton BA3 2AZ  

 

 

Ward: Midsomer Norton North  Parish: Midsomer Norton  LB Grade: N/A 

Ward Members: Councillor B J Macrae Councillor Michael Evans  

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Erection of 6no. new dwellings following demolition of existing 
dwelling and outbuildings (resubmission) - revised plans 

Constraints: Affordable Housing, Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Coal - Standing Advice 
Area, Conservation Area, Contaminated Land, Forest of Avon, 
Housing Development Boundary, SSSI - Impact Risk Zones,  

Applicant:  Flower And Hayes Ltd 

Expiry Date:  12th January 2017 

Case Officer: Tessa Hampden 

 
REPORT 
Reason for referral to committee 
 
The application has been referred to Committee due to the objection comments received 
from the Town Council and the Local Ward Councillor. These are detailed within the 
representations section of this report.  
 
Site description and proposal 
 
The application relates to 17 Station Road, which is a detached dwelling set within a 
generous plot off Station Road in Midsomer Norton. The site also comprises a number of 
outbuildings/worskhsops. The site is within the Midsomer Norton and Welton Conservation 
Area. 
 

Page 104



The application seeks planning permission for the erection of six new dwellings following 
demolition of existing dwelling and outbuildings. This application originally proposed 7 
units, but revised plans have been submitted during the course of the application which 
removed a residential unit from the site, reduced the scale of a dwelling, and amendments 
to parking/landscaping. 
 
An application for 8 dwellings was recently refused and dismissed at appeal. 
 
Relevant planning history 
 
15/03416/FUL - Refused - 16 October 2015 - Erection of 8no dwellings following 
demolition of 1no dwelling and associated outbuildings - appeal dismissed 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
Ecologist - no objection subject to condition 
 
Highways - no objection subject to conditions 
 
Environmental Health - no objection subject to conditions 
 
Drainage - details required with regards to drainage strategy 
 
Arboriculture - details required to ensure that drainage strategy does not impact upon tree 
routes. 
 
Midsomer Norton Town Council - object 
 
-The revised proposal of 7 dwellings was  considered to still be an overdevelopment of the 
site. 
-The Committee noted that the information requested by the Arboriculture Officer and the 
Drainage and Flooding Team had not been 
adequately addressed. 
-The proposed choices of materials were considered to be unsatisfactory. Traditional 
materials should be used throughout. 
-The Committee strongly objected to the demolition of No 17 Station Road. 
-The entrance/interior walls should be retained to the original height and with the original 
materials to a maximum 
 
Cllr Barry Macrae 
 
- Objects to the development 
-  It is backland development and destroys the privacy of its neighbours; 
- Overdevelopment 
- On-site parking is totally inadequate (for owners/visitors/deliveries); 
- Vehicle access is extremely poor 
- Egress on to Station Road will directly conflict with the existing site access into the 
Welton Bag major employment site; 
- The style/design submitted has no relevance or empathy with the surrounding historic 
terraces and the iconic brewery building mass. 
 

Page 105



6 objection/general comments have been received. These can be summarised as follows: 
 
-Cramped form of development/overdevelopment of the site 
-Loss of existing house 
-Loss of green space and excessive hardstanding 
-Impact upon boundary walls 
-Ecological issues 
-Impact upon the trees 
-Highway safety 
-Lack of parking 
-Impact upon neighbouring occupiers including privacy issue, loss of light, noise and 
disturbance 
-Contrary to Human Rights Act 
-Cumulative impact of this and other developments 
-Security issues 
-Inaccurate drawings 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The Core Strategy now forms part of the statutory Development Plan 
and will be given full weight in the determination of planning applications. The Council's 
Development Plan now comprises: 
- Core Strategy 
- Saved Policies in the B&NES Local Plan (2007)* 
- Joint Waste Core Strategy 
 
- Core Strategy 
 
SV1 Somer Valley Spatial Strategy  
CP5 Flood Risk Management 
CP6 - Environmental Quality 
CP9 Affordable housing 
 
Saved policies from the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan - 2007 
 
BH6 Conservation Area and their settings 
D2 - General Design and Public Realm Considerations 
D4 - Townscape Considerations 
HG4 Residential development in the urban areas 
NE4 Trees and Woodlands 
NE10 Nationally important species and habitats 
NE11 Locally important species and habitats 
T24 - Highway Development Control Criteria 
 
At the Council's Cabinet meeting on 2nd December 2015 the draft Placemaking Plan was 
approved for consultation purposes and also approved for Development Management 
purposes.  Following the Examination hearings the Inspector has now issued her Interim 
Statement and has advised the Council of her recommended Main Modifications required 
to make the plan sound. The Main Modifications and Minor Proposed Changes are now 

Page 106



subject to public consultation prior to the Inspector issuing her Final Report. The following 
policies can now be given substantial weight: 
 
SD1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
CP2 - Sustainable construction 
CP3 - Renewable energy 
CP5 - Flood Risk Management 
CP7 - Green Infrastructure 
PCS7A - Foul sewage infrastructure 
SCR1 - On site renewable energy requirement 
SCR5 - Water Efficiency 
SU1 - Sustainable drainage 
D1, D2, D3, D4, D5, D6 - Design and amenity 
D10 - Public realm 
H7 - Housing accessibility  
NE1 - Development and Green Infrastructure 
NE2 - Conserving and Enhancing the Landscape and Landscape Character 
NE6 - Trees and woodland conservation 
PCS1 - Pollution and nuisance 
LCR7B - Broadband - superfast infrastructure 
ST1 - Sustainable transport 
 
The following policies are relevant and have significant weight: 
 
D8 - Lighting 
NE2A - Landscape setting of settlements 
NE3 -Sites, species and habitats 
H1 Historic Environment 
ST7 Transport requirements for managing development 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework -  published in March 2012 
 
National Planning Practice Guidance 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
Principle of development 
 
The application site is located within the Housing Development Boundary of Midsomer 
Norton where new residential development can be acceptable subject the compliance with 
the policies of the development plan. There is therefore no objection to the scheme in 
principle. 
 
Character and appearance 
 
The site is located within the Welton/Midsomer Norton Conservation and as such any 
development in this location must preserve or enhance the character and appearance of 
this part of the Conservation Area. The existing dwelling is set back from the road frontage 
sat within generous sized grounds. The site also comprises a number of 
outbuildings/workshops which are set within the site away from the public realm. A 
number of third parties have raised concerns with regard to the loss of the building. The 

Page 107



main dwelling itself is of some architectural merit. This is not a listed building but the main 
building and its setting is a positive attribute within the Conservation Area and as such can 
be seen to be a non designated heritage asset. The building is however set back from the 
main street and therefore its impact upon the street scene is reduced and the significance 
of the heritage asset is therefore limited. The building has also been altered significantly 
and is in parts in a poor condition.   It is also noted that this building is not included within 
the current Midsomer Norton character appraisal, although this does not necessarily 
reduce its significance. The loss of this building was not raised as a reason for refusal at 
the previous planning decision, nor raised as an issue by the Inspector dealing with the 
subsequent appeal.  However, any development must be of a high enough quality to 
ensure that the character and appearance of the Conservation Area is preserved. 
 
Whilst a higher density of development is not objectionable in principle, the development 
must sit comfortably with the surrounding development.  The proposal puts forward a semi 
detached unit fronting Station Road which is considered to follow the general building 
grain of the area, with the ridge of the roof set down from the neighbouring terrace 
reflecting the topography of the road.  The Inspector previously noted that although the 
scheme would remove some of the open character from the front of the site, this would be 
compensated by the well designed frontage property, providing continuity to the street 
scene. A similar conclusion can be reached on this proposal. It is considered important to 
ensure that the front and side elevations of this property are constructed from natural 
stone and this can be secured though the inclusion of a condition on any permission. This 
will ensure that the character and appearance of the Conservation Area is preserved by 
presenting a high quality form in a position highly visible in the public realm. The agent 
has stated that they will explore re using the materials from the building to be replaced.  
 
The overall scheme comprises a mixture of bungalows, dwelling and flats which is 
considered an acceptable mix, which does not conflict with the pattern of development in 
the surrounding area. The units within the site are of an acceptable design and scale and 
will ensure that the character and appearance of the Conservation Area is preserved. 
 
The quantum of development has been reduced during the application process which 
allows for a higher degree of soft landscaping being present on the site, and the parking 
provided is now in more discrete locations. This aids in ensuring that the development 
does not appear cramped and the overall quality of the scheme is acceptable. This was a 
key concern in the previous application. The proposed scheme now allows more space 
between each unit, and the parking and access areas no longer dominate the scheme.  
Soft landscaping is also now provided to the front of a number of the units as opposed to 
solely within the rear private amenity spaces which aids in maintaining the open character 
of the site. The proposals allow for sufficient space between the dwellings and the 
boundaries of the site ensuring that there is a visual buffer between the application site 
and the surrounding built form. 
 
Third parties have raised concerns with regards to boundary treatments; both with regards 
to existing and proposed. Appropriate boundary treatment can be secured through 
condition.  
 
There is a duty under Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 to pay special attention to the preservation or enhancement of the 
character of the surrounding conservation area.  Here it is considered that the 

Page 108



development, due to appropriate design, siting and scale of the development,  preserve 
the character and appearance of this part of the Conservation Area. 
 
Residential amenity 
 
Impact upon existing occupiers 
 
House plot 4 is sited in relatively close proximity to 35 Welton Road but it is important to 
note that this replaces an existing dwelling which is currently sited close to this shared 
boundary. Plot 4 has been designed so that the upper floor windows will be obscurely 
glazed to ensure that the occupiers of number 35 do not suffer from an unacceptable level 
of loss of privacy. Any overlooking from ground floor levels and from the outdoor amenity 
area can be reduced through the installation of appropriate screening.  Whilst the level of 
activity may increase in this area due to the placement of the garden up to the boundary, 
this is not considered to result in harm at a level that would warrant a refusal of the 
application. The current situation places a parking/turning area at this point and as such, a 
level of noise and disturbance is already experienced. 
 
Concerns have been raised with regards to loss of privacy resulting from windows serving 
the flats.  This bock has been reduced in scale due to the removal of one of the units. This 
results in the distance between 35 Welton Road and the flats being increased. On balance 
due to the change in levels, positioning of windows and the distance between this part of 
the development and the existing development, any loss of privacy would not be unduly 
harmful. 
 
Plot 3 is sited in close proximity to the dwellings Station Cottages. This has been reduced 
in scale which provides a gap between the dwelling and the neighbouring built form. 
However, these units will be single storey, and given there are existing buildings in a 
similar location, and given the existing boundary treatment, this is not considered to be 
overbearing or result in a significant loss of light to these occupiers. 
 
Overall there is not considered to be undue harm by reason of overbearing impact, loss of 
light, privacy, increase noise and disturbance or any other harm, which would be at a level 
which would justify refusing this application.  
 
Living conditions of future occupiers 
 
Plot 3 is situated adjacent to a building which is in commercial use as a carpentry 
business and as such generates a level of noise and disturbance that may cause issues 
with the living conditions of the future occupiers of this dwelling.  It would be unreasonable 
for the adjacent business unit to have to change its operation due to any future complaints 
received from this new development. The development should therefore include measures 
to safeguard against future problems, which could include measures such as sound 
attenuation fencing. This could be secured through the inclusion of a condition on any 
permission.  
 
Highway Development 
 
The proposed access arrangements which are identical that that proposed under ref. 
15/03416/FUL. The provision of a 4.8m wide shared-surface access will be sufficient to 

Page 109



accommodate 2-way traffic flow in accordance with Manual for Streets. The internal road 
layout will also be sufficient to accommodate service and emergency vehicles and will 
enable them to turn on-site so they can depart safely in a forward gear. 
 
Under the previous application, concerns were raised regarding the severe gradient of the 
existing driveway serving the site. The provision of a 1:15 gradient under the current 
proposal will satisfy the guidance within the Design Manual for Roads and Bridges.  
 
The current proposal will demand a maximum requirement of 16 no. spaces plus 1 to 2 
visitor spaces in accordance with policy T.26 of the Local Plan. While a maximum of 3 no. 
spaces is required for plots 3 and 4 (4 bed dwellings), the provision of 2 no. spaces for 
each dwelling (plus 1 visitor space) will be acceptable due largely to the sites sustainable 
location close to Midsomer Norton town centre. The provision of secure and convenient 
storage for bicycles is acknowledged as this will serve to promote this sustainable mode of 
transport. 
 
Ecological Considerations 
 
Ecological surveys have been submitted and considered by the Council's Ecologist.  The 
survey included surveys for bats, and two bat roosts were found, one in the main house 
and one in an outbuilding, both of which were for low numbers of pipistrelle.  These will 
require an EPS licence and mitigation must be secured.  The LPA must consider the three 
tests of the Habitats Regulations and the ability of the scheme to obtain an EPS licence.    
 
Test 1 - Does the development meet a purpose of preserving public health or public safety 
or other imperative reasons of overriding public interest including those of a social or 
economic nature and beneficial consequences of primary importance to the environment? 
 
The public benefits should be commensurate with the level of impact. There are 
sustainability benefits of providing a mixture of 5 additional dwellings close to the town 
centre of Midsomer Norton. Further, the development will result in jobs in the construction 
phase, and whilst this is only for a short period of time, this can be seen to be an 
economic benefit to the scheme. The test can be said to be passed. 
  
Test 2 There is no satisfactory alternative 
 
The development proposes the redevelopment of the site and to achieve the quantum of 
development put forward there is no alternative than what is put forward.  
  
Test 3 - The action authorised will not be detrimental to the maintenance of the population 
of the species 
  
The ecology report describes appropriate mitigation for bats.  If this is implemented as 
described, the above test is likely to be met and an EPS licence would be likely to be 
obtained.   
 
There are also trees and other vegetation which supports some wildlife value, measures 
to mitigate for impacts on these should be included within an overall ecological and 
protected species mitigation plan. 
 

Page 110



Overall the development is considered to be ecologically acceptable.  
 
Arboriculture 
 
Overall, compared to the recent refusal, the flats within the scheme have now been moved 
further away from the mature trees at the boundary of the site. Revised information has 
been submitted during the application process to overcome concerns raised by the 
Arboricultural Officer. It is noted that there are no drainage proposals in place, and any 
scheme that comes forward would need to be informed by the tree survey and avoid any 
damage to tree routes.  
 
Overall, subject to conditions in relation to tree protection, there are no objections on 
these grounds. 
 
Drainage 
 
The Drainage Engineer has responded citing the application is not acceptable in the 
current form as no details have been provided with regards to surface water drainage. 
This was previously cited as a reason for refusal but the Inspector dealing with the appeal 
did not see any reason as to why the use of a sustainable drainage system could not be 
secured through the inclusion of condition. Therefore, in this case, a condition to secure 
this will be added to any condition to ensure that the proposal reduced surface water run 
off from the site and would not increase flood risk elsewhere. 
 
Conclusion 
 
Overall, the development is considered to preserve the character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area. Whilst it is somewhat regrettable that the existing building is to be lost, 
this is not considered to play a significant role in the Conservation Area, and given the 
scheme that is presented, coupled with the benefits of proving additional housing, the loss 
is not resisted. It is also noted that this was not previously raised as a reason for refusal or 
cited as an issue within the appeal decision.  
 
The proposals would result in a scheme that would not harm highway safety or the 
residential amenity of the neighbouring occupiers. Further, the scheme is considered to be 
ecologically acceptable. It is therefore recommended that planning permission is granted 
for the proposals put forward.  
 

RECOMMENDATION 

PERMIT 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
 1 Standard Time Limit (Compliance) 
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) and to avoid the accumulation of unimplemented planning permission 
 

Page 111



 2 Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan (Pre-commencement) 
No development shall commence until a Detailed Arboricultural Method Statement with 
Tree Protection Plan following the recommendations contained within BS 5837:2012 has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
arboricultural method statement shall incorporate a provisional programme of works; 
supervision and monitoring details by an Arboricultural Consultant and provision of site 
visit records and certificates of completion to the local planning authority. The statement 
should include the control of potentially harmful operations such as site preparation 
(including demolition, clearance and level changes); the storage, handling and mixing of 
materials on site, burning, location of site office, service run locations including soakaway 
locations and movement of people and machinery. No development or other operations 
shall thereafter take place except in complete accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure that trees to be retained are not adversely affected by the 
development proposals in accordance with Policy NE.4 of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Local Plan. This is a condition precedent because the works comprising the 
development have the potential to harm retained trees. Therefore these details need to be 
agreed before work commences. 
 
 3 Arboriculture - Compliance with Arb Method Statement (Pre-occupation) 
The approved development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan.  No occupation of the 
approved development shall commence until a signed certificate of compliance by the 
appointed Arboriculturalist has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure that trees to be retained are not adversely affected by the 
development proposals in accordance with Policy NE.4 of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Local Plan. To ensure that the approved method statement is complied with for 
the duration of the development. 
 
 4 Hard and Soft Landscaping (Pre-occcupation) 
No occupation shall commence until a hard and soft landscape scheme has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority showing details of all 
trees, hedgerows and other planting to be retained; a planting specification to include 
numbers, size, species and positions of all new trees and shrubs, details of existing and 
proposed walls, fences, other boundary treatment and surface treatment of the open parts 
of the site, and a programme of implementation. 
 
Reason: To ensure the provision of an appropriate landscape setting to the development 
in accordance with Policies D.2 and D.4 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
 5 Hard and Soft Landscaping (Compliance) 
All hard and/or soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of any part of the 
development or in accordance with the programme (phasing) agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority. Any trees or plants indicated on the approved scheme which, 
within a period of five years from the date of the development being completed, die, are 
removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced during the next 
planting season with other trees or plants of a species and size to be first approved in 

Page 112



writing by the Local Planning Authority. All hard landscape works shall be permanently 
retained in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the landscape scheme is implemented and maintained in 
accordance with Policies D.2 and D.4 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
 6 Highways - Bound/Compacted Vehicle Access (Pre-occupation) 
No occupation of the development shall commence until the vehicular access has been 
constructed with a bound and compacted surfacing material (not loose stone or gravel). 
 
Reason: To prevent loose material spilling onto the highway in the interests of highways 
safety in accordance with Policy T.24 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
 7 Highways - Parking (Compliance) 
The areas allocated for parking and turning on the submitted plan shall be kept clear of 
obstruction and shall not be used other than for the parking of vehicles in connection with 
the development hereby permitted. 
 
Reason: To ensure sufficient parking and turning areas are retained at all times in the 
interests of amenity and highways safety in accordance with Policy T.24 of the Bath and 
North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
 8 Highways - Residents Welcome Pack (Pre-occupation) 
No occupation of the approved development shall commence until a new resident's 
welcome pack has been issued to the first occupier/purchaser of each residential unit of 
accommodation.  The new resident's welcome pack shall have previously been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and shall include information of 
bus and train timetable information, information giving examples of fares/ticket options, 
information on cycle routes, a copy of the Travel Smarter publication, car share, car club 
information etc., to encourage residents to try public transport. 
 
Reason: To encourage the use of public transport in the interests of sustainable 
development in accordance with Policy T.1 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local 
Plan 
 
 9 Highways - Visibility splays (Pre-occupation) 
 
The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the visibility splays shown 
on the submitted plan (F1123/116A submitted under ref. 
15/03416/FUL) have been provided with no obstruction to visibility at or above a height of 
600mm above the nearside carriageway level. The visibility splays shall thereafter be 
maintained free of obstruction at all times. 
 
Reason: To ensure visibility is maintained in the interests of highways safety in 
accordance with Policy T.24 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
10 Flood Risk and Drainage - Infiltration Testing (Pre-commencement) 
No development shall commence, except ground investigations and remediation, until 
infiltration testing and soakaway design in accordance with Building regulations Part H, 
section 3 (3.30) have been undertaken to verify that soakaways will be suitable for the 

Page 113



development. If the infiltration test results demonstrate that soakaways are not 
appropriate, an alternative method of surface water drainage, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and installed prior to the occupation of 
the development. 
 
Reason: To ensure that an appropriate method of surface water drainage is installed and 
in the interests of flood risk management in accordance with Policy CP5 of the Bath and 
North East Somerset Core Strategy. This is a condition precedent because it is necessary 
to understand whether soakaways are appropriate prior to any initial construction works 
which may prejudice the surface water drainage strategy. 
 
11 Flood Risk and Drainage - Surface Water Discharge Rates (Pre-commencement) 
No development shall commence, except ground investigations, until written confirmation 
from the sewerage company (Wessex Water) accepting the surface water discharge into 
their network including point of connection and rate has been submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority. If the sewerage company are not able to accept the proposed surface 
water discharge, an alternative method of surface water drainage, which has first been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, shall be installed 
prior to the occupation of the development. 
 
Reason: To ensure that an appropriate method of surface water drainage is installed and 
in the interests of flood risk management in accordance with Policy CP5 of the Bath and 
North East Somerset Core Strategy. This is a condition precedent because it is necessary 
to understand whether the discharge rates are appropriate prior to any initial construction 
works which may prejudice the surface water drainage strategy. 
 
12 Flood Warning Evacuation Plan (Pre-occupation) 
No occupation of the development shall commence until a Flood Warning Evacuation Plan 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  This plan 
shall address the matters required pursuant to section 10 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and the National Planning Practice Guidance.  Thereafter the approved Flood 
Warning Evacuation Plan shall be implemented in perpetuity. 
 
Reason: To limit the risk of flooding by ensuring the provision of satisfactory means of 
flood management and incident response on the site in accordance with paragraph 17 and 
section 10 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
13 Highways - Construction Management Plan (Pre-commencement) 
No development shall commence until a Construction Management Plan has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and shall include 
details of deliveries (including storage arrangements and timings), contractor parking, 
traffic management, working hours, site opening times, wheel wash facilities and site 
compound arrangements. The development shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance 
with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure that safe operation of the highway and in the interests of protecting 
residential amenity in accordance with Policies T.24 and D.2 of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Local Plan. This is a condition precedent because any initial construction or 
demolition works could have a detrimental impact upon highways safety and/or residential 
amenity. 

Page 114



 
14 Ecological and Protected Species (Bats) Mitigation Scheme (Bespoke trigger) 
 
Prior to the commencement of any works including site clearance, demolition or 
construction on site, an Ecological and Protected Species (Bats) Mitigation Scheme, 
produced by a suitably experienced ecologist (licensed bat worker) shall be submitted to 
and approved by the Local Planning Authority. This shall be accompanied by either (a) a 
copy of the European Protected Species licence required for the works in accordance with 
the Habitat and Species Regulations 2010, or (b) written confirmation that the works do 
not require an European Protected Species 
licence, and shall also include: 
 
1. Full and completed ecological and bat survey findings, including update surveys if 
applicable 
2. Full details of proposed bat mitigation for example a European protected species 
licence application method statement, together with specifications for replacement bat 
roost provision, with full details to be shown on scale plans and drawings as applicable 
3. Full details of all other necessary ecological and wildlife protection and mitigation 
4. Details of proposed soft landscaping and lighting design, with the objective of providing 
suitable, dark, bat flight-corridor habitats, connecting roost locations to adjacent 
vegetation, and designed to encourage long term use of the roost spaces by bats and to 
minimise risk of roost 
failure. 
 
The development shall thereafter be implemented only in accordance with the approved 
Ecological and Protected Species (Bats) Mitigation Scheme. 
 
Reason: to safeguard ecology and protected species including bats and their roosts 
 
 
15 Ecological follow up report (Bespoke trigger) 
 
Prior to occupation of the development, an ecological follow-up report produced by a 
suitably experienced ecologist (licensed bat worker) confirming and demonstrating, using 
photographs where appropriate, that works have been carried out in accordance with the 
Ecological and 
Protected Species (Bats) Mitigation Scheme, and all necessary ecological measures have 
been implemented and incorporated into the scheme, shall be submitted to the local 
planning authority and approved in writing prior to occupation of the development. 
 
Reason: to ensure the ecological and protected species mitigation scheme is satisfactorily 
implemented 
 
16 Removal of Permitted Development Rights - No extentions or alterations 
(Compliance) 
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or 
without modification) no extension, external alteration or enlargement of the dwelling(s) or 
other buildings  hereby approved shall be carried out unless a further planning permission 
has been granted by the Local Planning Authority. 

Page 115



 
Reason: Any further extensions require detailed consideration by the Local Planning 
Authority because further development could result in overdevelopment of the site. 
 
17 Noise Mitigation (Pre-occupation) 
 
No development shall take place on site until a scheme to protect future residents of plot 3 
from noise has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The scheme shall be implemented as approved before the development is brought into 
use. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the occupiers of this unit are protected against any noise from the 
adjacent commercial use. 
 
18 Materials - Submission of Schedule and Samples (Bespoke Trigger) 
 
Notwithstanding the approved plans, no construction of the external walls of the 
development shall commence until a schedule of materials and finishes, and samples of 
the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces, including roofs, have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall thereafter be carried out only in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the surrounding area 
in accordance with Policies D.2 and D.4 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan 
and Policy CP6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy. 
 
19 Screening (Pre-occupation) 
 
The dwellings hereby approved shall not be occupied until details of all proposed 
boundary treatment has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The development shall thereafter be carried out only in accordance with the 
approved details. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the surrounding area, 
and to protect residential amenity, in accordance with Policies D.2 and D.4 of the Bath and 
North East Somerset Local Plan and Policy CP6 of the Bath and North East Somerset 
Core Strategy. 
 
20 Water Efficiency - Rainwater Harvesting (Pre-occupation) 
No occupation of the approved dwellings shall commence until a scheme for rainwater 
harvesting or other methods of capturing rainwater for use by residents (eg. Water butts) 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
development shall thereafter be constructed in accordance with the approved details. 
Reason:  In the interests of water efficiency in accordance with Policy SCR5 of the 
Placemaking Plan. 
 
21 Plans List (Compliance) 
The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance with 
the plans as set out in the plans list below. 
 

Page 116



Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
 0  Revised Drawing    15 Nov 2016    F1123/100F    PROPOSED SITE PLANS AND 
SECTION  
15 Nov 2016    F1123/101E    PROPOSED SITE SECTION AND SCHEDULES    
15 Nov 2016    F1123/112D    PROPOSED PLANS AND ELEVATIONS PLOT      
15 Nov 2016    F1123/115D    PROPOSED PLANS AND SECTIONS PLOTS 5 AND   
15 Nov 2016    F1123/116D    PROPOSED SITE PLAN SHOWING VEHICULAR 
MOVEMENTS 
 
 0 You are advised that as of 6 April 2015, the Bath & North East Somerset Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule came into effect. Full details about the CIL 
Charge including, amount and process for payment will be sent out in a CIL Liability 
Notice which you will receive shortly. Further details are available here: 
www.bathnes.gov.uk/cil 
 
 0 Works or demolition must not commence to any buildings on the site until an EPS 
licence has been obtained. 
 
 0 Condition Categories 
The heading of each condition gives an indication of the type of condition and what is 
required by it. There are 4 broad categories: 
 
Compliance - The condition specifies matters to which you must comply. These conditions 
do not require the submission of additional details and do not need to be discharged. 
 
Pre-commencement - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before any work begins on the approved development. 
The condition will list any specific works which are exempted from this restriction, e.g. 
ground investigations, remediation works, etc. 
 
Pre-occupation - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before occupation of all or part of the approved 
development.  
 
Bespoke Trigger - The condition contains a bespoke trigger which requires the submission 
and approval of further information, drawings or details before a specific action occurs.  
 
Please note all conditions should be read fully as these headings are intended as a guide 
only. 
 
Where approval of further information is required you will need to submit a conditions 
application and pay the relevant fee, details of the fee can be found on the "what happens 
after permission" pages of the Council's Website.  You can submit your conditions 
application via the Planning Portal at www.planningportal.co.uk or send it direct to 
planning_registration@bathnes.gov.uk.  Alternatively this can be sent by post to The 
Planning Registration Team, Planning Services, Lewis House, Manvers Street, Bath, BA1 
1JG. 

Page 117



 
 0 In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied 
with the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Framework. 
 
 
 

Item No:   04 

Application No: 16/04261/FUL 

Site Location: Unit 2 Lymore Gardens Twerton Bath BA2 1AQ 

 

 

Ward: Westmoreland  Parish: N/A  LB Grade: N/A 

Ward Members: Councillor Colin Blackburn Councillor June Player  

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Erection of 5No Three-bedroom, 2No Two-bedroom and 1No One-
bedroom flat following conversion and adaptation of warehouse 

Constraints: Affordable Housing, Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Article 4, Contaminated 
Land, Forest of Avon, Hotspring Protection, LLFA - Flood Risk 
Management, MOD Safeguarded Areas, SSSI - Impact Risk Zones, 
World Heritage Site,  

Applicant:  B Hammick 

Expiry Date:  10th February 2017 

Case Officer: Christine Moorfield 

 
REPORT 
This application is presented to Committee as the Chair of Committee has noted the Ward 
Councillors detailed reasons for requesting the application to be determined by the DM 
Committee. The Officer's report has addressed many of the points raised however the 
application has attracted a number of comments as the change of use of the building is 
thought by some to be controversial and therefore it is considered by the Chair that the 
application be determined by Committee so the issues can be debated fully. 
 

Page 118



The application seeks permission to convert an existing warehouse unit to residential 
accommodation which will comprise 8 no. residential units located at Unit 2, Lymore 
Gardens, Twerton, Bath. The proposals also include the provision of 8 no. parking spaces 
(7 within the proposed garage area plus one to the rear of unit 4). The ratio of parking is 1 
space allocated to each unit. 
 
The application site is located within the Bath World Heritage Site but not the 
Conservation Area.  
 
There is no relevant planning application history in relation to this site. However, PRE APP 
(16/00088/PREAPP) advice was given in respect of the conversion of this building into 
residential units. The scheme as indicated comprised the conversion of the warehouse to 
create around 15-20 studio and 1 or 2 bedroom flats and this was considered to be too 
many units. The applicant was advised that the principle of a residential conversion was 
considered acceptable in this location, subject to the off-street parking requirements being 
met and an appropriate level of residential amenity being achieved for the future residents. 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
Comments from Cllr Player  
Cllr Player has commented that should the case officer be minded to approve this 
application then it is requested that it goes to Committee on the grounds that it is contrary 
to saved Policies T. 24 & T.26 and D.2 & D.4 of the Bath & North East Somerset Local 
Plan including minerals and waste, Adopted October 2007. 
The main issues raised by Cllr Player are as follows but the full comments can be seen on 
the Councils Website. 
 
Recycling and waste-The proposed location and storage space available is inadequate for 
this development. 
 
Impact of the industrial units on the residential properties.-The proposed development is 
likely to result in a conflict between the residents and the industrial units to the rear of the 
site. 
 
Highway safety and parking-At present there is high demand for on street parking in this 
area due to the high level of student accommodation. This situation will be exacerbated by 
this development due to the increase in residents trying to park within the locality. The 
level of parking provision, 1 space per unit, is unacceptable. The increase in traffic will be 
dangerous and there may be less on street parking as a result of this proposal. The 
parking layout is unacceptable and unusable. 
 
The garage-The residents in the development are likely to cause congestion if they have 
to get out of their cars to open the garage door. The details in respect of the door are 
inadequate. 
 
The balconies-The balconies should not be an alternative to amenity space. They will 
impact on the industrial units to the rear as residents are likely to complain if there is 
disturbance. The balconies indicate the type of residential units proposed and these are 
indicated not to be family houses. The layout of the units are not accessible to all. 
 

Page 119



Cycle store-Cycle storage should not be seen as an alternative to parking provision. It is 
unrealistic to assume cycle storage provision will reduce car ownership/traffic generation. 
 
The acceptability of this residential conversion-There were issues previously raised in 
relation to the residential units adjacent to industrial uses contrary to the applicant’s 
statement. There have been issues in relation to the two uses being located adjacent to 
each other. The history of the nearby residential accommodation has been wrongly stated. 
 
Design and site layout-This proposal is over intensification of the site. This type of 
residency is not in keeping with this locality. The only flats in the area are next door and 
are similar to this proposal but these were used unlawfully for residential use for a number 
of years before action was taken. 
 
Ecology-Concerned expressed that no Bat/Protected Species Survey has been carried 
out. 
 
Drainage-It is understood that a stream runs under or very close to this Unit which seems 
to have been ignored. 
 
NEIGHBOURS 
5 Letters of support have been received 
-The proposed units would contribute to needed homes in Bath 
-These types of units allow people to get on the property ladder. 
3 letters of comments have been received and 20 letters of objection have been received. 
The main issues raised are as follows: 
-Industrial units should be retained 
-Impact of adjacent industrial units due to noise small dust etc. will cause future problems  
-Units have a lot of bed spaces therefore could be occupied by a lot of people 
-Given the number of possible resident's professionals possibly sharing there could be a 
massive number of cars generated 
-Is this student accommodation and there is too much student accommodation in this 
area. 
-Difficult access for emergency vehicles 
-Difficulty accessing the site with construction vehicles 
-Need for visibility splays will impact on parking 
-Over development of the site. 
-The site is prone to flash flooding and a water course runs beneath the building. 
-Bats in the area 
-This is a very busy area for traffic given the proximity of the school 
-Letters of support are not from locals 
-The car parking space to the rear blocks the adjacent units' fire exit 
-There should be a traffic impact statement 
-Design of units at odds with Victoria Character of the building and area. 
-Possible overlooking and loss of privacy for residents. 
-The parking area as shown to the rear of the building is not within the applicant's 
ownership 
-Detract from the character of the area 
-If the gates are locked the car will not be able to access the 8th car space 
-Issues at a nearby site should not dictate a specific judgement in respect of this proposal 
-The waste bin arrangement is unacceptable 

Page 120



-Family housing would be preferable. 
-Impact on street parking which is limited and inadequate for level of use 
-Traffic safety issues and traffic generation 
 
 
CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
 
HOUSING- No Comment 
 
ECOLOGY- No Comment 
 
ARCHAEOLOGY- There are no known archaeological sites or monuments in the 
immediate vicinity that are likely to be affected by the proposed development, and given 
the site has been previously developed, no further archaeological investigation or 
conditions will be required. 
 
 
HIGHWAYS- 
The application seeks permission to convert an existing warehouse unit to residential 
accommodation which will house 8 no. residential flats. The proposals also include the 
provision of 8 no. parking spaces (7 within the proposed garage plus one to the rear of 
unit 4) with 1 space been allocated to each unit. 
The applicant sought advice at pre-planning stage under ref. 16/00088/PREAPP. 
While Highways had no objection to the principle of the development, concerns were 
raised regarding the likely parking demand and the impact it may have on the adjacent 
public highway. As parking is uncontrolled in the immediate vicinity of the site (namely 
Lymore Gardens, Lymore Avenue and Ivy Gardens) and the demand for parking is 
already high, any increase would likely result in indiscriminate parking thus obstructing the 
movement of traffic at these locations. 
 
In respect of the scheme as originally submitted the Highway Engineer made the following 
recommendation- The applicant was asked to provide further information on the matters 
raised above in relation to parking and the provision of an adequate bin store to 
accommodate the 8 no. units proposed. Until such time as this information is received and 
subject to it satisfactorily meeting the requirements of Highways DC would not 
recommendation for approval. 
 
In response to these comments further information and amended plans were submitted. 
Highways considered these details in respect of the size of parking spaces and 
confirmation of the ownership and accessibility of the 8th space to be acceptable. The bin 
store has been relocated in line with these comments. 
 
EVIRONMENTAL HEALTH OFFICER- 
The proposed development site is bordered by existing industrial/commercial units which 
raises concern in respect of potential noise nuisance. It is difficult to quantify the potential 
noise impact in the absence of an appropriate assessment. 
Before any approval is issued, the applicant should be required to submit an assessment 
from a competent person to determine into which Noise Exposure Category in PPG24 the 
development falls. The noise exposure categories within PPG24 should be used to 
classify the development in relation to noise exposure. 

Page 121



If the assessment shows that the site falls into NEC C or D then refusal would be 
recommended on the grounds of excessive exposure to External Noise. 
If it is determined that for other planning reasons that this development should be granted 
planning permission and the assessment determines the site to be NEC C only, then an 
advise must be imposed as planning conditions to ensure a commensurate level of 
protection against noise. 
A noise survey has been submitted and as a result of this the EHO has not considered 
there to be an issue in this respect. 
 
WASTE- 
Currently there is space for 6x240L bins, when in fact there needs to be provision for 8 x 
140L which will then need to be presented kerbside not 25m around a corner obstructed 
by a parking space. 
Additionally there needs to be space for each property to have up to 188L of recycling 
provision, also to be presented kerbside. 
 
Officer note:  
In the light of these comments the bin store area was relocated and provision made to 
meet these requirements. 
 
DRAINAGE AND FLOODING- 
No in principal objection to the proposals and believe the redevelopment could offer good 
opportunities to make improvements to the existing surface water drainage regime with 
the use of more sustainable methods. 
It should be noted that Lymore Gardens is at a relatively high risk of surface water flooding 
(due to its relatively low position and slope). 
It must be demonstrated that the development will not increase surface water flood risk to 
the road or neighbouring land. Ideally all surface water will be managed on site and the 
applicant should be able to demonstrate betterment over existing surface water discharge 
rates. 
Given the risks near to the development a condition in respect of ground investigations is 
considered necessary. 
 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The Core Strategy now forms part of the statutory Development Plan 
and will be given full weight in the determination of planning applications. The Council's 
Development Plan now comprises: 
o Core Strategy 
o Saved Policies in the B&NES Local Plan (2007)* 
o Joint Waste Core Strategy 
The B&NES Local Plan policies that are replaced by policies in the Core Strategy are 
outlined in Appendix 1 of the Core Strategy. Those B&NES Local Plan policies that are not 
replaced and remain saved are listed in Appendix 2 of the Core Strategy: 
Relevant Local Plan Policies 
o D2 - General Design and public realm considerations 
o D4 - Townscape considerations 
o T24 - General development control and access policy 
o T26 -On-site Parking and servicing provision. 

Page 122



Relevant Core Strategy Policies: 
CP6 - Environmental Quality 
B4 - Impact of development on the World Heritage Site 
CP2 - Sustainable Construction 
 
RELEVANT PLACEMAKING PLAN POLICIES 
 
Following the Examination hearings the Inspector has now issued her Interim Statement 
and has advised the Council of her recommended Main Modifications required to make 
the plan sound. The Main Modifications and Minor Proposed Changes are now subject to 
public consultation prior to the Inspector issuing her Final Report. The following policies 
can now be given substantial weight: 
 
D1 : General Urban Design Principles 
D2 : Local Character and Distinctiveness 
D6 : Amenity 
ST1 : Promoting Sustainable Travel 
ST7 : Transport Requirements For Managing Development 
 
LEGAL FRAMEWORK 
Town and Country Planning Act, 1990 
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK 
The NPPF has been considered in light of this application but does not raise any issues 
that conflict with the aforementioned local policies which remain extant. 
NATIONAL PLANNING PRACTICE GUIDANCE, 2014 
Due consideration has been given to the recently published NPPG, March 2014 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
The main issues in relation to this proposal are as follows 
The principle of the conversion of this building to residential 
Access traffic generation and parking 
Impact on residential amenity 
Drainage  
 
The principle of the conversion of this building to residential  
 
Unit 2 is currently a 464.5 square metres warehouse which was used for commercial 
purposes. The warehouse use has been confirmed by residents and therefore on balance 
it is accepted that the authorised use is B8 warehouse. There are no specific policies 
which would prohibit the conversion of this warehouse to residential and saved policy 
HG12 allows such changes. 
 
The application site is located within the housing development boundary where residential 
development is permissible in principle under saved Policy HG.12. This policy states that 
the conversion of non-residential buildings is generally accepted where the proposal is 
compatible with the character and amenities of adjacent established uses.   
Development will only be permitted where it: 
- Responds to the local context in terms of appearance, materials, siting, spacing and 
layout. 
- The appearance of extensions respects and complements their host building. 

Page 123



 
The alterations proposed to facilitate this use are addressed below. This is a conversion of 
an existing building and therefore the mass bulk materials use and general appearance of 
the building remains primarily as existing. The main alterations proposed are to the rear of 
the premises.  
Policy HG.12 
Conversion of non-residential buildings is considered appropriate where it: 
- is compatible with the character and amenities of adjacent established uses, taking into 
account the development itself together with any recent or proposed similar development; 
- is not detrimental to the residential amenities of future occupants. 
The proposed conversion of this building into residential units is considered acceptable. 
The application is for 8 residential units (C3) use. These units have to be considered on 
this basis and the fact that there has been reference within the application to these units 
not providing family housing this matter does not impact on the principle of residential 
units in this location. Who occupies the units is not a matter for consideration in relation to 
this application. 
 
Access traffic generation and parking 
 
The proposals includes the provision of 8 no. parking spaces (7 within the proposed 
garage plus one to the rear of unit 4) with 1 space been allocated to each unit. 
 
The Highway Engineer has raised no objection to the principle of the development, 
however concerns were initially raised regarding the likely parking demand and the impact 
it may have on the adjacent public highway. As parking is uncontrolled in the immediate 
vicinity of the site (namely Lymore Gardens, Lymore Avenue and Ivy Gardens) and the 
demand for parking is already high, any increase would likely result in indiscriminate 
parking thus obstructing the movement of traffic in this location. 
Based on the area of the existing warehouse unit, the current maximum parking demand 
based on policy T.26 of the Local Plan is 2 to 3 spaces (Use Class B8) while the 
maximum parking demand for the proposed scheme is 15 spaces. 
 
While the demand for parking associated with the proposed residential development is 
significantly greater than that for the existing use (up to 5 times greater), Highways 
Development Control have acknowledged that the actual difference in shortfall in not 
considered so severe (less than double the existing) to warrant refusal of this application.  
With just one space per unit being available, future residents may even make a conscious 
decision not to have a vehicle or just to restrict vehicle ownership to one for each unit. 
 
It is also likely that the reduction in vehicular movements associated with a B8 use (which 
would typically be larger commercial vehicles) will improve the safety and operation of the 
local highway network. Overall it is envisaged that the reduction in such trips associated 
with the existing warehouse use will outweigh any concerns in relation to a parking 
shortfall of just 3 to 4 spaces (relative to the existing shortfall). 
 
The site is located in a highly sustainable location having good access to a wide range of 
services, facilities, employment opportunities and public transport. In addition to the 
various bus links that serve the locality, Oldfield Park railway station is located 
approximately 900m from the site which serves urban centres such as Bath, Bristol and 
Keynsham. 

Page 124



 
The proposal to provide secure and convenient storage facilities for bicycles is 
acknowledged as this will encourage future occupants to use more sustainable modes of 
transport as opposed to relying on a private vehicle for day-to-day travel needs. 
 
Initially the spaces provided were considered acceptable in number i.e. one space per unit 
but sub-standard in size and they have since been amended to comply with the Manual 
for Streets size of 2.4m x 4.8m. Concerns were expressed in relation to the space located 
to the rear of unit 4. The location was questioned but further information has shown that 
the area is within the ownership of the applicant and the owners have a right of access to 
this area which will provide cycle storage space and a car parking space.to access this 
area. Furthermore, the bin store which was indicated at the rear has been relocated and 
shown on a revised plan. 
 
Interested parties have questioned how the garage door will work. The door is shown on 
the plans to be a sliding door with a pedestrian door in it and there is no reason to assume 
this means of access to the building should not work. 
 
The parking provision in association with this proposed conversion is seen to be 
acceptable and to comply with saved policy T.26 of the Local Plan.  
 
During the consideration process of this application the Place Making Plan has 
progressed and the standards stipulated for new residential development for parking 
(minimum standards) are significantly higher than that proposed within this scheme. In this 
situation the proposal cannot provide the level of off street car parking spaces that the 
Place Making Plans seeks.  
 
This scheme results in the retention of this building and this substantial benefit has to be 
weighed against the limited scope for providing the level of car parking provision within 
this site. The judgement is that the provision of one space per unit coupled with the 
potential loss of heavy vehicles which could be generated by the warehouse use of the 
building in this sustainable location would not warrant the refusal of this application. Thus 
the overall impact in terms of vehicular movements is likely to be negligible and not to 
compromise highway safety within the locality. 
 
To conclude, while the shortfall in parking is a concern, Highways DC envisage that this 
will not have a detrimental impact on the safety and operation of the local highway 
network. The reduction in potential vehicles associated with the current use of the property 
outweighs the concerns relating to the parking shortfall.  
 
Character, Design and Appearance 
 
The existing warehouse is considered to make a positive contribution to the streetscape 
character of Lymore Gardens. The building forms part of an industrial/commercial block of 
warehouse type buildings. The surrounding area consists of residential dwellings in the 
form of two storey terrace blocks to the north, south and west. The key structural 
components of this building are considered to be in good condition. Therefore the 
conversion of this building as opposed to redevelopment of the site is supported. The 
current size and scale of the existing warehouse building is shown to be retained by this 
proposal. 

Page 125



  
The proposed alterations are primarily internal with works to the external envelope being 
minimal. The proposed alterations are considered sympathetic to the character and 
appearance of the building and will retain its historic/industrial appearance and visual 
presence within the street. 
 
The building has a wide spanned roof, with a ridge running parallel to the road, and is high 
enough to provide two floors of accommodation and a central room in the roof space 
above. Over the parking area flats 7 and 8 will be wider (2 truss spaces) but only use the 
first floor and roof space and therefore these 2 units are the smaller two bedroomed units 
proposed. The rest of the building will be sub-divided in a modular form between the main 
trusses. Unit 6 having one bedroom whilst units 1-5 use the building's full depth and 
include two bedrooms (a double and single) with a family bathroom on the ground floor, an 
open plan kitchen, dining and living space above, with access to the third bedroom 
centrally positioned in the roof space.  
 
Externally, the rear loading bay is to be removed and this is seen as a benefit. The 
upgrading and opening up of the end lean-to (behind the walling) between the application 
building and unit 4 to the north will provide a shared access with bike storage and refuse 
waste bin storage. A more centrally positioned pedestrian access to the flats will be 
introduced directly off Lymore Gardens.  
 
The existing window openings to the front elevation and south of this access, serving the 
internal parking area will be effectively infilled, with a similar treatment to the  new 'garage' 
door which spans two of the recessed panels that are at present adjacent to Lymore 
Gardens. To the north of the pedestrian doorway the windows are glazed with a new 
balanced three light casement unit, serving the front ground floor bedrooms. 
 
The existing warehouse already has a series of translucent panels in the roof to the front 
and back. These will be replaced with a regular pattern of new roof lights across the 
middle of the roof slope to the front elevation. These will be high level openings which are 
not considered to result in an unacceptable level of privacy for existing and or proposed 
residents. To the rear a similar regular pattern of new roof lights will be in a line across the 
roof. The applicants have sought to introduce 6No inverted dormers, which provide light 
into the building and also provide a small sitting out amenity space. Subject to details of 
the materials to be used for the garage door and details of glazing to be provided across 
the balcony areas these details are considered acceptable. 
 
The building immediately behind the warehouse, has a lower ridge line and eaves, and 
has a series of mono-pitched roofs (northern lights) and these allow limited views through 
the roof valleys towards the open space beyond and the rear gardens of the terraced 
housing on Claude Avenue. 
 
Any residential proposal has to be considered to comply with saved local plan policies 
along with Place Making Plan policies which now have substantial weight. In this respect 
the units as proposed are considered to comply with saved Local Plan Policies D2 and 
D4. The proposal is also seen to comply with policies D1 and D2 of the draft Place Making 
Plan. 
 
Residential Amenity 

Page 126



 
The surrounding area consists of other commercial and industrial related uses. These 
uses are located to the rear and side of the subject site and would therefore be relatively 
screened from view. The Environmental Health Officer has commented that there are 
potential concerns in respect of potential noise nuisance.  
 
The noise assessment submitted has been considered and it demonstrates that noise 
need not be considered as an issue in respect of this development. Therefore the 
Environmental Health Officer has not made any further comments in respect of the 
application. However a condition in respect of the provision of sound attenuation 
measures is considered necessary to safeguard the amenity of residents. 
 
The provisions of rear balcony windows provide an outlook to the rear. Windows on the 
rear elevation face onto the roof of the neighbouring warehouse. Whilst this may not 
create overlooking issues in relation to loss of privacy, it is noted that this outlook is limited 
for future residents. However the agent has agreed to the provision of some glazed 
screening to help reduce any disturbance from the adjoining business premises. 
 
In respect of the PREAPP the applicant was advised that there is a possibility of 
contamination on the site and as such given the previous commercial use of this site, it is 
suggested that a condition requiring a desk top study should be attached to any 
permission granted. 
 
The proposal includes high level roof lights to the front roof slope/elevation and this will 
provide lighting to the accommodation but is not considered to detract from the amenity at 
present enjoyed by residents on the opposite side of the road through loss of privacy. 
 
 
Drainage 
 
Concerns have been raised by interested parties that there is an underground water 
course in close proximity to the site and as it was a laundry building in the past there are 
drainage issues in relation to this building. The drainage engineer has no in principal 
objection to the proposals and has commented that the redevelopment could offer good 
opportunities to make improvements to the existing surface water drainage regime with 
the use of more sustainable methods. It is stated that Lymore Gardens is at a relatively 
high risk of surface water flooding (due to its relatively low position and slope). 
 
The drainage engineer has commented that it must be demonstrated that the 
development will not increase surface water flood risk to the road or neighbouring land 
and ideally all surface water should be managed on site and betterment should be 
provided over the existing surface water discharge rates. A condition in relation to this 
matter is necessary. 
 
Other matters raised 
 
Ecology- No comments have been received from the council's ecologist in respect of this 
proposal although bats were raised as an issue by neighbours. 
 

Page 127



Fire escape for adjacent unit- a fire escape door exists on the rear elevation of the 
adjacent unit. Whilst this door is evident and there has been a sign attached above the 
door which indicates it is a fire door, it does exit onto land that the agent has confirmed is 
within the applicant's ownership. The proposed car parking space as shown which is 
located in the position of an existing loading bay will not obstruct the door but will allow 
access past the car. Therefore the use of this area and any legal rights of way are civil 
matters between the owners. As the layout drawing shows it is not considered that the 
provision of a car parking space in this location should obstruct this door making it 
unusable however it is considered appropriate for a condition to be attached to any 
permission granted to ensure that the access area adjacent to the car parking space is 
kept clear of obstructions. 
 
Local History- Reference has been made to residential use at Unit 1 Quality Food at 
Lymore Gardens. This residential use which had not secured the necessary planning 
permission was investigated by the Councils Enforcement Officer. However the case was 
closed because following further investigation it was determined that the residential units 
had been in situ in excess of four years and therefore exempt from further formal 
enforcement action.  The use of these premises had not been the subject of the necessary 
considerations should a planning application been submitted for the use. 
 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

PERMIT 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
 1 Standard Time Limit (Compliance) 
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) and to avoid the accumulation of unimplemented planning permission 
 
 2 Plans List (Compliance) 
The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance with 
the plans as set out in the plans list below. 
 
Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
 3 Sound attenuation (Prior to occupation) 
On completion of the works but prior to any occupation of the approved development, the 
applicant shall submit to and have approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, an 
assessment from a competent person to demonstrate that the development has been 
constructed to provide sound attenuation against external noise in accordance with 
BS8233:2014. The 
following levels shall be achieved: Maximum internal noise levels of 35dBLAeq,16hr and 
30dBLAeq,8hr for living rooms and bedrooms during the daytime and night time 
respectively. For bedrooms at night individual noise events (measured with F time-
weighting) shall not (normally) exceed 45dBLAmax. 
 

Page 128



Reason: To protect future occupants of the development from exposure to external noise. 
 
 4 Ground investigations /drainage (Pre commencement) 
No development shall commence, except ground investigations and remediation, until an 
appropriate method of surface water drainage has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority and installed prior to the occupation of the 
development. 
 
Reason: To ensure that an appropriate method of surface water drainage is installed and 
in the interests of flood risk management in accordance with Policy CP5 of the Bath and 
North East Somerset Core Strategy. 
 
 5 Contaminated Land (Compliance) 
Prior to the commencement of development a Desk Study and Site Reconnaissance 
(Phase 1 Investigation) survey shall be undertaken to develop a conceptual site model 
and preliminary risk assessment. A Phase I investigation should provide a preliminary 
qualitative assessment of risk by interpreting information on a site's history considering the 
likelihood of pollutant linkages being present. The Phase I investigation typically consists 
of a desk study, site walkover, development of a conceptual model and preliminary risk 
assessment. The site walkover survey should be conducted to identify if there are any 
obvious signs of contamination at the surface, within the property or along the boundary of 
neighbouring properties.  
Should any contamination be found then mitigation measures must be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority thereafter the development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the measures as identified.  
 
Reason To ensure that the land is suitable for the intended uses and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours 
and other offsite receptors and in accordance with section 11 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 
 
 6 Highways - Parking (Compliance) 
The areas allocated for parking and turning on the submitted plan shall be kept clear of 
obstruction and shall not be used other than for the parking of vehicles in connection with 
the development hereby permitted. 
 
Reason: To ensure sufficient parking and turning areas are retained at all times in the 
interests of amenity and highways safety in accordance with Policy T.24 of the Bath and 
North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
 7 Parking (Pre-occupation) 
No occupation of the development shall commence until the par parking space associated 
with that number unit has been provided on-site and must be retained permanently 
thereafter. 
 
Reason: To ensure that adequate and safe parking is provided in the interests of amenity 
and highway safety in accordance with Policies T.26 and T.24 of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Local Plan. 
 
 8 Materials (Compliance) 

Page 129



All work of making good shall be finished to match Unit 2 Lymore Gardens in respect of 
type, size, colour, pointing, coursing, jointing, profile and texture. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the surrounding area 
in accordance with Policies D.2 and D.4 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan 
and Policy CP6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy. 
 
 9 Materials - Submission of Schedule and Samples (Bespoke Trigger) 
No use of the garage area shall commence until details of the materials and finishes of the 
materials to be used in the construction of the sliding door have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be 
carried out only in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the surrounding area 
in accordance with Policies D.2 and D.4 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan 
and Policy CP6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy. 
 
10 balcony materials and details - (Prior to first occupation) 
Flats 1-5 shall not be first occupied until details of glazed screening to be placed accross 
the balcony areas have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The development shall thereafter be carried out only in accordance with the 
approved details prior to first occupation of these units. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the surrounding area 
in accordance with Policies D.2 and D.4 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan 
and Policy CP6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy. 
 
11 Bicycle Storage and waste storage (Pre-occupation) 
No occupation of the development shall commence until the bicycle storage and storage 
for waste bins has been provided in accordance with the details which have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The bicycle and 
waste storage shall be retained permanently thereafter. 
 
Reason: To secure adequate waste storage on site and off-street parking provision for 
bicycles to promote sustainable transport use in accordance with Policy T.6 of the Bath 
and North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
12 Emergency Escape  (Compliance) 
The strip of land adjacent to car parking space 8 to the rear of the premises shall be kept 
clear of obstructions at all time in order to provide emergency egress from the 
neighbouring building. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the exit from the adjacent building in the event of an emergency. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
 1 PLANS 001  002  003  004  005  006  007B  008B  009B  015B  010A  011A  012A  
013A  014  017  018 and 016. 
 
 2 Condition Categories 

Page 130



The heading of each condition gives an indication of the type of condition and what is 
required by it. There are 4 broad categories: 
 
Compliance - The condition specifies matters to which you must comply. These conditions 
do not require the submission of additional details and do not need to be discharged. 
 
Pre-commencement - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before any work begins on the approved development. 
The condition will list any specific works which are exempted from this restriction, e.g. 
ground investigations, remediation works, etc. 
 
Pre-occupation - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before occupation of all or part of the approved 
development.  
 
Bespoke Trigger - The condition contains a bespoke trigger which requires the submission 
and approval of further information, drawings or details before a specific action occurs.  
 
Please note all conditions should be read fully as these headings are intended as a guide 
only. 
 
Where approval of further information is required you will need to submit a conditions 
application and pay the relevant fee, details of the fee can be found on the "what happens 
after permission" pages of the Council's Website.  You can submit your conditions 
application via the Planning Portal at www.planningportal.co.uk or send it direct to 
planning_registration@bathnes.gov.uk.  Alternatively this can be sent by post to The 
Planning Registration Team, Planning Services, Lewis House, Manvers Street, Bath, BA1 
1JG. 
 
 3 In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied 
with the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Framework. 
 
 4  
We would strongly advise the applicant to review the West of England Sustainable 
Drainage Developer guide. 
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-
Control/Planning-Policy/LDFGeneral/bd6457_woe_developer_guide_complete_72dpi.pdf 
 
This document details the standards we would expect the developer to meet. In particular, 
at full application stage we would expect the applicant to have carried out an initial 
investigation into the existing surface water drainage system and an estimate of current 
brownfield runoff rates. 
 
We would expect the applicant to have completed a 'Proof of concept' - see page 37 of the 
West of England Sustainable Drainage Developer guide. 
 
Environment Agency surface water flood risk mapping suggests that for a 1in100 year 
rainfall event, flood depths on Lymore Gardens could be up to 0.15m. Given this risk of 
flooding on Lymore Gardens, the applicant may want to consider the level of finished floor 

Page 131



levels and may wish to raise these to around 300mm above 1in100 depths. The applicant 
may also consider 
the influence of any drop curbs or driveways that may encourage flood water to enter the 
site. 
 
We would encourage the applicant to explore what opportunities there are to green parts 
of the site so that less water discharges straight to the sewer system. 
 
It is likely that the site currently drains surface water to a Wessex Water sewer. For any 
new proposed connections to the Wessex Water system, discharge rates and connection 
points must be agreed with Wessex Water. 
 
 
 

Item No:   05 

Application No: 16/05453/FUL 

Site Location: Box Bush Bromley Road Stanton Drew Bristol Bath And North East 
Somerset 

 

 

Ward: Clutton  Parish: Stanton Drew  LB Grade: N/A 

Ward Members: Councillor Karen Warrington  

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Erection of 2 storey annexe and single storey extension following 
demolition of existing single store annexe 

Constraints: Affordable Housing, Airport Safeguarding Zones, Airport 
Safeguarding Zones, Agric Land Class 1,2,3a, Coal - Standing Advice 
Area, Forest of Avon, Greenbelt, SSSI - Impact Risk Zones,  

Applicant:  Mr & Mrs Strickland 

Expiry Date:  10th February 2017 

Case Officer: Alice Barnes 

 

Page 132



REPORT 
Reason for reporting application to committee 
 
The application is being reported to the committee at the request of Councillor Karen 
Warrington.  
 
The application has been referred to the chair who has agreed that the application should 
be considered by the committee. 
 
Description of site and application 
 
Box Bush Farm is located within the southern part of Stanton Drew. It is a detached 
dwelling located within the Green Belt. It is located outside of the housing development 
boundary. The site is of a rural character and is surrounded by open fields on three sides 
with the road on the western boundary. The site comprises the main dwellinghouse, a 
number of outbuildings and a single storey annexe.  
 
This is an application for the erection of 2 storey annexe and single storey extension 
following demolition of existing single storey annexe. 
 
The existing annexe is currently a single storey property and was granted permission in 
1993. The application proposed to replace this with a two storey building to house a new 
residential annexe.  
 
A rear extension was permitted as part of application 13/02265/FUL, the application 
proposed to alter the siting of the proposed extension from the previous permission but 
the proposed extension is of a similar design and size to the previous permission.  
 
Relevant History 
 
AP - 12/00076/HOUSE - DISMIS - 30 November 2012 - Restoration, alteration and 
extension of existing house following removal of existing extensions and garages 
 
DC - 12/02056/FUL - RF - 17 July 2012 - Restoration, alteration and extension of existing 
house following removal of existing extensions and garages 
 
DC - 13/00048/FUL - RF - 4 March 2013 - Restoration, alteration and extension of existing 
house following removal of existing extensions and garages (resubmission). 
 
DC - 13/02265/FUL - PERMIT - 1 August 2013 - Alterations and extensions to existing 
dwelling following demolition of existing outbuildings and conservatory 
 
16473 - Conversion of redundant agricultural building to form residential annexe, 
permission 30/06/1993 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
Highways: 
 
The site is accessed from Bromley Road where visibility is substandard, particularly to the 
south with the existing single storey annex building greatly restricting visibility. The 

Page 133



proposal to demolish this annex building and reconstruct a new two storey annex set back 
approx. 1.5m from its existing position is acknowledged as this will vastly improve visibility 
to the south and thus benefit the safety of the public highway. It is recommended that the 
boundary wall (stone gable wall of existing annex) be reduced to a height of no greater 
than 900mm. The proposal to set back the hedgerow fronting the site to the north of the 
access is also acknowledged and will help maximise visibility to the north. 
 
Whilst the proposed development will result in an increase in residential accommodation 
on the site, it is noted that it is intended that the occupation of the residential annex is to 
remain ancillary to the occupation of the main dwelling as a single dwelling unit. As such, I 
do not consider that the proposed development will result in any material intensification in 
use of the site. Furthermore, it is believed that 
the benefits of the access improvements will outweigh any concerns relating to any 
increase in vehicular movements to and from the site. 
 
Overall, Highways DC believe that the proposed development will improve the safety of 
the public highway at this location with the relocation of the annex building and the 
realignment of the hedgerow fronting the site. 
 
Stanton Drew Parish Council: The Stanton Drew Parish Council support this planning 
application. Despite the site being outside the Housing Development Boundary the 
building massing does not overly dominate the main house and the plot, and the 
openness of the Green Belt is not harmed by the development. 
 
The design is in accordance with the emerging Neighbourhood Plan Design Statement 
and in keeping with the conditions suggested by Highways. With reference to the past 
planning application for the main house reference was made, by the planning officer, that 
the development could be seen from the footpath to the east of the site. The application 
was subsequently granted and markedly improved the views to the property. The present 
application for development is aesthetically pleasing and fitting within its setting. 
 
Councillor Karen Warrington: I support this application even though it is in Green Belt and 
outside the housing development boundary. The proposed extension will not harm the 
openness of the Green Belt, the current building sits in a large plot opposite residential 
properties. The situation of the development, with a hill behind, will not block any views. 
 
I understand the extension will allow elderly parents to live next door to potential carers 
with the added benefit that there will be an opportunity to increase the splay from the 
property onto the road and thus increase the visibility. 
 
Representations: No representations have been received  
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The Core Strategy now forms part of the statutory Development Plan 
and will be given full weight in the determination of planning applications. The Council's 
Development Plan now comprises: 
o Core Strategy 
o Saved Policies in the B&NES Local Plan (2007) 
o Joint Waste Core Strategy 

Page 134



 
The following policies of the Core Strategy are relevant to the determination of this 
application: 
 
CP6 - Environmental Quality 
CP8 - Green belt 
 
The following saved policies of the Bath and North East Local Plan, including minerals and 
waste policies, adopted October 2007 are also relevant to the determination of this 
application. 
 
D.2: General design and public realm considerations 
D.4: Townscape considerations 
Bh.2: Listed buildings and their settings 
Bh.6: Development within or affecting Conservation Areas. 
T.26: On-site parking and servicing provision 
GB.2: Visual amenities of the green belt.  
HG.10: Housing outside settlements 
 
National Policy 
The National Planning Policy Framework adopted March 2012 
National Planning Practice Guidance 2014 
 
Following the Examination hearings the Inspector has now issued her Interim Statement 
and has advised the Council of her recommended Main Modifications required to make 
the plan sound. The Main Modifications and Minor Proposed Changes are now subject to 
public consultation prior to the Inspector issuing her Final Report. The following policies 
can now be given substantial weight: 
 
D.2: Local character and distinctiveness 
D.3: Urban Fabric 
D.5: Building design 
D.6: Amenity 
RE.4: Essential dwellings for rural workers 
NE.2: Conserving and enhancing the landscape and landscape character 
GB.1: Visual amenities of the green belt 
 
The following policy is given significant weight 
 
ST.7: Transport requirements for managing development 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
This is an application for the erection of 2 storey annexe and single storey extension 
following demolition of existing single storey annexe and outbuildings. The existing 
dwelling is located within the southern half of Stanton Drew. There is a cluster of houses 
to the south of the dwelling but the dwelling itself is largely surrounded by open 
countryside. The site is surrounded by a number of outbuildings. 
 
Planning history 
 

Page 135



In 1993 an application was permitted for the provision of the conversion of an existing 
outbuilding to form a residential annexe. The building is conditioned to be tied to the main 
property as an annexe. The existing annexe is a single storey property providing 
accommodation over one floor including a bedroom, bathroom and kitchen.  
 
The existing building has been extended to the rear of the property and this was permitted 
in 2013. The permitted extension involved the demolition of an existing extension and 
outbuildings so that the volume of buildings on site did not increase. The permitted single 
storey extension was not constructed and this application seeks a revised but similar 
design to the rear extension.  
 
Principle 
 
The proposed development will replace the existing single storey annexe with a two storey 
two bedroom property. The building has been described as being used as an annexe to 
the main dwelling. The existing dwelling is a four bedroom property and the proposed 
annexe would be a two bedroom property with associated dining room, study and utility 
room. The development includes the provision of a parking space opposite the entrance to 
the annexe separate to the parking are to the main dwelling. Given the number of rooms 
set over two stories it is no longer considered to provide ancillary accommodation to the 
host building. The proposed building including, two bedrooms, a utility room, dining room 
and study, providing self contained accommodation is not considered to be incidental to 
the enjoyment of the existing dwellinghouse. In this respect it cannot be considered to be 
an annexe and is regarded as being a new dwelling. 
 
The application site is located within the green belt outside of the housing development 
boundary. Policy HG.10 allows for the construction of new dwelling outside the housing 
development boundary for dwellings to be used for agriculture and forestry. The proposed 
dwelling would not be used for agriculture and forestry and therefore the principle of 
residential development is not accepted.  
 
Policy RE.4 of the placemaking plan is now given substantial weight It states that new 
dwellings will only be permitted outside of a housing development boundary if there is an 
essential need or a rural worker to live on site. This is not the case at this site and 
therefore the proposed development does not comply with policy RE.4 of the emerging 
placemaking plan.  
 
 
 
Green Belt 
 
Permission was granted in 2013 for the extension of the existing dwelling. The permitted 
extension included the removal of existing structures and outbuilding so that there was not 
net gain in volume from the proposed extension. This included the construction of a rear 
extension for which a revised design is now proposed.  
 
Paragraph 89 of the NPPF states that the construction of new buildings within the green 
belt is considered to be inappropriate development. The exceptions to this can include the 
limited infilling of villages. In this case the proposed building is located outside of the 
housing development boundary and the site is surrounded by fields on three sides. It 

Page 136



cannot be considered to be an infill plot and the provision of a new building in this location 
is considered to be contrary to paragraph 89 of the NPPF. 
 
Paragraph 80 of the NPPF lists the five purposes of including land within the green belt 
which are as follows; 
 
-to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas 
-to prevent neighbouring towns merging into on another.  
-to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment 
-to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and 
-to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other urban 
land 
 
In this case the proposed development would result in a new dwelling within the open 
countryside. The provision of a new dwelling will encroach into the open countryside and 
therefore the proposed development is considered to conflict with one of the five purposes 
of including land within the green belt.  
 
The provision of the new building will result in an increase in volume from the existing 
annexe building of 10%. As the proposed development is not regarded as an annexe 
being physically and functionally separate from the main house and of an overall size that 
would render it most suitable for independent occupation it is treated as a separate 
dwelling rather than an extension to the host building. In this respect it is considered as a 
replacement building. Paragraph 89 of the NPPF states that the construction of new 
buildings within the green belt is considered to be inappropriate development. Exceptions 
to this can include the replacement of a building providing it is not materially larger than 
the one it replaces. In this case the proposed replacement building will result in an 
increase in height from 4.5m to 7.1m. Therefore the proposed building will be materially 
larger than the one it replaces due to its height and does not comply with paragraph 89 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 
The proposed development will increase the height of the building from a single storey to 
two stories. This will increase the visual prominence of the existing building within the 
green belt and the property will be clearly visible from the surrounding streetscene. 
Currently the existing annexe is a single storey and appears subservient to the existing 
building. The annexe was originally an outbuilding to the property and the existing 
structure still appears as an ancillary building to the main property. The increased height 
of the building to two stories will result in a building which would be tantamount to a 
second dwelling within the site which would no longer appear ancillary to the main 
building. The provision of a second storey would result in a building that would rise some 
distance above the existing boundary treatments and would be clearly visible from the 
surrounding green belt.  
 
The existing property is located within an area with a rural character which is surrounded 
by fields on three sides. The increased height of the proposed building will harm the rural 
character of the surrounding area. The proposed development is therefore considered to 
harm the openness of the surrounding green belt.  
 
Policy GB.2 of the local plan states that permission will not be granted for development 
visible from the green belt which would be visually detrimental to the green belt by reason 

Page 137



of its siting and design. As stated above the increased height of the building will result in a 
property which is harmful to the openness of the green belt and the development is not 
considered to comply with current green belt policy.  
 
Highways 
 
The highways officer has not objected to the application. The proposed development will 
utilise the existing access to the site and provide on site parking for the property. The 
proposed works will improve visibility to the south of the property and the highways officer 
has recommended that the boundary wall be reduced to a height of no greater than 
900mm. The proposal to set back the hedgerow fronting the site to the north of the access 
is also acknowledged and will help maximise visibility to the north.  
 
However the existing access has been in use for the existing dwelling and annexe with no 
harm to highway safety. Any highway benefits arising from the works to the entrance are 
not outweighed by the harm to the green belt identified above.   
 
Amenity 
 
The proposed building will be located adjacent to the side elevation of the existing building 
and will not impact on the amenity of nearby residential occupiers.  
 
Alterations to permitted extension 
 
The application permitted in 2013 included the provision of a single store rear extension. 
This has been revised so that the extension will sit in line with the existing dwelling rather 
than at a slight angle. The proposed alteration will not substantially change the design of 
the permitted extension and is considered to be acceptable.  
 
The case for very special circumstances 
 
No very special circumstances have been put forward to justify development within the 
green belt.  
 
Conclusion 
 
The proposed enlargement of the building will result in an independent residential building 
which due to its functional and physical separation and size cannot be considered to 
function as an annexe to the host building. The proposed building is considered to be a 
new dwellinghouse outside of the housing development boundary within the green belt. 
The provision of a two storey building will result in a building that will harm the openness 
of the surrounding green belt. The principle of the development is not accepted and it is 
contrary to local and national green belt policy.  
 

RECOMMENDATION 

REFUSE 
 
REASON(S) FOR REFUSAL 
 

Page 138



 1 The proposed development is located within the Green Belt and outside of the housing 
development boundary where the principle of residential development is not accepted. It is 
therefore contrary to policy HG.10 of the Bath & North East Somerset Local Plan including 
minerals and waste policies - adopted October 2007 and policy RE.4 of the emerging 
placemaking plan 
 
 2 The proposed development by reason of its siting, scale and design will result in a 
replacement building which is materially larger than the existing building. The increased 
size and height of the building will harm the openness of the surrounding green belt being 
more visually prominent within the streetscene. In the absence of very special 
circumstances the development is considered to be contrary to polices GB.2 of the Bath 
and North East Local Plan, including minerals and waste policies, adopted October 2007 
and CP8 of the Core Strategy and paragraph 89 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and GB1 of the emerging placemaking plan 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
 1 Existing site plan 20 
Existing plans 21 
Existing elevations 22 
Proposed site plan 23 
Proposed annexe plans 24 
Proposed sectional elevation (west) 25 
Proposed road elevations 26 
Proposed north elevation 27 
Proposed south elevation 28 
 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Framework. The Local 
Planning Authority acknowledges the approach outlined in paragraphs 188-192 in favour 
of front loading and operates a pre-application advice service. Notwithstanding active 
encouragement for pre-application dialogue the applicant did not seek to enter into 
correspondence with the Local Planning Authority. The proposal was considered 
unacceptable for the reasons given and the applicant was advised that the application was 
to be recommended for refusal. Despite this the applicant choose not to withdraw the 
application, and having regard to the need to avoid unnecessary delay the Local Planning 
Authority moved forward and issued its decision. 
 
 
 

Item No:   06 

Application No: 16/04960/FUL 

Site Location: Beaumont House Lansdown Road Lansdown Bath Bath And North 
East Somerset 

Page 139



 
 

Ward: Lansdown  Parish: N/A  LB Grade: N/A 

Ward Members: Councillor Patrick Anketell-Jones Councillor Anthony Clarke  

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Erection of three storey side extension to provide 3 no. residential 
apartments with associated parking and landscaping 

Constraints: Affordable Housing, Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Article 4, Conservation 
Area, Forest of Avon, Hotspring Protection, MOD Safeguarded Areas, 
SSSI - Impact Risk Zones, World Heritage Site,  

Applicant:  Lynas And Potter 

Expiry Date:  10th February 2017 

Case Officer: Alice Barnes 

 
REPORT 
Reason for reporting the application to committee. 
 
The application is being referred to the committee at the request of Councillor Anthony 
Clarke  
 
The application has been referred to the chair who has agreed that the application is 
considered by the committee.  
 
Description of site and application 
 
Beaumont House is located on the northern slopes of Bath. The property is sited on a 
corner plot of Lansdown Road and College Road. The building comprises a block of flats 
located within the Conservation Area and World Heritage Site. The front elevation of the 
property faces Lansdown Road and there is also a vehicle entrance on College Road 
which provides access to the rear of the property.  
 

Page 140



This is an application for the provision of a three storey side extension to provide three 
additional apartments with associated parking and landscaping. The proposed extension 
will be constructed on the south side elevation of the building.    
 
Relevant History 
 
5890/4 - Details of the conversion into 7 flats and 2 maisonettes with associated parking, 
approved 18/11/77 
5890/4 - Erection of a four storey extension at the side to provide three additional flats with 
garages beneath at the rear with new vehicle access to College Road, refused 07/03/78 
5890/5 - Erection of a three storey extension to provide three flats with garage below at 
the rear and with a new vehicular access to College Road, refused 06/06/78 
5890/6 - Formation of new vehicular access onto College Road, after demolition of part of 
the existing wall and provision of a parking area, approved 03/10/78 
5890/7 - Erection of an extension at the side to provide a maisonette with garages 
beneath, refused, 03/04/79 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
Highways: Beaumont House is located on the corner of Lansdown Road and College 
Road and has a main vehicular access to the front of the property off Lansdown Road. A 
secondary entrance onto College Road provides vehicular/pedestrian access to the rear 
part of the site. It is this access and the driveway to the SW corner of the site which is 
intended to serve the vehicle parking and turning area for the new extension. 
 
It is noted that the surveys in August and November 2016 all show some existing use of 
the area to the rear of Beaumont House for parking. However, the same surveys show 
that the use of the main car park in the front of the building was generally well below the 
capacity for vehicle parking available. The survey analysis advises that maximum parking 
occupancy on-site was shown to be 5nr vehicles, with further parking capacity available in 
College Road to the north. The survey also alludes to the availability of on-street parking 
on Lansdown Road to the front of Beaumont House, but this would be undesirable given 
the restriction created to visibility to the right from College Road, and indeed visibility for 
drivers emerging from the front car park. 
 
In view of the existing car parking use associated with the existing 9nr flats/maisonettes I 
am satisfied that the level of allocated parking at the rear (3nr spaces) for the three new 
apartments will provide an adequate level of provision. Furthermore, should any parking 
overspill into College Road its impact would be minimal and would not, in my view, result 
in any highway safety issues or problems. 
 
Arboriculture: The application is supported by an arboricultural report and I am in general 
agreement with 
the contents. I note, however, that the tree survey is contained to the western side and 
immediately adjacent to the redline boundary. 
 
The proposal indicates that the trees and shrubs along the southern boundary are to be 
retained and these could be protected during development by condition. 
 
I consider that construction activities will inevitably extend into the area to the east of the 
property, fronting Lansdown Road. The existing hard surfacing should provide adequate 

Page 141



space for construction activities including the storage and mixing of materials. 
Precautionary measures can be put in place to avoid accidental damage to retained 
vegetation and trees. 
 
It should be made clear to all operators that the verge in Lansdown Road is not to be used 
for any construction activities including deliveries and parking. 
 
Wales and west utilities: The development must not build over any plant enclosures or 
apparatus 
 
Ecology: The submitted ecological report makes appropriate recommendations regarding 
timing of works such as vegetation clearance, to avoid nesting birds, and avoidance of 
light spill. These should be secured by condition. I have no objection subject to conditions. 
 
Councillor Clark: It is clear that there are significant problems identified by local residents. 
If you were minded to approve, I would suggest that the application should be considered 
by the Development Management Committee. 
 
Representations: Eleven representations have been received objecting to the application 
for the following reasons: 
The gas supply pipe to Flat 5 is attached to the exterior wall of Beaumont House, running 
from ground level to the second floor, where the flat is situated. The proposed design does 
not include details of how the gas supply will be maintained to the existing flats. The loss 
of the gas supply would be harmful to existing residents. 
No details are provided of how other utilities will be supplied. Disruption to utilities will 
cause problems to existing flats. 
The building is over 150 years old. A new extension could damage its structure. 
The plans do not show how the downpipe will be moved. 
The extension is harmful to the appearance of the existing site. It is out of keeping with the 
surrounding area. 
Car parking for existing flats will be rearranged. Not all cars could be accommodated 
leading to on street car parking. 
The proposed development will remove the only significant area for outside recreation that 
exists at Beaumont 
The width of the proposed parking spaces do not allow for a car door to be opened fully. 
Increased usage of the car park will not allow for cars to enter and exit the site in forward 
gear. 
Delivery vans may not be able to access the site. 
The extension will block light from properties along Sion Road. 
Properties along Sion Road are set below the application site and the development will 
appear overbearing to neighbouring properties. 
The extension will affect the value to neighbouring properties. 
The extension will overlook nearby properties. 
Car parking will be moved adjacent to boundaries with neighbouring properties. 
The extension will harm the character of the existing building and streetscene. 
The application states that residents do not park in the rear car park. This is incorrect and 
it is used by residents.  
Access to flats could be blocked with the construction period. 

Page 142



The construction site of the proposed block of flats is to be built directly on top of a 
reservoir water tank that was created in 1868 and subject of a restrictive covenant that we 
believe is still extant. 
It is not clear from the application how the water sewerage from the three new flats will 
feed into the existing sewers. 
Construction will increase traffic to the site. 
The extension will significantly alter the appearance of the building. 
The only grassed area within the site will be lost. 
The human rights act states that a person has the substantive right to respect for their 
private and family life. 
The extension will result in a sense of enclosure to the nearby properties. 
The landscaping proposals are not adequate to mitigated against the impact of the 
development.  
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The Core Strategy now forms part of the statutory Development Plan 
and will be given full weight in the determination of planning applications. The Council's 
Development Plan now comprises: 
 
o Core Strategy  
o Saved Policies in the B&NES Local Plan (2007) 
o Joint Waste Core Strategy 
 
The following policies of the Core Strategy are relevant to the determination of this 
application: 
 
CP6 - Environmental Quality 
B4 - The World Heritage Site and its Setting 
B1 - Bath Spatial Strategy 
 
The following saved policies of the Bath and North East Local Plan, including minerals and 
waste policies, adopted October 2007 are also relevant to the determination of this 
application. 
 
D.2: General design and public realm considerations 
D.4: Townscape considerations 
Bh.6: Development within or affecting Conservation Areas. 
T.24: General development control and access policy 
T.26: On-site parking and servicing provision 
Ne.4: Trees and woodland conservation 
NE10: Nationally important species and habitats 
NE.11: Locally important species and habitats 
 
National Policy 
The National Planning Policy Framework adopted March 2012 
National Planning Practice Guidance 2014 
 

Page 143



There is a duty placed on the Council under Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act to pay special attention to the preservation or enhancement 
of the character of the surrounding conservation area. 
 
Following the Examination hearings the Inspector has now issued her Interim Statement 
and has advised the Council of her recommended Main Modifications required to make 
the plan sound. The Main Modifications and Minor Proposed Changes are now subject to 
public consultation prior to the Inspector issuing her Final Report. The following policies 
can now be given substantial weight: 
 
D.2 - Local character and distinctiveness 
D.3 - Urban Fabric 
D.5 - Building design 
D.6 - Amenity 
NE3 - Sites species and habitats 
NE6 - Trees and woodland conservation 
 
The following polices have significant weight 
 
HE1 - Safeguarding Heritage Assets 
ST.7 - Transport requirements for managing development 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
This is an application for the provision of a three storey side extension to provide three 
additional apartments with associated parking and landscaping. The existing building is a 
three storey property which fronts on to Lansdown Road with an additional vehicle 
entrance from College Road. The building has originally been extended to the north and 
currently houses flats. The building has been set back from the road edge and sits behind 
a boundary wall and hedge.  
 
Planning history 
 
The planning history shows that the applications were made in the 1970s to construct a 
side extension in a similar location to the proposed extension. These extensions were of a 
different design to what is proposed and therefore do not form a direct comparison to the 
proposed development.  
 
Principle  
 
The application site is located within the city of Bath where the principle of residential 
development is accepted.  
 
Design 
 
The existing building was extended to the north with the provision of a three storey 
extension. The proposed extension has been designed to reflect the style of the existing 
extension. It would be constructed from Bath stone and will match the features on the 
existing dwelling. The extension has been set below the existing ridge line and will reflect 
the built form of the existing extension. Being set back from the road edge it will not 
appear to be visually prominent with the surrounding streetscene. The applicant has 

Page 144



submitted a replacement landscaping scheme which will enhance the setting of the 
existing building.  
 
There is a duty under Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 to pay special attention to the preservation or enhancement of the 
character of the surrounding conservation area.  Here it is considered that the proposed 
development will preserve the character of the surrounding Conservation Area. 
 
Highways 
 
Beaumont House is located on the corner of Lansdown Road and College Road and has a 
main vehicular access to the front of the property off Lansdown Road. The proposed 
development would provide additional parking for the proposed flats to the rear of the site. 
The highways officer requested details of the current use of the parking area and the 
applicant has supplied a parking survey from Thursday 28th April (12.50pm), Monday 
22nd August (6:30pm), Thursday 10th November (7:30pm) and Saturday 19th November 
2016 (11:00am). 
 
A secondary entrance onto College Road provides vehicular/pedestrian access to the rear 
part of the site. It is this access and the driveway to the SW corner of the site which is 
intended to serve the vehicle parking and turning area for the new extension. 
 
The highways officer has advised that it is noted that the surveys in August and November 
2016 all show some existing use of the area to the rear of Beaumont House for parking. 
However, the same surveys show that the use of the main car park in the front of the 
building was generally well below the capacity for vehicle parking available. The survey 
analysis advises that maximum parking occupancy on-site was shown to be 5nr vehicles, 
with further parking capacity available in College Road to the north. The survey also 
alludes to the availability of on-street parking on Lansdown Road to the front of Beaumont 
House, but this would be undesirable given the restriction created to visibility to the right 
from College Road, and indeed visibility for drivers emerging from the front car park. 
 
In view of the existing car parking use associated with the existing 9nr flats/maisonettes 
the highways officer is satisfied that the level of allocated parking at the rear (3nr spaces) 
for the three new apartments will provide an adequate level of provision. Furthermore, 
should any parking overspill into College Road its impact would be minimal and would not, 
result in any highway safety issues or problems. It is also noted that the site is located to 
the north of the city centre with bus links into Bath city centre providing the option of 
sustainable travel.  
 
Amenity 
 
The proposed development would extend the side of the building to the south towards the 
nearby properties of 1a, 1, 3 and 5 Sion Road. Number 1a, 3 and 5 would view the 
building from an oblique angle. The view from number 1 would be of the side elevation.  
 
The proposed development would extend the side of the building to the south towards the 
nearby properties of 1a, 1, 3 and 5 Sion Road. Number 1a, 3 and 5 would view the 
building from an oblique angle so that the development would not appear to be 
overbearing to the occupiers. Given the angle of development the proposed extension is 

Page 145



not considered to result in increased overlooking that would warrant refusal of the 
application.  
 
The view from number 1 would be of the side elevation. The applicant has revised the 
plans to reduce the width of the proposed extension. The extension will be 18 m from the 
rear elevation of number 1 and no glazing will be included on the side elevations. Whilst 
the extension will be visible to the occupiers of number 1 on balance the provision of the 
extension is not considered to cause harm to the amenity of the neighbouring occupiers 
that would warrant refusal of the application. 
 
Arboriculture 
 
The arboricultural officer has raised no objection to the application. Construction activities 
could extend towards the trees and therefore conditions should be applied to ensure that 
construction activities do not harm the trees within the site.  
 
Ecology 
 
The applicant has submitted an ecology survey which has been referred to the ecology 
officer. The submitted ecological report makes appropriate recommendations regarding 
the timing of works such as vegetation clearance, to avoid nesting birds, and avoidance of 
light spill. The ecology officer has no objection provided this is secured by condition.  
 
Conclusion 
 
The proposed extension is considered to respect and complement the host building and 
will not harm the character of the surrounding Conservation Area. The proposed addition 
of three flats is not considered to result in harm to highway safety and the development 
will not harm the amenity of residential occupiers.  
 

RECOMMENDATION 

PERMIT 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
 1 Standard Time Limit (Compliance) 
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) and to avoid the accumulation of unimplemented planning permission 
 
 2 Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan (Pre-commencement) 
 
No development shall take place until an arboricultural method statement with tree 
protection plan following the recommendations contained within BS 5837:2012 identifying 
measures to protect the trees to be retained, has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The statement shall include proposed tree 
protection measures during site preparation (including clearance and level changes), 
during construction and landscaping operations. The statement should also include the 

Page 146



control of potentially harmful operations such as the position of service runs and 
soakaways, storage, handling and mixing of materials on site and movement of people 
and machinery. This is a condition precedent because the works comprising the 
development have the potential to harm retained trees. Therefore these details need to be 
agreed before work commences. 
 
Reason: To ensure that no excavation, tipping, burning, storing of materials or any other 
activity takes place which would adversely affect the trees to be retained in accordance 
with policy NE.4 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan and CP7 of the Core 
Strategy and NE6 of the emerging placemaking plan 
 
 3 Arboricultural (Compliance) 
 
No development or other operations shall take place except in complete accordance with 
the approved Arboricultural Method Statement. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the approved method statement is complied with for the duration 
of the development. 
 
 4 Highways (Compliance) 
 
The areas allocated for parking and turning on the submitted plan 1612-AP(0)-12-B shall 
be kept clear of obstruction and shall not be used other than for the parking of vehicles in 
connection with the development hereby permitted. 
 
Reason: To ensure sufficient parking and turning areas are retained at all times in the 
interests of amenity and highways safety in accordance with Policy T.24 of the Bath and 
North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
 5 Highways - Construction Management Plan (Pre-commencement) 
No development shall commence until a Construction Management Plan has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and shall include 
details of deliveries (including storage arrangements and timings), contractor parking, 
traffic management, working hours, site opening times, wheel wash facilities and site 
compound arrangements. The development shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance 
with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure that safe operation of the highway and in the interests of protecting 
residential amenity in accordance with Policies T.24 and D.2 of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Local Plan. This is a condition precedent because any initial construction or 
demolition works could have a detrimental impact upon highways safety and/or residential 
amenity. 
 
 6 Ecology (Compliance) 
 
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out only in accordance with the 
recommendations on pages 12 and 13 of the approved Extended Phase 1 Habitat 
Ecological Survey by Stark Ecology dated May 2016. Any new external lighting shall be 
designed to operated only when required and to avoid light spill onto boundary vegetation 
and hedgerows. 

Page 147



 
Reason: To avoid harm to wildlife including bats in accordance with policy NE.11 of the 
Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan and NE3 of the emerging placemaking plan 
 
 7 Plans List (Compliance) 
The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance with 
the plans as set out in the plans list below. 
 
Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
 1 OS plan 01 B 
Existing site plan 02 B 
Existing plans 03 A 
Existing elevations 04 A 
Existing roof plan 05 
Existing parking arrangement and swept path analysis SPA02 B 
Proposed site location plan 10 D 
Proposed site plan 11 D 
Proposed ground floor plan 12 C 
Proposed first floor plan, second floor plan and roof plan 13 C 
Proposed elevations 20 C 
Proposed elevations 21 C 
Landscape masterplan R001 PS 
Proposed sections 30 C 
Proposed parking bays SK01 B 
Proposed parking bays swept path analysis SPA01 B 
 
 
 2 In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied 
with the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Framework. 
 
 
 

Item No:   07 

Application No: 16/05498/AR 

Site Location: Bristol Water Visitor Centre & Tea Room Walley Lane Chew Magna 
Bristol  

Page 148



 
 

Ward: Chew Valley North  Parish: Chew Magna  LB Grade: N/A 

Ward Members: Councillor Liz Richardson  

Application Type: Advertisement Consent 

Proposal: Display of 2no. externally illuminated entrance signs to replace 
previous signs to the entrance to Chew Valley Lake picnic area and 
Salt & Malt Cafe and public car park. (Resubmission) 

Constraints: Affordable Housing, Airport Safeguarding Zones, Agric Land Class 
1,2,3a, Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, Coal - Standing Advice 
Area, Forest of Avon, Greenbelt, Land of recreational value, Special 
Area of Conservation (SAC), Special Protection Area, Site Of Special 
Scientific Interest (SI), SSSI - Impact Risk Zones, Water Source 
Areas,  

Applicant:  Mr Chris Eggleton 

Expiry Date:  10th February 2017 

Case Officer: Martin Almond 

 
REPORT 
This application has been brought to Development Management Committee due to the 
support of Chew Magna parish Council which is contrary to the officer recomendation.  
 
Advertisement consent is sought for the display of two externally illuminated entrance 
signs at the entrance to the car park and visitor centre at located at the northern end of 
Chew Valley Lane, Walley Lane, Chew Magna. 
 
The visitor centre now comprises the Salt and Malt restaurant and takeaway and a retail 
unit selling binoculars and other optical items.  Walley Lane is a Class 'C' road with a 
50mph speed limit outside the site. 
 
The site is located within the Mendip Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. 
 

Page 149



Relevant planning history: 
 
WC 11971/B - New building to provide tea room and improved visitor facilities - approved 
4th February 1994 
 
DC - 14/01985/VAR - PERMIT - 15 July 2014 - Removal of condition 7 and variation of 
condition 8 attached to planning permission WC 11971/B dated 4th February 1994. (New 
building to provide tea room and improved visitor facilities) 
 
DC - 16/03700/AR - WD - 16 September 2016 - Display of 2no. internally illuminated 
entrance signs 
 
 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
Chew Magna Parish Council initial comments:  
 
Supports this re-submitted application. The sign clearly shows the Visitor Centre etc. 
location on the 50mph restricted highway, which is on a shallow gradient, a bend and a 
junction with Denny Lane. With local testament, we consider that the signage would help 
make this hazardous area safer by allowing vehicles to moderate speed and indicate well 
before entering the site. 
 
Chew Magna Parish Council updated comments:  
 
Following the representation of support from Chew Magna Parish Council (above), and 
noting that the application will now be determined at Development Management 
Committee on 8th February 2017, we would like Committee to be aware of our comment 
of objection to the previous sign, (16/030700/AR).  
 
Bearing in mind our objection to the internal illumination of the previous sign, the applicant 
withdrew this application and re-submitted with the modified design using external 
downlights, which we can consequently support. 
 
Public comments seem primarily concerned with light pollution in an otherwise unlit rural 
lakeside area and the potential adverse affect on wildlife. We consider that an externally lit 
sign would be preferential when dark, both in appearance in this rural context, and in 
reducing light pollution.  
 
It should be noted that the application to wave the historical restriction of evening opening 
at this site was permitted. (14/01985/VAR), thus allowing the Bristol Water Tearooms and 
immediate area to be lit after dark during the winter months. 
 
Highways: The proposed signs will be located on either side of the entrance to the site. 
The applicant shall ensure that these signs remain clear of the visibility splay in both 
directions. From a highways perspective there is no objection to the proposal subject to 
condition relating to levels of illuminance and the signsbeing switched off and shall be non 
illuminated when the centre is closed to members of the public. 
 
Third party comments: 

Page 150



 
Two objections received, sumamrised as follows: 
 
- The lake, and its banks, and periphery are supposed to be a nature reserve. 
- Already the new Salt and Malt building is lit up, well into the late evening, with light 
pollution streaming across the water and the picnic area. 
- No extension of light pollution, certainly no illuminated signs. 
- The signs that they say are being replaced have not been there for about 10/11 months.  
- This used to be a cafe that closed at dusk but is now lit up until late in the evening across 
the lake and now they want to light the road up. 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The Core Strategy now forms part of the statutory Development Plan 
and will be given full weight in the determination of planning applications. The Council's 
Development Plan now comprises: 
- Core Strategy 
- Saved Policies in the B&NES Local Plan (2007)* 
- Joint Waste Core Strategy 
 
The following Core Strategy policies should be considered: 
 
CP6 - Environmental Quality 
B4 - World Heritage Site 
 
*The B&NES Local Plan policies that are replaced by policies in the Core Strategy are 
outlined in Appendix 1 of the Core Strategy. Those B&NES Local Plan policies that are not 
replaced and remain saved are listed in Appendix 2 of the Core Strategy. 
 
Saved Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan including minerals and waste policies - 
adopted October 2007: 
 
D.2 General Design and public realm considerations  
D.4 Townscape considerations 
BH.17 Advertisement consent 
NE.1 Landscape character 
NE.2 Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
 
At the Council's Cabinet meeting on 2nd December 2015 the draft Placemaking Plan was 
approved for consultation purposes and also approved for Development Management 
purposes. Following the Examination hearings the Inspector has now issued her Interim 
Statement and has advised the Council of her recommended Main Modifications required 
to make the plan sound. The Main Modifications and Minor Proposed Changes are now 
subject to public consultation prior to the Inspector issuing her Final Report.  
 
The following policies can now be given substantial weight: 
 
D2 Local character and distinctiveness 
D3 Urban fabric 
D6 Amenity 

Page 151



D9 Advertisements & Outdoor Street Furniture  
NE2 Conserving And Enhancing The Landscape And Landscape Character 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National Planning Practice 
Guidance (NPPG) are also material considerations. The following sections of the NPPF 
are of particular relevance: 
 
Section 7: Requiring good design 
Section 12: Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 
 
Applications for Advertisement Consent are determined in accordance with Regulation 7 
of The Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 
2007. 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
Advertisement consent is sought for the display of two free standing externally illuminated 
adverts positioned on either side of the entrance to the northern car park at Chew Valley 
Lake.  The signs advertise Salt and Malt which is located within the car park and occupies 
the former visitor centre and tea room as well as Bristol Water who control the land.  At 
present the unauthorised adverts are internally illuminated with the current submission 
seeking to externally illuminate the signs.  
 
The description of the proposal indicates that the two proposed signs will replace existing 
signage.  From the information provided by the applicant and information available to the 
Council the existing signage was comprised of a single banner attached to the fence 
adjacent to the entrance.  No consent had been granted for the display of the banner. It is 
the view of officers that the application cannot be described as a "replacement" for 
previous signage. 
 
The NPPF clearly states that advertisements should be subject to control only in the 
interests of amenity and public safety, taking account of cumulative impacts. However, 
there are a number of policies in the Local Plan that are relevant material considerations, 
although they have not, by themselves, been decisive in the assessment. 
 
AMENITY 
 
'Amenity' is not defined exhaustively in the Town and Country Planning (Control of 
Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007. It includes aural and visual amenity 
(regulation 2(1)) and factors relevant to amenity include the general characteristics of the 
locality, including the presence of any feature of historic, architectural, cultural or similar 
interest (regulation 3(2)(a)). The Government's Planning Practice Guidance notes that: 'In 
practice, 'amenity' is usually understood to mean the effect on visual and aural amenity in 
the immediate neighbourhood of an advertisement or site for the display of 
advertisements, where residents or passers-by will be aware of the advertisement'. 
 
The Government attaches great importance to the design of the built environment. The 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) notes that good design is a key aspect of 
sustainable development, is indivisible from good planning, and should contribute 
positively to making places better for people. Planning decisions should aim to ensure that 
developments add to the overall quality of the area; respond to local character and history; 

Page 152



and reflect the identity of local surroundings and materials, while not preventing or 
discouraging appropriate innovation. They should also be visually attractive. Specifically in 
relation to advertisements, the NPPF notes that poorly placed advertisements can have a 
negative impact on the appearance of the built and natural environment. 
 
Application 16/03700/AR for display of 2no. internally illuminated entrance signs was 
withdrawn prior to its determination with the applicant being advised by the case officer 
that: 
 
"The size, design (inc. colours) and illumination of the signs are unacceptable in this 
location within the Mendip Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and within an area 
with a distinctly rural character whether they are illuminated or not.   
 
Whilst the boxes are illuminated during opening hours such illumination is out of keeping 
with area and appears incongruous in a location devoid of illumination". 
 
Whilst the method of illumination has been amended from the previously withdrawn 
scheme it is considered that this does not significantly alter the scheme so as to make it 
acceptable.  The size, design and position of the proposed signs remains the same.  
During daylight hours when not illuminated the large size of the signs results in them being 
highly prominent and out of keeping with the rural character in this location, when 
illuminated this will be further emphasised. 
 
The two signs are located within the Mendip Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
(AONB) and within a distinctly rural area.  The signs whether illuminated or not are highly 
visible due to their location, size and design and as such appear out of place within this 
location.  
 
Each proposed sign is 3m wide, 2m high and 17cm deep.  The proposed downlight 
illumination would add another 40cm to the height of each sign and at these dimensions 
the size of the signs is excessive and result in unsympathetic development which harms 
the natural beauty of the Mendip Hills AONB. 
 
The illumination of the signs in this location is unacceptable due to it being out of keeping 
with the rural area and being incongruous in this location which is devoid of street lights 
and any other illuminated signage.  
 
The applicant has highlighted that signs have previously been displayed at this entrance 
to the visitor centre.  From the information submitted these signs appear to have been a 
single non-illuminated banner advertising the tea room set-back well within the entrance to 
the site given its attachment to the wooden fencing.  No advertisement consent was 
granted by the Council for the display of such a banner sign.  No weight can be attributed 
to the unauthorised signage when determining this application. 
 
At the same entrance to the lake as the proposed signs, a brown tourist sign directing 
visitors to 'Chew Valley Lake' is positioned on the opposite side of the road to the 
entrance.  This could be replaced or updated to include 'Salt and Malt' which would 
provide an acceptable alternative to the two proposed signs.  This approach has recently 
been taken by The Community Farm, Denny Lane who have had a brown tourist sign 
recently installed within 100 metres of the proposed signs to replace an unauthorised sign.   

Page 153



 
The stretch of road between Ham Lane, Bishop Sutton and Wallycourt Road, Chew Stoke 
is devoid of authorised illuminated and non-illuminated signage and adverts save for 
directional adverts for the lake car parks and The Community Farm previously mentioned, 
any other signs or adverts that are currently being displayed are unauthorised. 
 
PUBLIC SAFETY 
 
The proposed advertisements do not create any significant issues of public safety.  There 
are no highway objections to the proposed signs. 
 
CONCLUSION 
 
For the reasons set out in the above report the application is recommended for refusal. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

REFUSE 
 
REASON(S) FOR REFUSAL 
 
 1 The proposed size, design, siting and external illumination of the signage is harmful to 
the rural character and natural amenity of the site, contrary to the requirements of Saved 
Policies BH.17, D.4 and NE.2 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan (including 
mineral and waste policies) Adopted October 2007 and Policy NE2 of the draft 
Placemaking Plan 2016. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
 1 This decision relates to drawings BLOCK PLAN, PROPOSED SIGNAGE, SIDE 
ELEVATION, TOP-DOWN ELEVATION, SITE LOCATION PLAN REVISED, SITE PLAN 
AND SITE LOCATION PLAN dated as received 10th November 2016. 
 
 2 In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied 
with the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Framework. 
Notwithstanding informal advice offered by the Local Planning Authority the submitted 
application was unacceptable for the stated reasons and the applicant was advised that 
the application was to be recommended for refusal. Despite this the applicant chose not to 
withdraw the application and having regard to the need to avoid unnecessary delay the 
Local Planning Authority moved forward and issued its decision. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 154



Item No:   08 

Application No: 16/05771/FUL 

Site Location: 6 Fairways Saltford Bristol Bath And North East Somerset BS31 3HX 

 

 

Ward: Saltford  Parish: Saltford  LB Grade: N/A 

Ward Members: Councillor F Haeberling Councillor Emma Dixon  

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Erection of single storey front extension, installation of 2no windows 
to side elevations and construction of additional parking area 

Constraints: Affordable Housing, Airport Safeguarding Zones, Agric Land Class 
3b,4,5, Forest of Avon, Housing Development Boundary, SSSI - 
Impact Risk Zones,  

Applicant:  Mr And Mrs B Organ 

Expiry Date:  20th January 2017 

Case Officer: Emma Hardy 

 
REPORT 
Reason for reporting application to Committee: 
 
The applicant is Ward Councillor Bryan Organ. The application is therefore being reported 
to Committee in accordance with the Council's Scheme of Delegation. 
 
Description of site and application: 
 
The application relates to 6 Fairways, a detached bungalow on the west side of the 
southern end of the close adjacent to Saltford Golf Club. The locality is characterised by 
detached bungalows of varying designs. 
 
Planning permission is sought to erect a single storey front extension following the 
demolition of the existing front porch. The extension would measure approximately 4.7m 

Page 155



wide with a total depth of 2.4m, an eaves height of approximately 1.75m and an overall 
height of approximately 2.85m.  
 
The application also proposes to insert one side window facing towards No. 7 Fairways 
and one side window facing towards the golf course.  In addition a new area hardstanding 
is proposed to the front of the bungalow to accommodate two car parking spaces which 
would require a new dropped kerb.   
 
Relevant recent planning history: 
 
No relevant recent planning history. 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
Saltford Parish Council: support (Officer note: no planning reasons given). 
 
No consultations. 
 
No third party representations received. 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The Core Strategy now forms part of the statutory Development Plan 
and will be given full weight in the determination of planning applications. The Council's 
Development Plan now comprises: 
 
- Core Strategy (2014) 
- Saved Policies in the B&NES Local Plan (2007) 
- West of England Joint Waste Core Strategy (2011) which supersedes all 2007 Local 
Plan policies on Waste apart from Policies WM.4 and WM.9 
 
The following policies of the Core Strategy (2014) are relevant to the determination of this 
application: 
CP2: Sustainable construction 
CP6: Environmental quality 
 
The following saved policies of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan (2007) are 
also relevant to the determination of this application: 
D.2: General design and public realm considerations 
D.4: Townscape considerations 
T.24: General development control and access policy 
T.26: On-site parking and servicing provision 
 
Following the Examination hearings the Inspector has now issued her Interim Statement 
and has advised the Council of her recommended Main Modifications required to make 
the plan sound. The Main Modifications and Minor Proposed Changes are now subject to 
public consultation prior to the Inspector issuing her Final Report. The following policies 
can now be given substantial weight: 
 
D.2: Local character and distinctiveness 
D.5: Building design 

Page 156



D.6: Amenity 
 
The following policy can be given significant weight: 
 
ST.7: Transport requirements for managing development 
 
National Policy: 
The National Planning Policy Framework adopted March 2012  
National Planning Practice Guidance 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
DESIGN, CHARACTER AND APPEARANCE  
 
The proposed extension would be a proportionate addition that wold leave the original 
building predominant. The extension would be compatible with the form and design of the 
host bungalow, continuing the original roof profile and eaves line and matching the front 
building line of the existing front projection.  
 
The additional side windows would be in keeping with the existing fenestration and would 
have minimal impact on the character or appearance of the host building or the street 
scene. 
 
The proposed materials would be in keeping with the original building and the street 
scene.  
 
Overall, the proposed development would respond appropriately to the original bungalow 
and would be in keeping with the character and appearance of the street scene and 
general locality. The proposal would therefore comply with Core Strategy Policy CP6, 
saved Local Plan policies D.2 and D.4 and the aims of the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  
 
IMPACT ON THE AMENITIES OF NEIGHBOURING OCCUPIERS 
 
Given the siting of the proposed front extension, it would have no impact on the amenities 
of any neighbouring occupiers. 
 
No. 7 Fairways has several obscurely glazed side windows facing towards the application 
site and is set at a slightly lower ground level than No. 6. There is one existing side 
window at the application property which faces towards No. 7. Taking all factors into 
account, it is not considered that the proposed side window would result in a harmful 
increase in overlooking for the occupiers of No. 7 compared to the existing situation. 
 
The proposed side window on the south elevation would face towards the Golf Club so 
would have no impact on residential amenities. 
 
Overall, the proposed development would maintain an acceptable standard of amenity for 
the occupiers of all neighbouring residential properties in accordance with the relevant 
provisions of saved Local Plan Policy D.2 and the aims of the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  
 

Page 157



CAR PARKING AND HIGHWAY SAFETY 
 
The provision of two car parking spaces for the three bedroom dwelling would be 
acceptable. It is not considered that the creation of a new double width vehicle crossover 
in this location would have a harmful impact on the safe operation of the highway. The 
proposal would therefore comply with saved policies T.24 and T.26 of the Local Plan and 
the aims of the NPPF. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

PERMIT 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
 1 Standard Time Limit (Compliance) 
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) and to avoid the accumulation of unimplemented planning permission 
 
 2 Plans List (Compliance) 
The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance with 
the plans as set out in the plans list below. 
 
Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
 3 Materials (Compliance) 
All external walling and roofing materials to be used shall be as stated on drawing No. 
1626/02 or shall match those of the existing building in respect of  type, size, colour, 
pointing, coursing, jointing, profile and texture. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the surrounding area 
in accordance with Policies D.2 and D.4 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan 
and Policy CP6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy. 
 
 4 Highways - Bound/Compacted Surface Material (Complaince) 
The vehicular access and parking area shall be constructed with a bound and compacted 
surfacing material (not loose stone or gravel). 
 
Reason: To prevent loose material spilling onto the highway in the interests of highways 
safety in accordance with Policy T.24 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
 1 Drawing No. 1626/01 (Existing Floor Plans and Elevations) and drawing No. 1626/02 
(Proposed Floor Plans and Elevations) received 25/11/2016 and un-numbered 1:1250 OS 
site location plan received 29/11/2016. 
 
 2 Condition Categories 

Page 158



The heading of each condition gives an indication of the type of condition and what is 
required by it. There are 4 broad categories: 
 
Compliance - The condition specifies matters to which you must comply. These conditions 
do not require the submission of additional details and do not need to be discharged. 
 
Pre-commencement - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before any work begins on the approved development. 
The condition will list any specific works which are exempted from this restriction, e.g. 
ground investigations, remediation works, etc. 
 
Pre-occupation - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before occupation of all or part of the approved 
development.  
 
Bespoke Trigger - The condition contains a bespoke trigger which requires the submission 
and approval of further information, drawings or details before a specific action occurs.  
 
Please note all conditions should be read fully as these headings are intended as a guide 
only. 
 
Where approval of further information is required you will need to submit a conditions 
application and pay the relevant fee, details of the fee can be found on the "what happens 
after permission" pages of the Council's Website.  You can submit your conditions 
application via the Planning Portal at www.planningportal.co.uk or send it direct to 
planning_registration@bathnes.gov.uk.  Alternatively this can be sent by post to The 
Planning Registration Team, Planning Services, Lewis House, Manvers Street, Bath, BA1 
1JG. 
 
 3 Decision Making Statement 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Framework. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 159



Item No:   09 

Application No: 16/05508/FUL 

Site Location: 18 Upper Camden Place Walcot Bath Bath And North East Somerset 
BA1 5HX 

 

 

Ward: Lansdown  Parish: N/A  LB Grade: II 

Ward Members: Councillor Patrick Anketell-Jones Councillor Anthony Clarke  

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Installation of proposed mansard roof and associated dormer 
windows to front and rear elevations 

Constraints: Affordable Housing, Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Article 4, Article 4, 
Article 4, Conservation Area, Forest of Avon, Hotspring Protection, 
Listed Building, MOD Safeguarded Areas, SSSI - Impact Risk Zones, 
World Heritage Site,  

Applicant:  Mrs Tracey Dean-Chalkley 

Expiry Date:  9th February 2017 

Case Officer: Laura Batham 

 
REPORT 
Reason for calling to committee:  
The application was referred to the Chair by Cllr Annketell-Jones and the applicaiton was 
added to the agenda for the following reason: 
I have read this application & the report presented to me which includes the request by the 
Ward Cllr that it be considered by the DMC. I note the reasons for refusal & acknowledge 
consultee comments support this view but I feel the issue should be debated in the public 
arena as in the past there had been approval for a similar scheme under the policy 
relevant at that time. 
  
Site Description: 
18 Upper Camden Place is a mid-terraced dwelling located in the world heritage site and 
conservation area. The property is grade II listed and forms part of 14 houses which step 

Page 160



up gradually from east to west. The dwellings are set higher and back from the road, into 
the hillside. Constructed in Bath stone, the dwelling has a low double pitched roof set 
behind a parapet wall.  
  
Proposal: 
Installation of proposed mansard roof and associated dormer windows to front and rear 
elevations 
 
History: 
14194 & LB/14194-1 Erection of a mansard roof - Consent 23.3.88 
 
14194-2 & 14194-3 Erection of a mansard roof - Renewal of permission - Consent June 
1993  
 
DC - 07/02686/LBA - CON - 19 October 2007 - Internal alterations to include formation of 
bathroom at second floor and filling of opening at first floor 
 
DC - 16/05509/LBA - PDE - - Internal and external alterations to install mansard roof and 
associated dormer windows to front and rear elevations 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
Bath Preservation Trust:  
The Trust objects to this application on the basis of overdevelopment of the listed building 
and subsequent harm to its special historic and architectural interest. Whilst we are 
sympathetic to the owners' desire to increase living space, the level of change proposed 
constitutes substantial harm which is not outweighed by public benefit.  
This dwelling is part of an early 19th century terrace which steps down on the slope. 
Whilst we recognise there have been changes to roof profiles further up the terrace this 
dwelling is part of small group of buildings with a rhythmic and intended parapet low roof 
profile.  
The proposed changes will completely interrupt this roofline, tower above it (in particular 
the chimneys and gable ends) have an overbearing and incongruous impact and 
substantially change the character of this section of the terrace. As a result of the changes 
there would be substantial upper floor internal fabric interventions and loss of legible 
historic plan form which will again impact on the significance of the listed building. 
 
Ecology: Requests a condition. 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The Core Strategy now forms part of the statutory Development Plan 
and will be given full weight in the determination of planning applications. The Council's 
Development Plan now comprises: 
 
- Core Strategy (2014) 
- Saved Policies in the B&NES Local Plan (2007) 
- West of England Joint Waste Core Strategy (2011) which supersedes all 2007 Local 
Plan policies on Waste apart from Policies WM.4 and WM.9 
-  Adopted Neighbourhood Plans 
 

Page 161



The following policies of the Core Strategy (2014) are relevant to the determination of this 
application: 
 
B4: The World Heritage Site and its setting 
CP6: Environmental quality 
 
The following saved policies of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan (2007) are 
also relevant to the determination of this application: 
 
D.2: General design and public realm considerations 
D.4: Townscape considerations 
BH.2 - Listed buildings and their settings 
BH.6: Development within or affecting Conservation Areas 
 
The Placemaking Plan is at an advanced stage (albeit still at Examination) and policies 
not subject to representations at Draft Plan stage (or only subject of supporting 
representations) are considered to be capable of being given substantial weight. Policies 
still subject to outstanding/unresolved representations can only be given limited weight at 
this stage until the Inspector's Final Report is received. 
 
The following polices have substantial weight 
D.5: Building Design 
D.6: Amenity 
The following polices have significant weight 
HE.1: Historic Environment 
 
There is a duty under Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 In considering whether to grant planning permission for development 
which affects a listed building or its setting to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic 
interest which it possesses. 
 
There is a duty under Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 to pay special attention to the preservation or enhancement of the 
character of the surrounding conservation area.  
 
National Policy 
The National Planning Policy Framework adopted March 2012 and National Planning 
Practice Guidance. 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
The application seeks consent for the complete removal of the historic roof structure, the 
addition of a new and higher roof in mansard form, demolition and rebuild of chimneys. 
The property is grade II listed and is located in the conservation area and world heritage 
site of Bath. The dwelling is set within a terrace where mansard roofs are not considered 
to be a prominent feature and the current roof has a very low profile with low parapet wall. 
The proposal is accompanied by a listed building application which will assess the impact 
of the works upon the fabric of the building.  
 
Impact upon the listed building and character of the area: 

Page 162



 
The significance of this building as a building listed of special architectural and historic 
interest lies in its completeness as a historic building and the roof form and fabric is a 
critical element of this.  The proposal results in the complete loss of the historic roof form 
and fabric. To facilitate the mansard roof, the application also proposes to demolish the 
chimneys to below the parapet level and re-build and raise the height of the chimneys. 
The resultant overall loss of historic fabric and form is considerable and cannot be 
supported. The supporting heritage assessment has not addressed the loss of historic 
fabric within the building and the resulting impact upon significance.   
 
As well as loss of historic fabric, the proposals have a significant impact on the character 
and appearance of the building.  The house is set within a section of terrace where 
mansard roofs are not a prominent feature.  The roof was designed to have a low profile 
with low parapet wall. The mansard together with the new chimneys would be a prominent 
extension which would harm the character and appearance of the listed building as 
originally built.  Whilst there are examples of mansard roofs in the area, it is not 
considered that this sets a precedent for these changes to the roof of this listed building.  
The mansard would be significantly higher than the adjacent buildings resulting in a large 
gable end walls which would be prominent and awkward in the street scene and cause 
harm to the character of the conservation area and world heritage site. The application 
states that the addition of the mansard roof would improve the appearance of the dwelling, 
add interest to the terrace and improve the street scene. It is not considered that the 
proposal would add interest to the terrace. Indeed, it rather results in significant loss of the 
critical components of the existing building. The terrace is already acknowledged to have 
special historic and architectural interest in its grade II listing. A mansard roof is not 
required to improve the appearance of the building and results in a significant change to 
the original character of the listed building.  
 
It is considered that the proposals result in substantial harm to the listed building through 
loss significant parts of the building and impact on its original character. 
 
The application has relied upon a previous consent granted in 1988 and renewed in 1993 
for a mansard roof of a similar design; however, this was granted prior to the adoption of 
the current national and local polices. The current policies and best practice guidance 
have greater weight and a development granted under polices which are 20 years old is 
not considered to be a sufficient reason for approval. Polices evolve and represent a snap 
shot in time rather than an unchangeable element which must thereafter be permitted.  
 
The National Planning Policy Framework advises that 'where a proposed development will 
lead to substantial harm of a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities should 
refuse consent, unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or loss is 
necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss. The 
applicants have indicated that there is a need for additional accommodation within the 
property for their family. Public benefits are defined in national guidance as a benefit 
which is of a nature or scale to be of benefit to the public at large and should not just be a 
private benefit. The personal preferences for an increase in accommodation are not a 
public benefit for the building and not a sufficient justification for the level of harm 
proposed. The proposed alterations do not represent sustainable development which can 
be weighed against the level of harm caused to the dwelling.   
 

Page 163



Design and Amenity: 
The dwelling is set into the hillside with the rear gardens rising to the north of the site. The 
additional of the mansard roof would include the addition of windows overlooking the 
gardens; however, this level of overlooking would not be significant in comparison to the 
existing situation. The addition would not cause any significant loss of amenity or a 
significant increase in overlooking of the neighbouring dwellings.  
 
Ecology: 
It is noted for completeness that the extensive works proposed in ecological terms would 
require a precautionary approach due to the potential for protected species to be present 
and should the application have been supported a condition would to this effect would 
have been imposed.  
 
Conclusion:  
There is a duty under Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 In considering whether to grant planning permission for development 
which affects a listed building or its setting to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic 
interest which it possesses.  It is considered that the proposals would result in substantial 
harm to the special historic and architectural interest of the building.  This level of harm is 
not outweighed by any public benefits and refusal is therefore recommended. 
 
There is a duty under Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 to pay special attention to the preservation or enhancement of the 
character of the surrounding conservation area.  It is considered that the proposals would 
result in substantial harm and would not preserve or enhance the character of the 
conservation area.   
 

RECOMMENDATION 

REFUSE 
 
REASON(S) FOR REFUSAL 
 
 1 The proposed complete removal of the historic roof structure, the addition of a new and 
higher roof in mansard form, demolition and rebuild of the chimneys, would result in 
substantial harm to the listed building and this level of harm is not outweighed by any 
public benefits. The alterations would also cause harm to the character of the 
conservation area and world heritage site. As such the proposal is considered contrary to 
section 16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act, Saved Local 
Plan Policies BH.2, BH.6, Policy B4 of the Core Strategy, Placemaking Plan Policy HE1 
and the advice contained within the NPPF. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
 1 This decision relates to drawings 231/21, 231/11 A, 231/a and location plan received on 
11th November 2016. 
 
 2 In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied 
with the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Framework. The Local 
Planning Authority acknowledges the approach outlined in paragraphs 188-192 in favour 

Page 164



of front loading and operates a pre-application advice service. Notwithstanding active 
encouragement for pre-application dialogue the applicant did not seek to enter into 
correspondence with the Local Planning Authority. The proposal was considered 
unacceptable for the reasons given and the applicant was advised that the application was 
to be recommended for refusal. Despite this the applicant chose not to withdraw the 
application, and having regard to the need to avoid unnecessary delay the Local Planning 
Authority moved forward and issued its decision. 
 
 
 

Item No:   10 

Application No: 16/05509/LBA 

Site Location: 18 Upper Camden Place Walcot Bath Bath And North East Somerset 
BA1 5HX 

 

 

Ward: Lansdown  Parish: N/A  LB Grade: II 

Ward Members: Councillor Patrick Anketell-Jones Councillor Anthony Clarke  

Application Type: Listed Building Consent (Alts/exts) 

Proposal: Internal and external alterations to install mansard roof and 
associated dormer windows to front and rear elevations 

Constraints: Affordable Housing, Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Article 4, Article 4, 
Article 4, Conservation Area, Forest of Avon, Hotspring Protection, 
Listed Building, MOD Safeguarded Areas, SSSI - Impact Risk Zones, 
World Heritage Site,  

Applicant:  Mrs Tracey Dean-Chalkley 

Expiry Date:  9th February 2017 

Case Officer: Laura Batham 

 
REPORT 
Reason for calling to committee:  

Page 165



The application was referred to the Chair by Cllr Annketell-Jones and the applicaiton was 
added to the agenda for the following reason: 
I have read this application & the report presented to me which includes the request by the 
Ward Cllr that it be considered by the DMC. I note the reasons for refusal & acknowledge 
consultee comments support this view but I feel the issue should be debated in the public 
arena as in the past there had been approval for a similar scheme under the policy 
relevant at that time. 
  
Site Description: 
18 Upper Camden Place is a mid-terraced dwelling located in the world heritage site and 
conservation area. The property is grade II listed and forms part of 14 houses which step 
up gradually from east to west. The dwellings are set higher and back from the road, into 
the hillside. Constructed in Bath stone, the dwelling has a low double pitched roof set 
behind a parapet wall.  
  
Proposal: 
Internal and external alterations to install mansard roof and associated dormer windows to 
front and rear elevations 
 
History: 
14194 & LB/14194-1 Erection of a mansard roof - Consent 23.3.88 
 
14194-2 & 14194-3 Erection of a mansard roof - Renewal of permission - Consent June 
1993  
 
DC - 07/02686/LBA - CON - 19 October 2007 - Internal alterations to include formation of 
bathroom at second floor and filling of opening at first floor 
 
DC - 16/05508/FUL - PDE - - Installation of proposed mansard roof and associated 
dormer windows to front and rear elevations 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
Bath Preservation Trust:  
The Trust objects to this application on the basis of overdevelopment of the listed building 
and subsequent harm to its special historic and architectural interest. Whilst we are 
sympathetic to the owners' desire to increase living space, the level of change proposed 
constitutes substantial harm which is not outweighed by public benefit.  
This dwelling is part of an early 19th century terrace which steps down on the slope. 
Whilst we recognise there have been changes to roof profiles further up the terrace this 
dwelling is part of small group of buildings with a rhythmic and intended parapet low roof 
profile.  
The proposed changes will completely interrupt this roofline, tower above it (in particular 
the chimneys and gable ends) have an overbearing and incongruous impact and 
substantially change the character of this section of the terrace. As a result of the changes 
there would be substantial upper floor internal fabric interventions and loss of legible 
historic plan form which will again impact on the significance of the listed building. 
 
Historic England: 
This application should be determined in accordance with national and local policy 
guidance, and on the basis of your expert conservation advice. 

Page 166



 
Ecology: Requests a condition. 
 
Third Parties/Neighbours: 
No comments received 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
The Council has a statutory requirement under Section 16(2) of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 in considering whether to grant listed building 
consent for any works to have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building 
or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.  
 
With respect to any buildings or other land in a conservation area the Council has a 
statutory requirement under Section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character or appearance of that conservation area. 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is national policy in the conservation and 
enhancement of the historic environment which must be taken into account by the Council 
together with the related guidance given in the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG).   
 
The Council must have regard to its development plan where material in considering 
whether to grant listed building consent for any works. The Council's development plan 
comprises: 
-   Bath & North East Somerset Adopted Core Strategy 
-   Saved policies in the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan (2007) 
-   West of England Joint Waste Core Strategy (2011) 
 
The following policies of the Adopted Core Strategy are relevant to the determination of 
the application: 
-   CP6 - Environmental quality 
-   B4 - The World Heritage Site  
 
The following saved policies of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan, including 
minerals and waste policies, adopted October 2007 are also relevant to the determination 
of the application. 
-   BH.2 - Listed buildings and their settings 
-   BH.6 - Development within or affecting conservation areas  
 
The Placemaking Plan is at an advanced stage (albeit still at Examination) and policies 
not subject to representations at Draft Plan stage (or only subject of supporting 
representations) are considered to be capable of being given substantial weight. Policies 
still subject to outstanding/unresolved representations can only be given limited weight at 
this stage until the Inspector's Final Report is received. 
 
The following polices have significant weight 
HE.1: Historic Environment 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 

Page 167



The application seeks consent for the complete removal of the historic roof structure, the 
addition of a new and higher roof in mansard form, demolition and rebuild of chimneys, 
associated alterations to the plan form of the building and upgrading of historic fabric to 
meet fire precautions as a result of the changes. The property is grade II listed and is 
located in the conservation area and world heritage site of Bath.  
 
The significance of this building as a building listed of special architectural and historic 
interest lies in its completeness as a historic building and the roof form and fabric is a 
critical element of this.  The proposal results in the complete loss of the historic roof form 
and fabric.  The new roof form and additional storey result also in a change to the historic 
plan form of the building and necessary upgrading of fabric to meet fire regulations The 
proposals also involve alteration of the staircase at second floor to enable the addition of 
the staircase to the new floor which would cause damage to the historic staircase. To 
facilitate the mansard roof, the application also proposes to demolish the chimneys to 
below the parapet level and re-build and raise the height of the chimneys. The resultant 
overall loss of historic fabric and form is considerable and cannot be supported. The 
supporting heritage assessment has not addressed the loss of historic fabric within the 
building and the resulting impact upon significance.   
 
As well as loss of historic fabric, the proposals have a significant impact on the character 
and appearance of the building.  The house is set within a section of terrace where 
mansard roofs are not a prominent feature.  The roof was designed to have a low profile 
with low parapet wall. The mansard together with the new chimneys would be a prominent 
extension which would harm the character and appearance of the listed building as 
originally built.  Whilst there are examples of mansard roofs in the area, it is not 
considered that this sets a precedent for these changes to the roof of this listed building.  
The mansard would be significantly higher than the adjacent buildings resulting in a large 
gable end walls which would be prominent and awkward in the street scene. The 
application states that the addition of the mansard roof would improve the appearance of 
the dwelling, add interest to the terrace and improve the street scene. It is not considered 
that the proposal would add interest to the terrace. Indeed, it rather results in significant 
loss of the critical components of the existing building. The terrace is already 
acknowledged to have special historic and architectural interest in its grade II listing. A 
mansard roof is not required to improve the appearance of the building and results in a 
significant change to the original character of the listed building.  
 
It is considered that the proposals result in substantial harm to the listed building through 
loss significant parts of the building and impact on its original character. 
 
The application has relied upon a previous consent granted in 1988 and renewed in 1993 
for a mansard roof of a similar design; however, this was granted prior to the adoption of 
the current national and local polices. The current policies and best practice guidance 
have greater weight and a development granted under polices which are 20 years old is 
not considered to be a sufficient reason for approval. Polices evolve and represent a snap 
shot in time rather than an unchangeable element which must thereafter be permitted.  
 
The National Planning Policy Framework advises that 'where a proposed development will 
lead to substantial harm of a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities should 
refuse consent, unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or loss is 
necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss. The 

Page 168



applicants have indicated that there is a need for additional accommodation within the 
property for their family. Public benefit is defined in national guidance as a benefit which is 
of a nature or scale to be of benefit to the public at large and should not just be a private 
benefit. The personal preferences for an increase in accommodation are not a public 
benefit for the building and not a sufficient justification for the level of harm proposed. The 
proposed alterations do not represent sustainable development which can be weighed 
against the level of harm caused to the dwelling.   
 
It is noted for completeness that the extensive works proposed in ecological terms would 
require a precautionary approach due to the potential for protected species to be present 
and should the application have been supported a condition would to this effect would 
have been imposed.  
 
Conclusion:  
There is a duty under Section 16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990, when considering whether to grant listed building consent for any works 
to have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any 
features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.  It is considered 
that the proposals would result in substantial harm to the special historic and architectural 
interest of the building.  This level of harm is not outweighed by any public benefits and 
refusal is therefore recommended. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

REFUSE 
 
REASON(S) FOR REFUSAL 
 
 1 The proposed complete removal of the historic roof structure, the addition of a new and 
higher roof in mansard form, demolition and rebuild of the chimneys, associated 
alterations to the plan form of the building and upgrading of historic fabric to meet building 
regulations as a result of the changes would result in substantial harm to the listed 
building and this level of harm is not outweighed by any public benefits. As such the 
proposal is considered contrary to section 16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act, Saved Local Plan Policy BH.2, Placemaking Plan Policy HE1 
and the advice contained within the NPPF. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
 1 This decision relates to drawings 231/21, 231/11 A, 231/a and location plan received on 
11th November 2016. 
 
 2 In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied 
with the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Framework. The Local 
Planning Authority acknowledges the approach outlined in paragraphs 188-192 in favour 
of front loading and operates a pre-application advice service. Notwithstanding active 
encouragement for pre-application dialogue the applicant did not seek to enter into 
correspondence with the Local Planning Authority. The proposal was considered 
unacceptable for the reasons given and the applicant was advised that the application was 
to be recommended for refusal. Despite this the applicant chose not to withdraw the 

Page 169



application, and having regard to the need to avoid unnecessary delay the Local Planning 
Authority moved forward and issued its decision. 
 
 
 

Item No:   11 

Application No: 16/05059/FUL 

Site Location: 5 Crown Hill Upper Weston Bath Bath And North East Somerset BA1 
4BP 

 

 

Ward: Weston  Parish: N/A  LB Grade: II 

Ward Members: Councillor Colin Barrett Councillor Matthew Davies  

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Erection of single storey rear extension 

Constraints: Affordable Housing, Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Article 4, Conservation 
Area, Forest of Avon, Hotspring Protection, Listed Building, MOD 
Safeguarded Areas, SSSI - Impact Risk Zones, World Heritage Site,  

Applicant:  Mr A Pearce 

Expiry Date:  15th February 2017 

Case Officer: Anna Jotcham 

 
REPORT 
The application is being referred to the committee as the applicant works within Planning 
Services at Bath and North East Somerset Council. 
 
No. 5 sits within a row of cottages (with some modern infilling) on Crown Hill in Weston. 
The property is grade II listed and is located within the Bath Conservation Area and World 
Heritage Site designation. The historic building is likely to originate from the early C18 with 
later C18 and early C19 alterations. The building has also been altered in the C20, in 
particular with a series of haphazard extensions to the rear. 
 

Page 170



This is an application to construct a new single-storey building with a rectangular footprint 
across the rear of the cottage following the demolition of existing rear extensions. The 
proposals also seek to replace existing dormer/casement windows and remove the paint 
from the front elevation however these works do not require planning permission. The 
proposal is accompanied by a listed building application (16/05060/LBA) which will assess 
the impact of all of the proposed works upon the historic fabric of the building. 
 
Relevant planning history: 
 
98/00504/LBA - CON - 12 August 1998 - External and internal alterations to include 
removal of ground floor bathroom and replace on 2nd floor, improve finishes and joinery 
items. 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
No comments received, although one letter of support from the neighbours at no. 3 Crown 
Hill which was addressed to the applicants has been forwarded to the planning officer. 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The Core Strategy now forms part of the statutory Development Plan 
and will be given full weight in the determination of planning applications. The Council's 
Development Plan now comprises: 
 
-  Core Strategy 
-  Saved Policies in the B&NES Local Plan (2007)* 
-  Joint Waste Core Strategy 
-  Adopted Neighbourhood Plans 
 
The following policies of the Core Strategy are relevant to the determination of this 
application: 
 
Policy CP6 - Environmental quality  
Policy B4 - The World Heritage Site and its setting 
 
The B&NES Local Plan policies that are replaced by policies in the Core Strategy are 
outlined in Appendix 1 of the Core Strategy. Those B&NES Local Plan policies that are not 
replaced and remain saved are listed in Appendix 2 of the Core Strategy 
 
The following saved policies of the Bath and North East Local Plan, including minerals and 
waste policies, adopted October 2007 are also relevant to the determination of this 
application: 
 
Policy BH.2 - Listed buildings and their settings 
Policy BH.6 - Development within of affecting Conservation Areas 
Policy D.2 - General design and public realm considerations 
Policy D.4 - Townscape considerations 
 
Placemaking Plan 
  

Page 171



Following the Examination hearings the Inspector has now issued her Interim Statement 
and has advised the Council of her recommended Main Modifications required to make 
the plan sound. The Main Modifications and Minor Proposed Changes are now subject to 
public consultation prior to the Inspector issuing her Final Report. The following policies 
can now be given substantial weight: 
 
Policy D1 - General Urban Design Principles 
Policy D2 - Local Character and Distinctiveness 
Policy D5 - Building Design 
Policy D6 - Amenity 
 
The following policy is given significant weight: 
 
Policy HE1 - Historic Environment 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (March 2012) and the National Planning Practice 
Guidance (March 2014) can be awarded significant weight.  
 
There is a duty placed on the Council under Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act 'In considering whether to grant planning permission for 
development which affects a listed building or its setting' to 'have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural 
or historic interest which it possesses.'   
 
There is a duty placed on the Council under Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act to pay special attention to the preservation or enhancement 
of the character of the surrounding conservation area. 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
The application seeks permission to demolish the existing rear extensions and construct a 
new single-storey building across the rear of the cottage. Works to replace the dormer and 
casement windows and remove paint from the front elevation of the building are also 
proposed but do not require planning permission. The proposal is accompanied by a listed 
building application (16/05060/LBA) which will assess the impact of all of the proposed 
works upon the historic fabric of the building. 
 
Principle of development: 
 
The principle of a rear single-storey extension in this location is acceptable, subject to 
compliance with policies of the development plan and any other material considerations. 
 
Character, design and appearance: 
 
The design of the rear extension proposes a simple rectangular structure across the rear 
width of the cottage. This will provide a kitchen and living space with large glazed screen 
doors opening out onto the garden. Stained grey horizontal timber boarding will feature 
either side of the screen doors. A sloping glazed lantern light over stairs at the rear of the 
property will connect the extension to the main building. The sloping lantern light is a 
necessary feature to accommodate the change in land levels to access the rear ground 
level but it also serves to visually separate the principle building and extension. The 

Page 172



design of the lantern light has been refined during the planning application process in 
response to feedback from the Conservation Officer and is considered acceptable. 
Additional separation is provided by the use of different materials (the roof will be sedum 
and lead and the extension will be faced in timber and glazing). The flat roof which 
continues (minus the sedum) over the built form of the extension to form an angled 
canopy supported on steel posts helps to reduce the bulk and dominance of the 
extension. 
 
It is considered that the proposed design and materials for the rear extension are 
acceptable given the resulting simple and subservient form and that they will offer an 
improvement to the existing situation. Conditions requiring details of the screen doors and 
samples of walling and roofing materials have been added to the parallel listed building 
consent (16/05060/LBA). 
 
There is a duty under Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990. In considering whether to grant planning permission for development 
which affects a listed building or its setting to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic 
interest which it possesses. Here, it is considered that the design, scale, massing and use 
of materials will not cause serious harm to the character and setting of the listed building. 
 
There is a duty under Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 to pay special attention to the preservation or enhancement of the 
character of the surrounding conservation area. Here it is considered that the proposed 
extension will not be visible from the street and therefore there will be no harm to the 
appearance or visual quality of the Conservation Area. 
 
Residential amenity: 
 
The garden at no. 5 Crown Hill is divided by high stone walls which offers a strong sense 
of privacy and enclosure. It is considered that the proposed structure respects the 
surrounding area and would not cause any undue loss of amenity or overlooking. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

PERMIT 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
 1 Standard Time Limit (Compliance) 
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) and to avoid the accumulation of unimplemented planning permission 
 
 2 Sedum roof (Compliance) 
If, within a period of five years from the date of the development being completed, the 
sedum roof indicated on approved plan 497.17.A received 4 January 2017 dies, is 
removed or becomes seriously damaged or diseased it shall be replaced. 
 

Page 173



Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the surrounding area 
in accordance with Policies D.2 and D.4 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan 
and Policy CP6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy. 
 
 3 Plans List (Compliance) 
The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance with 
the plans as set out in the plans list below. 
 
Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
 1 19 Oct 2016 Drawing 497.21 BLOCK PLAN 
 
14 Oct 2016 Drawing 497.1 EXISTING GROUND FLOOR PLAN 
14 Oct 2016 Drawing 497.2 EXISTING FIRST FLOOR PLAN 
14 Oct 2016 Drawing 497.3 EXISTING SECOND FLOOR PLAN 
14 Oct 2016 Drawing 497.4 EXSITING SECTION 
14 Oct 2016 Drawing 497.5.A EXISTING ELEVATIONS 
 
4 Jan 2017 Drawing 497.16.A PROPOSED GROUND FLOOR 
4 Jan 2017 Drawing 497.17.A PROPOSED SECTION  
4 Jan 2017 Drawing 497.18.A PROPOSED ELEVATION 
 
 2 Condition Categories 
The heading of each condition gives an indication of the type of condition and what is 
required by it. There are 4 broad categories: 
 
Compliance - The condition specifies matters to which you must comply. These conditions 
do not require the submission of additional details and do not need to be discharged. 
 
Pre-commencement - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before any work begins on the approved development. 
The condition will list any specific works which are exempted from this restriction, e.g. 
ground investigations, remediation works, etc. 
 
Pre-occupation - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before occupation of all or part of the approved 
development.  
 
Bespoke Trigger - The condition contains a bespoke trigger which requires the submission 
and approval of further information, drawings or details before a specific action occurs.  
 
Please note all conditions should be read fully as these headings are intended as a guide 
only. 
 
Where approval of further information is required you will need to submit a conditions 
application and pay the relevant fee, details of the fee can be found on the "what happens 
after permission" pages of the Council's Website.  You can submit your conditions 
application via the Planning Portal at www.planningportal.co.uk or send it direct to 

Page 174



planning_registration@bathnes.gov.uk.  Alternatively this can be sent by post to The 
Planning Registration Team, Planning Services, Lewis House, Manvers Street, Bath, BA1 
1JG. 
 
 3 In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied 
with the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Framework. 
 
 
 

Item No:   12 

Application No: 16/05060/LBA 

Site Location: 5 Crown Hill Upper Weston Bath Bath And North East Somerset BA1 
4BP 

 

 

Ward: Weston  Parish: N/A  LB Grade: II 

Ward Members: Councillor Colin Barrett Councillor Matthew Davies  

Application Type: Listed Building Consent (Alts/exts) 

Proposal: Demolition of rear extensions and construction of new single-storey 
extension, replacement of dormer (front and rear) and casement 
(rear) windows and stone cleaning to front facade 

Constraints: Affordable Housing, Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Article 4, Conservation 
Area, Forest of Avon, Hotspring Protection, Listed Building, MOD 
Safeguarded Areas, SSSI - Impact Risk Zones, World Heritage Site,  

Applicant:  Mr A Pearce 

Expiry Date:  15th February 2017 

Case Officer: Anna Jotcham 

 
REPORT 
The application is being referred to the committee as the applicant works within Planning 
Services at Bath and North East Somerset Council. 
 

Page 175



No. 5 sits within a row of cottages (with some modern infilling) on Crown Hill in Weston. 
The property is grade II listed and is located within the Bath Conservation Area and World 
Heritage Site designation. The historic building is likely to originate from the early C18 with 
later C18 and early C19 alterations. The building has also been altered in the C20, in 
particular with a series of haphazard extensions to the rear. 
 
This is an application to demolish the existing rear extensions and construct a new single-
storey building with a rectangular footprint across the rear of the cottage. The proposals 
also seek to replace dormers / casement windows and remove the paint from the front 
elevation. The proposal is accompanied by a planning application (16/05059/FUL). 
 
Relevant planning history: 
 
98/00504/LBA - CON - 12 August 1998 - External and internal alterations to include 
removal of ground floor bathroom and replace on 2nd floor, improve finishes and joinery 
items. 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
Conservation Officer - Support following amendments to glazed lantern light. 
 
No formal third party comments were received although one letter of support from the 
neighbours at no. 3 Crown Hill which was addressed to the applicants has been forwarded 
to the planning officer. 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
The Council has a statutory requirement under Section 16(2) of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 in considering whether to grant listed building 
consent for any works to have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building 
or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.  
 
With respect to any buildings or other land in a conservation area the Council has a 
statutory requirement under Section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character or appearance of that conservation area. 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is national policy in the conservation and 
enhancement of the historic environment which must be taken into account by the Council 
together with the related guidance given in the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG).   
 
The Council must have regard to its development plan where material in considering 
whether to grant listed building consent for any works. The Council's development plan 
comprises: 
 
-   Bath & North East Somerset Adopted Core Strategy 
-   Saved policies in the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan (2007) 
-   West of England Joint Waste Core Strategy (2011) 
-   Adopted Neighbourhood Plans 
 
The following policies of the Adopted Core Strategy are relevant to the determination of 
the application: 

Page 176



 
Policy CP6 - Environmental quality 
Policy B4 - The World Heritage Site 
 
The following saved policies of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan, including 
minerals and waste policies, adopted October 2007 are also relevant to the determination 
of the application. 
 
Policy BH.2 - Listed buildings and their settings 
Policy BH.6 - Development within or affecting conservation areas  
 
The Cleaning of Bath Stone, Bath and North East Somerset Council (2010) 
Energy Efficiency & Renewable Energy Guidance For Listed Buildings and Undesignated 
Historic Buildings (2013) 
 
Placemaking Plan 
  
Following the Examination hearings the Inspector has now issued her Interim Statement 
and has advised the Council of her recommended Main Modifications required to make 
the plan sound. The Main Modifications and Minor Proposed Changes are now subject to 
public consultation prior to the Inspector issuing her Final Report. The following policy is 
given significant weight:  
 
Policy HE1 - Historic Environment 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
The application seeks permission to demolish the existing rear extensions and construct a 
new single-storey building across the rear of the cottage. Works to replace dormer and 
casement windows and remove paint from the front elevation of the building are also 
proposed. 
 
Demolish existing and construct new rear extension: 
 
There are currently two extensions to the rear of the building albeit joined in an ad hoc 
fashion. One appears to be historic, although much altered, and was formally an outhouse 
to the principle building. The other is of a modern construction. Whilst the historic 
extension has some detailing that is of some value it is not regarded that this is of such 
significance that would justify the retention of the structure. Generally the rear of the 
building is regarded as visually of poor quality and this is having a detrimental impact on 
the appearance and presentation of the building. Consequently, there is support for the 
removal of the existing rear extensions and a replacement structure. 
 
The design of the replacement rear extension proposes a simple rectangular structure 
across the rear width of the cottage. This will provide a kitchen and living space with large 
glazed screen doors opening out onto the garden. Stained grey horizontal timber boarding 
will feature either side of the screen doors. A sloping glazed lantern light over stairs at the 
rear of the property will connect the extension to the main building. The sloping lantern 
light is a necessary feature to accommodate the change in land levels to access the rear 
ground level but it also serves to visually separate the principle building and extension. 
The design of the lantern light has been refined during the planning application process in 

Page 177



response to feedback from the Conservation Officer and is considered acceptable. 
Additional separation is provided by the use of different materials (the roof will be sedum 
and lead and the extension will be faced in timber with glazing). The flat roof which 
continues (minus the sedum) over the built form of the extension to form an angled 
canopy supported on steel posts helps to reduce the bulk and dominance of the 
extension. 
 
It is considered that the proposed design and materials for the rear extension are 
acceptable given the resulting simple and subservient form and that they will offer an 
improvement to the existing situation. Conditions requiring details of the screen doors and 
samples of walling and roofing materials will be attached to the decision notice. 
 
Replace dormer and casement windows: 
 
The application proposes to reconstruct the upper front and rear dormer windows with a 
lead faced structure and appropriately detailed flush casement windows. The modern 
casement windows to the rear elevation will be similarly replaced. The Conservation 
Officer has inspected the windows and is satisfied that they appear to be largely made up 
of modern fabric. Consequently, their replacement is considered to be a good opportunity 
to improve their appearance and detailing. Details of casement window details have been 
submitted with the application and are considered acceptable. The new windows will be 
slim profile double glazed units. The use of double glazing is considered acceptable 
because it will be installed at discrete locations at a high level and/or at the rear of the 
property. Furthermore, the replacement windows will introduce a pattern of glazing more 
appropriate to the period of the heritage asset, thereby offering a heritage gain. This is 
consistent with the Council's guidance on retrofitting measures. Windows will be timber 
and painted to match the existing. 
 
Stone cleaning: 
 
It is proposed to remove the paint from the front facade of the building using a DOFF 
pressurized steam method. The specification for this method has been submitted with the 
application and is considered acceptable. It is likely that there will be some deteriorated 
stone beneath the paint and this will be made good with lime putty mortar to match the 
existing work. Conditions requiring samples of stone cleaning and lime mortar in the event 
that repairs are required have been attached to the decision notice. 
 
Conclusion: 
 
There is a duty under Section 16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990, when considering whether to grant listed building consent for 
development which affects a listed building or its setting to have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural 
or historic interest which it possesses. Here, it is considered that the design, scale, 
massing and use of materials for the extension will not cause harm to the character and 
setting of the listed building. The proposed replacement dormer and casement windows, 
stone cleaning and repairs will preserve and enhance the listed building and the special 
architectural interest it possesses. 
 

Page 178



There is a duty under Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 to pay special attention to the preservation or enhancement of the 
character of the surrounding conservation area. Here it is considered that the proposed 
extension will not be visible from the street and therefore there will be no harm to the 
appearance or visual quality of the Conservation Area. The proposed works on the front 
elevation will offer an improvement to current situation and will enhance the appearance 
and visual quality of the Conservation Area. 
 
In view of the above it is considered that the proposed works will not be harmful to the 
character and appearance of the listed building or the surrounding conservation area. The 
scheme satisfies the requirements of the adopted design and heritage related planning 
policies and is recommended for approval. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

CONSENT 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
 1 Time Limit - Listed Building Consent (Compliance) 
The works hereby approved shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the 
date of this consent. 
 
Reason: To comply with Section 18 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
 2 Materials - Submission of Schedule and Samples (Bespoke Trigger) 
No construction of the external walls of the development shall commence until a schedule 
of materials and finishes, and samples of the materials to be used in the construction of 
the external surfaces, including roofs, have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be carried out only in 
accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the surrounding area 
in accordance with Policies D.2 and D.4 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan 
and Policy CP6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy. 
 
 3 Stone cleaning (Compliance) 
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
Stone Cleaning Assessment and Specification included within the 'Design, Philosophy and 
Access Statement' dated October 2016. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the character and appearance of the building in accordance with 
Policy BH.2 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
 4 Stone Cleaning Sample (Bespoke Trigger) 
No work shall commence on the stone cleaning hereby approved until a sample panel has 
been provided in-situ to establish the final parameters of the stone cleaning and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved panel shall be kept on site for 
reference until the development is completed. Thereafter the work shall only be carried out 
in accordance with the approved sample panel. 

Page 179



 
Reason: To safeguard features of special architectural and historical interest and preserve 
the character and appearance of the building in accordance with Policy BH.2 of the Bath 
and North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
 5 Mortar Mix (Bespoke Trigger) 
No re-pointing / stone repair work shall be carried out until details of the specification for 
the mortar mix and a sample area of pointing / stone repair demonstrating colour, texture, 
jointing and finish have be provided in situ for the inspection and approval in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority and retained for reference until the work has been completed. 
Once approved the works shall be completed in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To safeguard features of special architectural and historical interest and preserve 
the character and appearance of the building in accordance with Policy BH.2 of the Bath 
and North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
 6 Extension - external glazing (Bespoke Trigger) 
No installation of external glazing, shown on approved plan 497.18.A received 4 January 
2017, shall commence until full details comprising appropriately scaled drawings and 
product specification have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Thereafter the work shall only be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the character and appearance of the building in accordance with 
Policy BH.2 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
 7 Plans List (Compliance) 
The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance with 
the plans as set out in the plans list below. 
 
Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
 1 19 Oct 2016 Drawing 497.21 BLOCK PLAN 
 
14 Oct 2016 Drawing 497.1 EXISTING GROUND FLOOR PLAN 
14 Oct 2016 Drawing 497.2 EXISTING FIRST FLOOR PLAN 
14 Oct 2016 Drawing 497.3 EXISTING SECOND FLOOR PLAN 
14 Oct 2016 Drawing 497.4 EXISTING SECTION 
14 Oct 2016 Drawing 497.5.A EXISTING ELEVATIONS 
 
4 Jan 2017 Drawing 497.16.A PROPOSED GROUND FLOOR 
4 Jan 2017 Drawing 497.17.A PROPOSED SECTION  
4 Jan 2017 Drawing 497.18.A PROPOSED ELEVATION 
 
14 Oct 2016 Drawing 497.19 WINDOW CASEMENT DETAILS 
14 Oct 2016 Drawing 497.20 INTERNAL DOOR DETAILS 
 
 2 Condition Categories 

Page 180



The heading of each condition gives an indication of the type of condition and what is 
required by it. There are 4 broad categories: 
 
Compliance - The condition specifies matters to which you must comply. These conditions 
do not require the submission of additional details and do not need to be discharged. 
 
Pre-commencement - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before any work begins on the approved development. 
The condition will list any specific works which are exempted from this restriction, e.g. 
ground investigations, remediation works, etc. 
 
Pre-occupation - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before occupation of all or part of the approved 
development.  
 
Bespoke Trigger - The condition contains a bespoke trigger which requires the submission 
and approval of further information, drawings or details before a specific action occurs.  
 
Please note all conditions should be read fully as these headings are intended as a guide 
only. 
 
Where approval of further information is required you will need to submit a conditions 
application and pay the relevant fee, details of the fee can be found on the "what happens 
after permission" pages of the Council's Website.  You can submit your conditions 
application via the Planning Portal at www.planningportal.co.uk or send it direct to 
planning_registration@bathnes.gov.uk.  Alternatively this can be sent by post to The 
Planning Registration Team, Planning Services, Lewis House, Manvers Street, Bath, BA1 
1JG. 
 
 3 In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied 
with the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Framework. 
 
 
 

Page 181



This page is intentionally left blank



Bath & North East Somerset Council

MEETING: Development Management Committee

MEETING 
DATE: 8 February 2017

AGENDA
ITEM
NUMBER

TITLE: Quarterly Performance Report  Oct – Dec 2016

WARD: ALL

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM

List of attachments to this report:

Analysis of Chair referral cases

1 THE ISSUE

At the request of Members and as part of our on-going commitment to making service 
improvements, this report provides Members with performance information across a range of 
activities within the Development Management function. 

This report covers the period from 1 Oct – 31 Dec 2016. 

Keep up to date with the latest Planning news on our Latest News web page here:
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/latest-news

2 RECOMMENDATION

Members are asked to note the contents of the performance report.

3 THE REPORT

Tables, charts and commentary

Page 183

Agenda Item 11

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/latest-news


1 - Comparison of Applications Determined Within Target Times

2015/16 2016/17% of planning 
applications in time Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

% Majors in time 64% 78% 59% 85% 71% 89% 73%
% Minors in time 67% 71% 76% 82% 81% 79% 79%
% Others in time 77% 81% 85% 87% 80% 83% 86%

Highlights:
 The chart and table above shows excellent performance on all three of the planning 

application categories, particularly in the last two months of the year, well above the 
national target. 

Note:  Major (10+ dwellings/0.5 hectares and over, 1000+ sqm/1 hectare and over);
Minor (1-10 dwellings/less than 0.5 hectares, Up to 999 sqm/under 1 hectare);
Other (changes of use, householder development, adverts, listed building consents, lawful 
development certificates, notifications, etc).

2 - Recent Planning Application Performance

2015/16 2016/17Application nos.
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Received 650 646 589 675 740 671 630
Withdrawn 52 73 76 65 56 55 75
Delegated  no. and % 553

(97%)
570
(96%)

514
(96%)

488
(97%)

601
(95%)

643
(96%)

560
(95%)

Refused no. and % 56 (10%) 35 (6%) 52 (10%) 35 (7%) 59 (9%) 56 (8%) 59 (10%)

Highlights:
 B&NES have shown a 5% rise in planning application numbers when compared to the 

previous 12 month period which is above the national trend (up 2%). 
 The current delegation rate is slightly above the last published England average of 94% 

(Year to Sept 2016). Page 184



 Percentage of refusals on planning applications remains low when compared with the last 
published England average of 12% (Year ending Sept 2016).

3 – Dwelling Numbers

2015/16 2016/17Dwelling numbers
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Major residential (10 or 
more dwellings) 
decisions 

13 2 9 4 2 6 4

Major residential 
decisions granted

9 2 8 3 1 6 4

Number of dwellings 
applied for on Major 
schemes

1137 180 225 354 203 640 952

Number of dwellings 
permitted on schemes

1636 114 719 228 116 537 110

Number of dwellings 
refused on schemes

103 41 151 83 80 32 10

Highlights:
 Numbers of major residential planning decisions (10 or more dwellings) has fallen slightly in 

the last quarter but all were permitted. 

4 - Planning Appeals

Jan – Mar 
2016

Apr – Jun 
2016

Jul – Sep 
2016

Oct – Dec 
2016

Appeals lodged 19 18 27 24
Appeals decided 25 16 20 25
Appeals allowed 7 (28%) 6 (43%) 2 (10%) 3 (12%)
Appeals dismissed 18 (72%) 8 (57%) 18 (90%) 22 (88%)

Highlights:
 In the year to Dec 2016 there has been a 4% drop in appeal numbers.
 Over the last 12 months our performance on appeals allowed is very good and within the 

national average at 21% (national average approx. 33%).  The last 6 months has seen an 
average of 10%.

5 - Enforcement Investigations 

Jan – Mar 
2016

Apr – Jun 
2016

Jul – Sep 
2016

Oct – Dec 
2016

Investigations launched 194 165 166 145
Investigations on hand 322 341 351 330
Investigations closed 296 150 168 136
Enforcement Notices issued 3 13 0 4
Planning Contravention Notices 
served 

6 8 11 17

Breach of Condition Notices 
served

1 1 0 0

Page 185



6 – Other Work (applications handled but not included in national returns)

The service also has formal procedures to process pre-application advice, householder 
development questionnaires, discharging conditions, prior approvals, prior notifications and non-
material amendments to list a few.  The table below shows the total number received which 
require resource to action and determine.
  

Jan – Mar 2016 Apr – Jun 2016 Jul – Sep 2016 Oct  - Dec 2016

Other types of work 574 651 565 486

Highlights:
 Noticeable decrease over the last two quarters after peaking spring/summer 

7 – Works to Trees

The number and percentage of determined tree applications and notifications  

Jan – Mar 2016 Apr – Jun 2016 Jul – Sep 2016 Oct – Dec 2016
Number of applications 
for works to trees subject 
to a Tree Preservation 
Order (TPO) 

22 9 20 24

Percentage of 
applications for works to 
trees subject to a TPO 
determined within 8 
weeks

100% 100% 100% 96%

Number of notifications 
for works to trees within a 
Conservation Area (CA)

164 138 183 232

Percentage of 
notifications for works to 
trees within a 
Conservation Area (CA) 
determined within 6 
weeks

99% 99% 97% 100%

Highlights:
 There has been an autumn seasonal rise in the numbers of TPOs and Notifications the last 

quarter.
 Performance on determining applications for works to trees subject to Tree Preservation 

Orders and on dealing with notifications for works to trees within a Conservation Area 
remains excellent.

8 – Corporate Customer Feedback

Customer Feedback Jan – Mar 
2016

Apr – Jun 
2016

Jul – Sep 2016 Oct – Dec 
2016

Compliments received 6 12 47 24
Page 186



Complaints received 5 11 15 3

Complaints upheld 0 1 1 0

Complaints Not upheld 4 4 6 3

Complaints Partly upheld 1 0 0 0

Highlights:
 There has been a significant increase in compliments received during the last 6 months.

9 - Ombudsman Complaints

When a customer remains dissatisfied with the outcome of the Corporate Complaints investigation 
they can take their complaint to the Local Government Ombudsman for an independent view.

Ombudsman
Complaints Jan – Mar 16 Apr – Jun 16 Jul – Sep 16 Oct – Dec 16

Complaints received 3 4 0 0

Complaints upheld 2 0 0 0

Complaints Not upheld 2 3 1 2

10 – Working With Our Customers  

In 2013 we launched an Accredited Agent Scheme. Our Accredited agents have shown they fully 
understand how to submit a properly prepared planning application which means they are 
quicker for us to process and so reduce delays for the customer. The number of ‘invalid’ 
applications being submitted in general is relatively low now at 41% in the last quarter.  A list of 
current Accredited Agents is displayed on the council website.  

We completed another Planning survey to get customer feedback recently where we have seen 
an increase in customer satisfaction to 69% since the last survey 18 months ago.

We hold quarterly Agent Forum meetings, the latest of which was in October.  The meetings 
allow us to deliver briefings on subjects such as Drainage and Flooding considerations and 
policy changes as well as gather important and useful feedback and ideas from our regular 
agents as we strive to improve the services we deliver. Any agent can join the forum by emailing 
development_management@bathnes.gov.uk to be added to the Agents’ Forum mailing list.

11 – Section 106 Agreements and Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

Members will be aware of the Planning Obligations SPD was first published July 2009. Planning 
Services have spent the last few years compiling a database of Section 106 Agreements. This is 
still in progress, but does enable the S106 Monitoring Officer to actively monitor the delivery of 
agreed obligations.  The Council started to charge the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) from 

Page 187

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning/planning-advice-and-guidance/planning-agents
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning/planning-advice-and-guidance/planning-agents
mailto:development_management@bathnes.gov.uk


April 2015.  Early CIL collection figures have been added to the table below – these financial 
overview sums will be refreshed for every quarterly report.  

 (Note: all figures are for guidance only because of the further work still being undertaken in monitoring)

Section 106 and 
CIL Apr – Jun 

2016
Jul – Sep 

2016
Oct – Dec 

2016
Jan – Mar 

2017

Annual 
running 
total (fin 

year)
S106 Funds 

agreed £2,049,013.86 £382,278.42 £0 £2,431,292.28

S106 Funds 
received £166,143.68 £2,891,801.12 £894,961.03 £3,952,905.83

CIL sums 
overview 

Potential to date
£6,809,169.87 (since April ’15)

CIL sums 
overview 

Collected to date
£1,316,356.08 (since April ’15)

12 – Chair Referrals

Table 12 below shows the numbers of planning applications where Chair decision has been 
sought to either decide the application under delegated authority or refer to Development 
Management Committee.  A further analysis of Chair referral cases is attached as an 
Appendix item to this report.

Jan – Mar 
2016

Apr – Jun 
2016

Jul – Sept 
2016

Oct – Dec 
2016

Chair referral delegated 13 14 25 22
Chair referral to DM Committee 8 19 12 15

13 – 5 Year Housing Land Supply against Total Planned Provision 
13,000 for 2016/17 – 2020/21

A Total Planned Provision 2011-29 13,000

B Built over years 1-5 11/12 - 15/16 2,971

C Plan requirement for years 1-10 (5 years hence) 11/12 - 20/21 7,220

D 5 year Supply Requirement (100%) 16/17 - 20/21 4,249

E 5 year Supply Requirement (with 5% buffer) 16/17 - 20/21 4,461

F 5 year Supply Requirement (with 20% buffer) 16/17 - 20/21 5,099

G Deliverable Supply (#) 16/17 - 20/21 5,726

H Deliverable Supply buffer (%) 16/17 - 20/21 35%

I Deliverable Supply (#) over 100% requirement 16/17 - 20/21 1,477

J Deliverable Supply (#) over 105% requirement 16/17 - 20/21 1,265

K Deliverable Supply (#) over 120% requirement 16/17 - 20/21 627

Between 2016 and 2021 BANES needs to deliver 4,249 dwellings and be able to identify a 
deliverable supply of 5,099 dwellings. The 20% buffer is a national requirement needed to 
ensure delivery. Against these requirements the Council can currently identify a deliverable 
supply of 5,726. Not all of this deliverable supply has a full, reserved matters, or outline planning 

Page 188



permission. Further, the supply figure can change if planning and development timetables 
change. For example if a major planning application is refused, this would entail time to prepare 
revisions or appeal the decision, or, it may take longer than expected for a land trader to sell on 
a planning permission to a developer.

 

Contact person John Theobald, Project/Technical and Management Support Officer, 
Development  01225 477519

Background 
papers

CLG General Development Management statistical returns PS1 and 
PS2 +
Planning applications statistics on the DCLG website: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-
planning-application-statistics

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an 
alternative format

Page 189

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-planning-application-statistics
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-planning-application-statistics


This page is intentionally left blank



Application no ADDRESS PROPOSAL Decision Level Decision Date Status Notes

16/04104/LBA

Green Park Sta�on
Green Park Road
City 

Centre
Bath
Bath And North East Somerset
BA1 1JB Exterior alterations to attach a metal plaque COMMDC 20-Oct-16 CON Applicant is Councillor Butters.

16/03724/FUL

Lea Meadow House
Wells 

Road
Hallatrow
Bristol
BS39 6EN


Erection of 4 No. detached dwellings (Resubmission of 

15/04514/FUL) COMMDC 20-Oct-16 PERMIT

Application has been referred to 

committee for determination at the 

request of Cllr Kew.  The Chair of the 

Planning Committee has studied the 

application, and has agreed that the 

application be determined by 

committee.

16/04668/FUL

13 Horsecombe Brow
Combe Down
Bath
Bath And 

North East Somerset
BA2 5QY

Provision of loft conversion with hipped side and rear pitched 

dormer. COMMDC 15-Dec-16 PERMIT

Application presented to committee 

as the property is owned by Cllr 

Cochrane.

16/05205/FUL

12 Hardington Drive
Keynsham
Bristol
Bath And 

North East Somerset
BS31 1YA First floor extension above existing garage. CHAIR 19-Dec-16 RF Chair referral delegated decision

16/04023/FUL 16 Manor Road
Upper Weston
Bath
BA1 4BW

Change of use from dwelling house (use class C3) to house of 

multiple occupation (use class C4).
CHAIR 07-Oct-16 PERMIT

Chair referral delegated decision

16/02384/LBA

2 Manor Farm CoCages
Anchor Lane
Combe 

Hay
Bath
Bath And North East Somerset
BA2 7EH

Internal and external alterations to provide ground floor WC, rear 

terrace, provision of en suite bathroom to first floor and new 

bathroom and dressing room to first floor level. CHAIR 21-Dec-16 CON Chair referral delegated decision

16/04893/FUL

3 ShaDesbury Road
Oldfield Park
Bath
Bath And 

North East Somerset
BA2 3LQ Change of use from residential (C3) to HMO (C4) CHAIR 25-Nov-16 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

16/04897/FUL

35 Kensington Gardens
Walcot
Bath
Bath And North 

East Somerset
BA1 6LH

Change of use from C3 (Dwelling) to C4 (House in multiple 

occupation) CHAIR 24-Nov-16 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

16/04655/FUL

38 Waveney Road
Keynsham
Bristol
Bath And North 

East Somerset
BS31 1RX

Erection of two storey side and rear extension and single storey 

front extension following demolition of existing porch and garage. CHAIR 25-Nov-16 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

16/05265/OUT

53 High Fields
Stanton Drew
Bristol
Bath And North 

East Somerset
BS39 4DH Erection of a dwelling and 2 new garages CHAIR 20-Dec-16 RF Chair referral delegated decision

16/04880/FUL

540 Bath Road
SalGord
Bristol
Bath And North East 

Somerset
BS31 3JL Creation of a driveway and drop kerb access CHAIR 24-Nov-16 RF Chair referral delegated decision

16/04661/FUL

67 Albany Road
Twerton
Bath
Bath And North East 

Somerset
BA2 1BW

Change of use from 3 bed dwelling (use class C3) to house of 

multiple occupation (use class C4) CHAIR 17-Nov-16 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

16/05269/FUL

72 St Ladoc Road
Keynsham
Bristol
Bath And North 

East Somerset
BS31 2EN

Erection of single storey side extension and conversion of garage 

into additional bedroom. CHAIR 14-Dec-16 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

16/05332/FUL Brooklands
Paulton Road
Hallatrow
Bristol
BS39 6EG


Provision of 3 no. dormer windows to north elevation 

(Retrospective). CHAIR 28-Dec-16 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

16/05390/FUL

Elm Park Court
Chewton Road
Chewton 

Keynsham
Keynsham
Bristol
Bath And North East 

Somerset
BS31 2SS Erection of two storey front entrance porch CHAIR 21-Dec-16 RF Chair referral delegated decision

16/04984/LBA

Grey House
Staunton Lane
Whitchurch
Bristol
Bath 

And North East Somerset
BS14 0QG

Removal of small section of boundary stone wall to form vehicular 

and pedestrian access from Staunton Lane to proposed building 

plot adjacent to Grey House CHAIR 13-Dec-16 CON Chair referral delegated decision

16/02983/FUL Orchard Fields
Claverton Hill
Claverton
Bath
BA2 7BB


Erection of replacement agricultural building following demolition 

of existing structure CHAIR 21-Oct-16 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

14/03040/FUL Parcel 7805
Mill Road
Radstock



 Raising of levels and earth bund for landscaping purposes. 

(Retrospective) CHAIR 28-Nov-16 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

P
age 191



16/04638/FUL

Perrymead
South Widcombe
Hinton 

BleweC
Bristol
Bath And North East Somerset
BS40 

6BL

Conversion and extension of outbuildings to form a holiday 

accommodation unit CHAIR 15-Nov-16 RF Chair referral delegated decision

16/04638/FUL

Perrymead
South Widcombe
Hinton 

BleweC
Bristol
Bath And North East Somerset
BS40 

6BL

Conversion and extension of outbuildings to form a holiday 

accommodation unit CHAIR 15-Nov-16 RF Chair referral delegated decision

16/04709/FUL Rj King & Sons
Mill Road
Radstock
BA3 5TX
 Erection of 7 dwellings with associated landscaping and parking CHAIR 16-Dec-16 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

16/01250/FUL

St Catherine's Court
St Catherine Lane
St. 

Catherine
Bath
Bath And North East Somerset
BA1 

8HA

Erection of building to house swimming pool, gym etc in grounds 

west of St Catherine's Court (revised scheme). CHAIR 30-Nov-16 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

16/02016/FUL
The Stables
Home Farm
Mill 

Lane
Inglesbatch
Bath
BA2 9DZ

Erection of rear extension and boundary wall (retrospective) CHAIR 07-Oct-16 PERMIT

Chair referral delegated decision

16/04292/VAR

Unregistered Farm Shop And Cafe
Castle 

Farm
Midford Road
Midford
Bath



Variation of conditions 2 and 7 of application 16/01609/FUL 

granted on 25/08/2016 CHAIR 29-Nov-16 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

16/05471/FUL

Willow Bank
Bristol Road
Paulton
Bristol
Bath And 

North East Somerset
BS39 7NX Erection of garden shed (Retrospective). CHAIR 28-Dec-16 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

15/04179/LBA

Holly Farm
The Green
Farmborough
Bath
Bath And 

North East Somerset
BA2 0AY

Internal and external alterations to include erection of 2 no. new 

dwellings to the rear of the plot and conversion of existing barn 

and cowshed to 2 no. dwellings with associated works. COMMDC 17-Nov-16 CON

Chair referral to committee.  

Farmborough Parish Council - 

Objected in principle to the planning 

application, which also covers listed 

building works, and the officers are 

minded to approve. The Chair's 

decision was that it should be 

determined by the committee.

16/04284/FUL

Farmborough Memorial Hall
LiCle 

Lane
Farmborough
Bath
Bath And North East 

Somerset
BA2 0AE Erection of community shop COMMDC 17-Nov-16 PERMIT

Chair referral to committee.  I am 

Chair of Hall cmt & have signed 

agreement between Shop cmt & 

Parish Council, I am also a Parish 

Councillor so for transparency 

reasons feel this application should 

be determined by DMC which I also 

Chair so will not for this item if it is 

heard by DMC. The application is 

likely to be controversial regarding 

access in particular & possibly 

landscaping regarding hedge adjacent 

to Timsbury Road.

P
age 192



16/03043/FUL

18 Eden Park Drive
Batheaston
Bath
Bath And North 

East Somerset
BA1 7JJ

Erection of 2no.detached dwellings with detached garages, access 

and associated works COMMDC 20-Oct-16 PERMIT

Chair referral to committee.  I have 

looked at the application in relation 

to PC and third party objections and 

note the points raised have been 

addressed through further details 

being submitted which the report 

identifies but I feel questions remain 

in relation to policy particularly 

linked to the street scene and for this 

reason recommend this application 

be determined by DMC.

15/03124/FUL

Land At Rear Of 25-32
Sladebrook 

Avenue
Southdown
Bath



Erection of new single storey dwelling with associated parking and 

access at land rear of 25-32 Sladebrook Avenue, Bath 

(resubmission) COMMDC 15-Nov-16 PERMIT

Chair referral to committee.  I have 

looked at the points raised by third 

parties and I feel this application has 

a number of issues which I feel 

should be dealt with at committee.

16/00792/FUL

8 Warminster Road
Bathampton
Bath
Bath And 

North East Somerset
BA2 6SH Erection of two-storey rear extension with first floor rear balcony COMMDC 17-Nov-16 PERMIT

Chair referral to committee.  I have 

looked carefully at the application, 

revised plans and second 

consultation comment.  I note the 

extension within Green Belt is just 

(30.7%) in line with policy however I 

feel the concerns raised linked to 

scale and impact on neighbours 

remains relevant and the application 

should be taken to DMC for decision.

16/03069/FUL

Workshop
239A London Road 

East
Batheaston
Bath
BA1 7RL


Conversion and extension of existing industrial building to create a 

Live Work Unit. COMMDC 17-Nov-16 PERMIT

Chair referral to committee.  I have 

read this application carefully noting 

the Ward Cllr, Batheaston PC and 

resident's objections and comments 

it is clear there are concerns over the 

design and its relationship in the 

area.  The Officer has addressed 

these points in the report presented 

to me but I feel this application 

should be determined by DMC as it 

remains controversial.

P
age 193



16/01436/LBA

Parking Area Rear Of 4A
York Place
London 

Road
Walcot
Bath
BA1 6AE


External alterations to include the erection of a building comprising 

4no. residential apartments. COMMDC 17-Nov-16 CON

Chair referral to committee.  I have 

read through this application 

carefully & note the resubmitted 

proposals regarding highway issues 

which the Highways Officer has 

commented on however I feel this is 

an area of concern & it is on these 

grounds that I recommend the 

decision by made by DMC as 

requested by the Ward Cllr.

16/01435/FUL

Parking Area Rear Of 4A
York Place
London 

Road
Walcot
Bath
BA1 6AE
 Erection of a building comprising 4no. residential apartments. COMMDC 17-Nov-16 PERMIT

Chair referral to committee.  I have 

read through this application 

carefully & note the resubmitted 

proposals regarding highway issues 

which the Highways Officer has 

commented on however I feel this is 

an area of concern & it is on these 

grounds that I recommend the 

decision by made by DMC as 

requested by the Ward Cllr.

16/04282/FUL

101 Wellsway
Keynsham
Bristol
Bath And North East 

Somerset
BS31 1HZ Erection of an extension to form 2no 1 bedroom flats. COMMDC 17-Nov-16 PERMIT

Chair referral to committee.  I have 

studied the application and related 

information so am fully aware of the 

pre-app advice and 

Transport/Highways assessments.  I 

note KTC objections and although 

some are notconcerning planning 

policy I feel the third party objections 

linked to highway safety and parking 

are still controversial particularly as 

certain bus services have been 

rediced in the area. I therefore 

recommend this decision be taken by 

the DMC.

P
age 194



15/04085/FUL

Holly Farm
The Green
Farmborough
Bath
Bath And 

North East Somerset
BA2 0AY

Erection of 2 no. new dwellings to the rear of the plot and 

conversion of existing barn and cowshed  to create 2 no. dwellings 

with associated works. (Resubmission) COMMDC 17-Nov-16 PERMIT

Chair referral to committee.  I have 

studied this application and spoken 

to the office regarding issues raised, 

these have been addressed in the 

report presented to me in relation to 

planning policy. However, it seems 

the controversy remains over the 

development of the whole site, the 

barns conversion appears more 

acceptable but the erection of 2 new 

dwellings can be seen as 

overdevelopment of the site and for 

this reason I recommend the 

application be determined by DMC.

16/04512/FUL

Church Farm
Church Lane
Stanton Drew
Bristol
Bath 

And North East Somerset
BS39 4EW Change of use to convert farm building to provide a farm dwelling. COMMDC 15-Dec-16 PERMIT

Chair referral to committee.  I have 

studied this application carefully and 

note the PC and third party 

comments, it is evident there are 

mixed views in relation to the 

interpretation of various planning 

policies. The Officer, in the report 

presented to me, has assessed the 

application in relation to relevant 

policies however I recommend the 

application be determined by DMC as 

I feel it remains controversial.

16/03446/FUL

Blackhorse CoCage
Pilgrims Way
Chew 

Stoke
Bristol
Bath And North East Somerset
BS40 

8UD Erection of single dwelling adjacent to existing property COMMDC 20-Oct-16 PERMIT

Chair referral to committee. I have 

looked at this application carefully & 

read the comments from consultees 

& the Parish Council. It is 

controversial as to whether the 

proposals are best suited to the site 

in relation to the neighbouring 

properties & for this reason I 

recommend the application be 

determined by DMC.

P
age 195



16/03019/LBA

The Firs
Main Road
Chelwood
Bristol
Bath And North 

East Somerset
BS39 4NW

Internal and external alterations to erect a rear garden room and 

first floor extension COMMDC 20-Oct-16 RF

Chair referral to committee. I have 

studied this application & note the PC 

support, the controversial part of the 

application is regarding the effect this 

proposal, particularly the ground 

floor, would have on the listed 

building, the size of the extension is 

acceptable within Green belt 

guidance. The report presented to 

me addresses the proposals in 

relation to planning policy however I 

recommend this application should 

be determined by DMC.

16/03018/FUL

The Firs
Main Road
Chelwood
Bristol
Bath And North 

East Somerset
BS39 4NW Erection of rear garden room and first floor extension COMMDC 20-Oct-16 RF

Chair referral to committee. I have 

studied this application & note the PC 

support, the controversial part of the 

application is regarding the effect this 

proposal, particularly the ground 

floor, would have on the listed 

building, the size of the extension is 

acceptable within Green belt 

guidance.

The report presented to me 

addresses the proposals in relation to 

planning policy however I 

recommend this application should 

be determined by DMC.

P
age 196



16/02441/FUL

St Nicholas Church
Church 

Road
Whitchurch
Bristol
Bath And North East 

Somerset
BS14 0PR Erection of disabled WC to front elevation. COMMDC 21-Oct-16 RF

Chair referral to committee. I note 

the Ward Cllr & Whitchurch PC 

objections which have been 

addressed in the report presented to 

me, it is clear there is not an easy 

answer to ensuring the Church is able 

to adapt to the needs of user groups 

unobtrusively. The use of materials I 

believe remains controversial, 

Historic England have referred to this 

but not stated their preferred option 

while Officers have considered other 

materials but feel the timber in this 

application is acceptable however I 

feel it is on the question of materials 

that the decision should be taken by 

the DMC.

16/02658/REM

Rockery Tea Gardens Vacant Premises
North 

Road
Combe Down
Bath



Removal of condition 11 on application 13/01733/FUL, allowed on 

appeal 15th May 2015,(Erection of a detached single storey 

dwelling (revised proposal). COMMDC 21-Oct-16 RF

Cllr Cherry Beath has requested that 

the application go to Committee for 

the following reasons: Sensitive site. 

High strength of local feeling and it 

would serve the public interest for 

the decision being heard in public.  

Cllr Bob Goodman has also requested 

that the application go to Committee 

for the reason that the condition was 

imposed by the Planning 

Inspectorate and should not be 

removed. The expense of the glass is 

not valid planning reason for its 

removal.

15/04706/EFUL Former Cadbury Factory
Cross Street
Keynsham



Partial demolition, change of use and extension of Building A and B 

to create a Care Village consisting of a 93-bed Care Home, 136 

Extra Care apartments (Use Class C2) and communal facilities. 

Partial demolition, change of use and extension of Building C COMMDC 16-Nov-16 PERMIT

Councillor Simmons has requested 

that the application is reported to the 

Development Management 

Committee on the grounds that the 

proposals are a departure from the 

Core Strategy and changes 

significantly the employment policy 

for the site.

16/04549/FUL

186 The Hollow
Southdown
Bath
Bath And North 

East Somerset
BA2 1NG Installation of a dormer (resubmission) COMMDC 16-Dec-16 PERMIT

Group Manager has called the 

application to Committee owing to 

the extensive planning history at the 

site.

P
age 197



16/01465/FUL

Land Adjacent To White Hill CoCages
White 

Hill
Shoscombe
Bath
Bath And North East Somerset

Erection of attached garage and refurbishment of domestic 

store/workshop following demolition of existing garage 

(Resubmission). COMMDC 20-Oct-16 PERMIT

Parish council object to the 

development on the grounds that the 

extension to this stone built structure 

in this greenbelt location would have 

a detrimental effect on residential 

amenity, the green belt and highway 

safety.

16/03572/FUL

High View
The Street
Compton Mar�n
Bristol
BS40 

6JQ


Installation of 2no south side dormers and erection of double 

garage COMMDC 20-Oct-16 PERMIT

Parish Council objection contrary to 

officer recommendation to permit.

16/03659/FUL

22 Prospect Place
Walcot
Bath
Bath And North East 

Somerset
BA1 5JD

Erection of single storey rear extension and internal and external 

alterations following demolition of existing single storey rear 

extension. COMMDC 20-Oct-16 PERMIT

The applicant's agent is Cllr Bob 

Goodman.

16/03660/LBA

22 Prospect Place
Walcot
Bath
Bath And North East 

Somerset
BA1 5JD

Internal and external alterations to include erection of single storey 

rear extension following demolition of existing single storey rear 

extension. COMMDC 20-Oct-16 CON

The applicant's agent is Cllr Bob 

Goodman.

16/03715/FUL

10 Woodborough Hill CoCages
Woodborough 

Hill
Peasedown St. John
Bath
Bath And North East 

Somerset
BA2 8LN Erection of two storey extension COMMDC 20-Oct-16 RF

The application was called in by Cllr 

Sarah Bevan and Cllr Karen Walker.  

The application was also supported 

by Peasedown St John Parish Council.

16/03114/ERES

Proposed Development Site
Roseberry 

Road
Twerton
Bath



 Approval of Reserved Matters in relation to outline application 

15/01932/EOUT (Phase 1 of the development comprising 171 flats, 

local needs shopping unit, and associated development) COMMDC 30-Nov-16 APP

This application has been referred at 

the request of the Group Manager, 

due to the fact that the outline was 

considered by planning committee, 

and due to the overall size of the 

application site.

16/03306/OUT

Milland House
Rock Road
Keynsham
Bristol
Bath And 

North East Somerset
BS31 1BP

Erection of a building comprising a convenience store, 15 no. flats 

and 1 no. maisonette following demolition of the existing office 

building and detached dwelling house. (REVISED PLANS) COMMDC 15-Dec-16 APP

This application has generated an 

objection from the Town Council. 

Further there have been objections 

form Cllr Hale, Cllr Gerrish, and Cllr 

O'Brien. Cllr Davis therefore has 

agreed that this application should be 

heard at the Development 

Management Committee.

P
age 198



 

 

 
APPEALS LODGED 

 
App. Ref:  15/05816/FUL 
Location:  6 Hill Avenue Combe Down Bath BA2 5DB 
Proposal: Erection of 1 no. detached dwelling, with proposed access from 

Quarry Close. 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 18 May 2016 
Decision Level: Planning Committee 
Appeal Lodged: 20 December 2016 

 
 
App. Ref:  16/02909/FUL 
Location:  40 South Avenue Oldfield Park Bath BA2 3PZ 
Proposal:  Erection of loft conversion with rear dormer 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 12 August 2016 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 20 December 2016 

 
 
App. Ref:  16/03713/FUL 
Location:  Land Opposite Rowan House High Street Freshford Bath  
Proposal: Creation of new access opening and construction of parking area 

for two cars (resubmission) 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 30 September 2016 
Decision Level: Chair Referral - Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 20 December 2016 

Bath & North East Somerset Council 

MEETING: Development Control Committee  

AGENDA 
ITEM 
NUMBER 

MEETING 
DATE: 

6 April 2016 

RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER: 

Mark Reynolds, Group Manager, Development 
Management (Telephone: 01225 477079) 

 

TITLE: NEW PLANNING APPEALS, DECISIONS RECEIVED AND DATES OF 
FORTHCOMING HEARINGS/INQUIRIES    

WARD: ALL 

BACKGROUND PAPERS: None 

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

 

Page 199

Agenda Item 12



 

 

 
 
App. Ref:  16/04285/FUL 
Location:  27 London Road West Lower Swainswick Bath BA1 7HZ 
Proposal: Erection of single storey side and two storey rear extension 

(Resubmission) 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 19 October 2016 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 20 December 2016 

 
 
 
App. Ref:  16/03972/FUL 
Location:  2 Brook Cottages The Batch Chew Magna Bristol  
Proposal: Erection of open sided garden structure and raised deck area 

(retrospective) 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 6 October 2016 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 22 December 2016 

 
 
 
App. Ref:  16/03168/FUL 
Location:  1 Magdalen Avenue Lyncombe Bath BA2 4QB 
Proposal: Erection of first floor rear extension and rendering of the existing 

ground floor rear extension (Revised Proposal) (Amended 
Description) 

Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 22 September 2016 
Decision Level: Planning Committee 
Appeal Lodged: 30 December 2016 

 
 
App. Ref:  16/04820/FUL 
Location:  Southlands Gibbet Lane Norton Malreward Bristol  
Proposal:  Change of use from pool room to annex 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 2 December 2016 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 30 December 2016 

 
 
 
 

Page 200



 

 

App. Ref:  16/02471/FUL 
Location:  6 Mill Cottages The Shallows Saltford Bristol  
Proposal:  Internal and external alterations to extend kitchen by 2m 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 31 October 2016 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 4 January 2017 

 
 
 
App. Ref:  16/02530/FUL 
Location:  23 Lymore Avenue Twerton BA2 1BA 
Proposal: Demolition of existing single storey rear extension and erection of 

side and rear, single storey extension 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 22 September 2016 
Decision Level: Planning Committee 
Appeal Lodged: 5 January 2017 

 
 
App. Ref:                 16/00003/HHEDGE 
Location:                 Westwood, Chilcompton Road, Bath, BA3 2NL 
Proposal:                 Hedge is adversely affecting the enjoyment of the domestic      
property at 12 Oliver Brooks Road 
Decision:                  No remedial notice required  
Decision date:          7th November 2016 
Decision Level:        Delegated 
Appeal Lodged:        5 January 2017 

 
 
App. Ref:  16/02333/FUL 
Location:  Greenbanks Breach Hill Lane Chew Stoke Bristol 
Proposal: Replacement of single storey porch and WC with two storey 

extension and replacement of garage and terrace with a double 
garage and bedroom 

Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 8 September 2016 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 6 January 2017 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 201



 

 

App. Ref:  16/03651/FUL 
Location:  29 Forester Road Bathwick Bath  
Proposal: Erection of new single storey rear extension with associated hard 

and soft landscaping works and new pitched roof to existing garage 
in lieu of existing flat roof following part demolition of rear of garage 
and terrace. 

Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 14 September 2016 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 6 January 2017 

 
 
 
App. Ref:  15/03931/FUL 
Location:  Middle Field Charlton Road Queen Charlton Bristol  
Proposal: Re-profiling land for the purposes of agricultural improvement 

(Resubmission of 14/01037/FUL) 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 22 March 2016 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 11 January 2017 

 
 
 
App. Ref:  16/01904/FUL 
Location:  Braeside Cottage Gooseberry Lane Keynsham Bristol  
Proposal:  Erection of 1no three bed house and garage. 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 5 July 2016 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 12 January 2017 

 
 
 
App. Ref:  16/02684/FUL 
Location:  Breach Farm Lower Bristol Road Clutton Bristol  
Proposal: Removal of two domestic used buildings in garden, retention of 

extension and replacement of the garage 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 18 November 2016 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 12 January 2017 

 
 
 
 

Page 202



 

 

App. Ref:  16/03384/VAR 
Location:  1 Sleight View Bloomfield Road Timsbury Bath  
Proposal: Removal of condition 2 attached to application 13/01041/FUL 

(Conversion of outbuilding at rear to a residential annexe) to allow 
for short term lets of the building. 

Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 30 August 2016 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 12 January 2017 

 
 
 
App. Ref:  16/05407/FUL 
Location:  12 Homelea Park West Newbridge Bath BA1 3HR 
Proposal:  Erection of two-storey side extension. (Revised Proposal) 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 3 January 2017 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 13 January 2017 

 
 
 
App. Ref:  16/01286/FUL 
Location:  Parcel 7259 Hayeswood Road Timsbury Bath  
Proposal:  Conversion of existing agricultural building to residential (part  
   retrospective) 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 19 May 2016 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 16 January 2017 

 
 
 
App. Ref:  16/01856/FUL 
Location:  Old Colliery Tip Woodborough Hill Peasedown St. John Bath  
Proposal:  Erection of storage building. (Retrospective). 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 20 June 2016 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 16 January 2017 

 
 
 
App. Ref:  16/02747/LBA 
Location:  44 Lyncombe Hill Lyncombe Bath BA2 4PH 
Proposal:  Internal alterations to form new opening to basement 

Page 203



 

 

Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 26 September 2016 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 16 January 2017 

 
 
 
App. Ref:  16/03018/FUL 
Location:  The Firs Main Road Chelwood Bristol Bath And North East 
Somerset 
Proposal:  Erection of rear garden room and first floor extension 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 20 October 2016 
Decision Level: Planning Committee 
Appeal Lodged: 16 January 2017 

 
 
 
App. Ref:  16/03019/LBA 
Location:  The Firs Main Road Chelwood Bristol  
Proposal: Internal and external alterations to erect a rear garden room and 

first floor extension 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 20 October 2016 
Decision Level: Planning Committee 
Appeal Lodged: 16 January 2017 

 
 
 
App. Ref:  16/05182/FUL 
Location:  14 Lays Drive Keynsham Bristol BS31 2LA 
Proposal: Raise the ridge line of the property by approximately 200mm to 

accommodate loft conversion with flat roof dormer to rear. 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 20 December 2016 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 16 January 2017 

 
 
App. Ref:  16/02587/FUL 
Location:  5 Hansford Mews Combe Down Bath BA2 5BD 
Proposal:  Erection of two storey side extension. 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 1 September 2016 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 18 January 2017 

Page 204



 

 

 
 

APPEALS DECIDED 
 
App. Ref:  15/05125/FUL 
Location: Englishcombe House Residential Home  33 Englishcombe Lane 

Southdown Bath BA2 2EE 
Proposal:  Change of use from C2 to Sui-Generis (Large HMO). 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 19 January 2016 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 19 September 2016 
 
Appeal Decision: Dismissed 09.12.2016 
 
Click here to view the Appeal Decision. 

 
 
App. Ref:  16/01525/FUL 
Location:  53 Hansford Square Combe Down Bath BA2 5LJ 
Proposal: Erection of 1 no. detached dwelling and proposed access from 

Hansford Square 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 3 June 2016 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 7 September 2016 
 
Appeal Decision:   Dismissed 09.12.2016 
 
Click here to view the Appeal Decision. 

 
 
App. Ref:  15/04347/FUL 
Location:  40 Bloomfield Park Bloomfield Bath BA2 2BX 
Proposal: Erection of eight apartments with associated parking and 

landscaping following demolition of existing detached house and 
garage. 

Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 25 May 2016 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 17 August 2016 
 
Appeal Decision:   Dismissed 22.12.2016 
 
Click here to view the Appeal Decision. 
 

Page 205



 

 

 
App. Ref:  16/01219/FUL 
Location:  The Cottage Pipehouse Lane Freshford Bath  
Proposal: Erection of 1no. detached dwelling with access and associated 

works. 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 30 June 2016 
Decision Level: Planning Committee 
Appeal Lodged: 28 September 2016 
 
Appeal Decision:   Dismissed 28.12.2016 
 
Click here to view the Appeal Decision. 
 

 
App. Ref:  16/02699/FUL 
Location:  Burnside Walley Court Road Chew Stoke Bristol BS40 8XN 
Proposal: Erection of 2no two storey detached dwellings with attached 

garages and extension to existing garage following demolition of 
existing workshop building (Re-submission) 

Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 18 August 2016 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 28 September 2016 
 
Appeal Decision:   Dismissed 28.12.2016 
 
Click here to view the Appeal Decision. 
 

 
 
 
App. Ref:  16/02818/LBA 
Location:  28 Prospect Place Walcot Bath BA1 5JD 
Proposal: Internal alterations to create new wall opening with two pairs of 

folding panelled doors 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 1 August 2016 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 18 October 2016 
 
Appeal Decision:   Dismissed 03.01.2017 
 
Click here to view the Appeal Decision. 
 

 

Page 206



 

 

 
App. Ref:  16/01232/CLPU 
Location: Land Between Miller Walk And Simons Close Miller Walk 

Bathampton Bath  
Proposal: Provision of permeable block paving surface to existing private 

driveway (Certificate of proposed lawful development) 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 4 May 2016 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 30 June 2016 
 
Appeal Decision:   Dismissed 12.01.2017 
 
Click here to view the Appeal Decision. 

Page 207



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	8 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	Update Report 11th January 2017 - Appendix 1
	Speakers' List - Appendix 2
	Site Visit Decisions 11th January 2017 - Appendix 3
	Main Agenda Decisions 11th January 2017 - Appendix 4

	9 Site Visit List - Applications for Planning Permission Etc for Determination by the Committee
	10 Main Plans List - Applications for Planning Permission Etc for Determination by the Committee
	11 Quarterly Performance Report - October to December 2016
	Analysis of Chair referral cases - October to December 2016 - Appendix

	12 New Planning Appeals Lodged, Decisions Received and Dates of Forthcoming Hearings/Inquiries

